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PART I
 
Item 1. Business.

Organization
Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (the "Company"), a Delaware corporation, commenced operations on November 1, 1995 through a reverse merger of the investment

management subsidiary of Phoenix Life Insurance Company ("Phoenix") with Duff & Phelps Corporation. The Company was a majority-owned subsidiary of Phoenix from 1995 to
2001 and a wholly owned subsidiary from 2001 until 2008. On December 31, 2008, the Company became an independent publicly traded company as a result of Phoenix's distribution
of 100% of Virtus common stock to Phoenix stockholders in a spin-off transaction.

Our Business
We provide investment management and related services to individuals and institutions. We use a multi-manager, multi-style approach, offering investment strategies from affiliated
managers, each having its own distinct investment style, autonomous investment process and individual brand. By offering a broad array of products, we believe we can appeal to a
greater number of investors and have offerings across market cycles and through changes in investor preferences. Our earnings are primarily driven by asset-based fees charged for
services relating to these various products, including investment management, fund administration, distribution and shareholder services.

We offer investment strategies for individual and institutional investors in different product structures and through multiple distribution channels. Our investment strategies are
available in a diverse range of styles and disciplines and are managed by a collection of differentiated investment managers. We have offerings in various asset classes (equity, fixed
income and alternative), geographies (domestic, international and emerging) market capitalizations (large, mid and small), styles (growth, core and value) and investment approaches
(fundamental, quantitative and thematic). Our retail products include U.S. 1940 Act mutual funds, Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS" or
"offshore funds" and collectively with U.S. 1940 Act mutual funds, "open-end funds"), exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), closed-end funds (collectively with open-end funds and ETFs,
"funds") and retail separate accounts. Our institutional products are offered through separate accounts and pooled or commingled structures to a variety of institutional clients. We also
provide subadvisory services to other investment advisers and serve as the collateral manager for structured products.

Our Investment Managers

We provide investment management services through our affiliated investment managers who are registered under the Investment Advisers Act of 1940, as amended (the
"Investment Advisers Act"). The investment managers are responsible for portfolio management activities for our retail and institutional products operating under advisory or
subadvisory agreements. We provide our affiliated managers with distribution, operational and administrative support, thereby allowing each manager to focus primarily on
investment management. We also engage select unaffiliated managers to sub-advise certain of our open-end funds and ETFs. We monitor our managers’ services by assessing their
performance, style and consistency and the discipline with which they apply their investment process.
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Our affiliated investment managers and their respective assets under management, products and strategies as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Manager  Products  Strategies  
Assets

(in billions)
Ceredex Value Advisors

 
Open-end funds and institutional accounts

 
Value-oriented strategies;
large-, mid- and small-cap domestic equities  

$ 9.4

Duff & Phelps Investment Management

 

Closed- and open-end funds and institutional accounts

 

Equity income strategies;
global listed infrastructure, domestic, international
real estate and energy, and international equities  

$ 11.2

Kayne Anderson Rudnick Investment
Management

 

Open-end funds, institutional accounts, intermediary-sold
managed accounts and private client accounts

 

Quality-oriented equity strategies in
small to large cap, including domestic global,
international and emerging market strategies  

$ 33.0

Newfleet Asset Management

 

Closed- and open-end funds, ETFs, institutional,
intermediary-sold managed accounts, private client
accounts and structured products  

Fixed income strategies;
multi-sector, enhanced core strategies and dedicated
sector strategies such as bank loans and high yield  

$ 10.4

Rampart Investment Management
Company  

Closed- and open-end funds, institutional accounts and
intermediary-sold managed accounts  

Quantitative and option related strategies
 

$ 1.0

Seix Investment Advisors
 

Open-end funds, institutional, ETFs and structured
products  

High yield, leveraged loans, investment grade
taxable, tax-exempt and multi-sector strategies  

$ 18.2

Silvant Capital Management
 

Open-end funds and institutional
 

Growth equity strategies, including large-cap and
small-cap  

$ 0.8

Sustainable Growth Advisers
 

Institutional and private client accounts and open-end
funds  

Large-cap growth strategies, including domestic,
global, international and emerging markets  

$ 14.8

As of December 31, 2019, $9.9 billion in assets under management were managed by unaffiliated managers.

Our Investment Products
Our assets under management are in open-end funds, closed-end funds, ETFs, retail separate accounts, institutional accounts and structured products.

Assets Under Management by Product as of
December 31, 2019

Fund assets (in billions)
Open-end funds $ 42.9
Closed-end funds 6.7
Exchange traded funds 1.2
Retail separate accounts 20.4
Institutional accounts 32.6
Structured products 3.9

Total Long-Term 107.7
Liquidity (1) 1.2

Total Assets Under Management $ 108.9
(1)Represents assets under management in liquidity strategies, including certain open-end funds and institutional accounts.
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Open-End Funds

Our open-end mutual funds are offered in a variety of asset classes (domestic and international equity, taxable and non-taxable fixed income, and alternative investments),
market capitalizations (large, mid and small), styles (growth, core and value) and investment approaches (fundamental, quantitative and thematic). Our Ireland domiciled off-shore
funds are offered in select investment strategies to non-U.S. investors. Summary information about our open-end funds as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Asset Class  
Number of Funds

Offered  Total Assets  
Advisory Fee 

Range (1)

    (in millions)  (%)
Domestic Equity  22  $ 16,661  2.15-0.40
Fixed Income  22  12,808  1.85-0.21
International/Global Equity  13  11,459  1.20-0.65
Alternatives  9  1,139  1.30-0.55
Asset Allocation  4  803  1.00-0.45

Total Open-End Funds  70  $ 42,870   

(1) Percentage of average daily net assets. The percentages listed represent the range of management advisory fees paid by the funds, from the highest to the lowest. The range
indicated includes the impact of breakpoints at which management advisory fees for certain of the funds in each fund type decrease as assets in the funds increase. Subadvisory
fees paid on funds managed by unaffiliated subadvisers are not reflected in the percentages listed.

Closed-End Funds

Our closed-end funds are offered in a variety of asset classes and various strategies such as infrastructure, energy and global multi-sector. We managed the following closed-end
funds as of December 31, 2019, each of which is traded on the New York Stock Exchange:

Fund Type/Name  Total Assets  
Advisory

Fee   

  (in millions)  (%)   
Asset Allocation       

DNP Select Income Fund Inc.  $ 4,230  0.60-0.50  (1)
Virtus Total Return Fund Inc.  689  0.75  (2)

Alternatives       
Duff & Phelps Utility and Infrastructure Fund Inc.  887  1.00  (1)
Duff & Phelps Select MLP and Midstream Energy Fund Inc.  169  1.00  (2)

Fixed Income       
Duff & Phelps Utility and Corporate Bond Trust Inc.  367  0.50  (1)
Virtus Global Multi-Sector Income Fund  207  0.95  (2)
DTF Tax-Free Income Inc.  199  0.50  (1)
Total Closed-End Funds  $ 6,748     

 

(1) Percentage of average weekly net assets. A range indicates that the fund has breakpoints at which management advisory fees decrease as assets in the fund increase.
(2) Percentage of average daily net assets of each fund.
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Exchange Traded Funds

Our ETFs are offered in a range of actively managed and index-based investment capabilities across multiple asset classes. We managed the following ETFs at December 31,
2019:

ETF Name  Total Assets  
Advisory 

Fee (1)

  (in millions)  (%)
Alternative     

Virtus Real Asset Income ETF  $ 322  0.033
InfraCap MLP ETF  312  0.075
Virtus Private Credit Strategy ETF  224  0.468
InfraCap Reit Preferred ETF  44  0.075

     

Equity     
Virtus InfraCap U.S. Preferred Stock ETF  97  0.140
Virtus LifeSci Biotech Clinical Trials ETF  42  0.450
Reaves Utilities ETF  35  0.490
Virtus LifeSci Biotech Products ETF  28  0.450
Virtus Glovista Emerging Markets ETF  6  0.650
Virtus WMC Global Factor Opportunities ETF  6  0.280

     

Fixed Income     
Virtus Newfleet Multi-Sector Bond ETF  22  0.700
Virtus Newfleet Dynamic Credit ETF  10  0.550
Virtus Seix Senior Loan ETF  8  0.570

Total ETFs  $ 1,156   
(1) Percentage of average daily net assets of each fund. Subadvisory fees paid on funds managed by unaffiliated subadvisers are not reflected in the percentages listed.

Retail Separate Accounts

Intermediary-Sold Managed Accounts

Intermediary-sold managed accounts are individual investment accounts that are primarily contracted through intermediaries as part of investment programs offered to retail
investors.  Summary information about our intermediary-sold managed accounts as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Asset Class  Total Assets

  (in millions)
Equity  $ 13,620
Fixed income  1,915
Alternative  57

Total Intermediary-Sold Managed Accounts  $ 15,592
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Private Client Accounts

Private client accounts are investment accounts offered by our affiliate, Kayne Anderson Rudnick ("Kayne"), directly to individual investors.  Kayne has advisers who provide
investment advisory services employing both affiliated and unaffiliated investment managers.  Summary information about our private client accounts as of December 31, 2019 was as
follows:

Asset Class  Total Assets

  (in millions)
Equity  $ 3,073
Fixed income  1,613
Alternative  136

Total Private Client Accounts  $ 4,822

Institutional Accounts

Our institutional clients include corporations, multi-employer retirement funds, public employee retirement systems, foundations and endowments; in addition, we provide
subadvisory services to unaffiliated mutual funds. Summary information about our institutional accounts as of December 31, 2019 was as follows:

Asset Class  Total Assets

  (in millions)
Equity  $ 21,268
Fixed income  9,091
Alternative  2,276

Total Institutional Accounts  $ 32,635

Structured Products

We act as collateral manager for structured finance products that primarily consist of collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs"). We managed the following structured products as
of December 31, 2019:

Fund Name  Inception  Total Assets

    (in millions)
Mountain View CLO IX Ltd.  2015  $ 553
Mountain View CLO 2017-1 Ltd.  2017  503
Mountain View CLO 2014-1 Ltd.  2014  409
Mountain View CLO X Ltd.  2015  406
Mountain View CLO XIV Ltd.  2019  406
Mountain View CLO 2017-2 Ltd.  2018  405
Mountain View CLO 2013-1 Ltd.  2013  398
Newfleet CLO 2016-1 Ltd.  2016  351
Mountain View CLO 2016-1 Ltd.  2016  303
Broderick CDO 1 Ltd.  2005  169

Total Structured Products    $ 3,903
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Our Investment Management, Administration and Shareholder Services
Our investment management, administration and shareholder service fees earned in each of the last three years were as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017 (1)
Open-end funds $ 229,637  $ 231,175  $ 175,260
Closed-end funds 42,199  41,455  44,687
Retail separate accounts 82,999  73,532  54,252
Institutional accounts 96,429  77,711  46,600
Structured products 6,381  9,622  6,302
Other products (2) 3,832  3,526  3,974
Total investment management fees 461,477  437,021  331,075
Administration fees 42,009  44,503  34,413
Shareholder service fees 17,875  19,111  14,583

Total $ 521,361  $ 500,635  $ 380,071

(1) Prior period amounts have not been adjusted and are reported in accordance with historical accounting under Accounting Standards Codification 605, Revenue Recognition.
(2) Includes ETFs and liquidity strategies.

Investment Management Fees

We provide investment management services pursuant to investment management agreements through our affiliated investment advisers (each an "Adviser"). With respect to
our funds, the Adviser provides overall investment management services, pursuant to agreements with the funds that must be approved annually by the fund’s board of directors and
that may be terminated without penalty, or automatically in certain situations, such as a "change in control" of the Adviser. We earn fees based on each fund’s average daily or weekly
net assets with most fee schedules providing for rate declines or "breakpoints" as asset levels increase to certain thresholds. For funds managed by subadvisers, the day-to-day
investment management of the fund’s portfolio is performed by the subadviser, which receives a management fee based on the percentage of average daily net assets in the funds they
subadvise or a percentage of the Adviser’s management fee. Each fund bears all expenses associated with its operations. In some cases, to the extent total fund expenses exceed a
specified percentage of a fund’s average net assets, the Adviser has agreed to reimburse the funds for such excess expenses.

For retail separate accounts and institutional accounts, investment management fees are negotiated and based primarily on portfolio size and complexity, individual client
requests and capacity in investment strategy, as appropriate. In certain instances, institutional fees may include performance related fees that are based on relative investment returns.
Generally, we are entitled to performance fees only if the returns on the related portfolios exceed agreed upon periodic or cumulative return targets. Fees for structured finance
products, for which we act as the collateral manager, consist of senior, subordinated and, in certain instances, incentive management fees. Senior and subordinated management fees
are calculated at a contractual fee rate applied against the end of the preceding quarter par value of the total collateral being managed with subordinated fees being recognized only
after certain portfolio criteria are met. Incentive fees on certain of our structured products are typically a percentage of the excess cash flows available to holders of the subordinated
notes, above a threshold level internal rate of return.

Administration Fees

We provide various administrative fund services to our open-end funds and certain of our closed-end funds. We earn fees based on each fund’s average daily or weekly net
assets. These services include: record keeping, preparing and filing documents required to comply with securities laws, legal administration and compliance services, customer service,
supervision of the activities of the funds’ service providers, tax services and treasury services as well as providing office space, equipment and personnel that may be necessary for
managing and administering the business affairs of the funds.
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Shareholder Service Fees

We provide shareholder services to our open-end mutual funds. We earn fees based on each fund’s average daily net assets. Shareholder services include maintaining
shareholder accounts, processing shareholder transactions, preparing filings and performing necessary reporting, among other things.

Our Distribution Services

We distribute our open-end funds and ETFs principally through financial intermediaries. We have broad distribution access in the retail market, with distribution partners that
include national and regional broker-dealers, independent broker-dealers and registered investment advisers, banks and insurance companies. In many of these firms, we have a
number of products that are on preferred "recommended" lists and on fee-based advisory programs. Our sales efforts are supported by regional sales professionals, a national account
relationship group and separate teams for ETFs and the retirement and insurance channels.

Our retail separate accounts are distributed through financial intermediaries and directly to private clients by teams at an affiliated manager. Our institutional services are
marketed through relationships with consultants as well as directly to clients. We target key market segments, including foundations and endowments, corporate, public and private
pension plans, and subadvisory relationships.

Our Broker-Dealer Services

We operate a broker-dealer that is registered under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), and is a member of the Financial Industry
Regulatory Authority ("FINRA"). Our broker-dealer serves as principal underwriter and distributor of our open-end mutual funds and ETFs under sales agreements with unaffiliated
financial intermediaries, and also markets advisory services to sponsors of retail separate accounts. Our broker-dealer is subject to the net capital rule of the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the "SEC"), which is designed to enforce minimum standards regarding the general financial condition and liquidity of broker-dealers.

Our Competition
We face significant competition from a wide variety of financial institutions, including other investment management companies, as well as from proprietary products offered by

our distribution partners such as banks, broker-dealers and financial planning firms. Competition in our businesses is based on several factors, including investment performance, fees
charged, access to distribution channels, and service to financial advisers and their clients. Our competitors, many of which are larger than us, often offer similar products and use
similar distribution sources, and may also offer less expensive products, have greater access to key distribution channels and have greater resources than we do.

Our Regulatory Matters
We are subject to regulation by the SEC, FINRA and other federal and state agencies and self-regulatory organizations. Each affiliated manager and unaffiliated subadviser is

registered with the SEC under the Investment Advisers Act. Each open-end mutual fund, closed-end fund and ETF is registered with the SEC under the Investment Company Act of
1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"). Our off-shore funds are subject to regulation by the Central Bank of Ireland (the "CBI"), and the funds and each investment
manager and sub-investment manager are also registered with the CBI.

The financial services industry is highly regulated, and failure to comply with related laws and regulations can result in the revocation of registrations, the imposition of censures
or fines and the suspension or expulsion of a firm and/or its employees from the industry. All of our U.S.-domiciled open-end mutual funds are generally available-for-sale and are
qualified in all 50 states, Washington, D.C., Puerto Rico, Guam and the U.S. Virgin Islands. Our off-shore funds are sold through financial intermediaries to investors who are not
citizens or residents of the United States. Most aspects of our investment management business, including the business of the unaffiliated subadvisers, are subject to various U.S.
federal and state laws and regulations.

Our officers, directors and employees may, from time to time, own securities that are also held by one or more of our funds. We have adopted a Code of Ethics pursuant to the
provisions of the Investment Company Act and the Investment Advisers Act that requires the disclosure of personal securities holdings and trading activity by all employees on a
quarterly and annual basis.  Employees with investment discretion or access to investment decisions are subject to additional restrictions with respect to the pre-clearance of the
purchase or sale of securities over which they have investment discretion or beneficial interest. Our Code of Ethics also imposes restrictions with respect to personal transactions in
securities that are held, recently
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sold, or contemplated for purchase by our mutual funds, and certain transactions are restricted so as to avoid the possibility of improper use of information relating to the management
of client accounts.

Our Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had 578 full-time equivalent employees. None of our employees are represented by a union.

Available Information
Our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to these reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a)

or 15(d) of the Exchange Act, as well as proxy statements, are available free of charge on our website located at www.virtus.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed
with, or furnished to, the SEC. Reports, proxy statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including our filings, are also available to the
public on the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov.

A copy of our Corporate Governance Principles, our Code of Conduct and the charters of our Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Governance Committee and Risk and
Finance Committee are posted on our website at http://ir.virtus.com under "Corporate Governance" and are available in print to any person who requests copies by contacting Investor
Relations by email to: investor.relations@virtus.com or by mail to Virtus Investment Partners, Inc., c/o Investor Relations, One Financial Plaza, Hartford, CT 06103. Information
contained on the website is not incorporated by reference or otherwise considered part of this document.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

This section describes some of the potential risks relating to our business, such as market, liquidity, operational, reputation and regulatory risks. The risks described below are
some of the more important factors that could affect our business. You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all of the other information included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, in evaluating the Company and our common stock. If any of the risks described below actually occur, our business, revenues, profitability, results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows, reputation and stock price could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our Business

We earn substantially all of our revenues based on assets under management, which fluctuate based on many factors, including market conditions, investment performance
and client withdrawals. Any reduction in assets under management would reduce our revenues and profitability.

The majority of our revenues are generated from asset-based fees from investment management products and services to individuals and institutions. Therefore, if assets under
management decline, our fee revenues would decline, reducing profitability as certain of our expenses are fixed or have contractual terms. Assets under management could decline due
to a variety of factors, including, but not limited to, the following:

• General domestic and global economic and political conditions. Capital, equity and credit markets can experience substantial volatility. Changes in interest rates, the
availability and cost of credit, inflation rates, economic uncertainty, changes in laws, trade barriers, commodity prices, currency exchange rates and controls, and national and
international political circumstances (including wars, terrorist acts, pandemics and security operations) and other conditions may impact the capital, equity and credit markets
which may impact our assets under management. Employment rates, economic weakness and budgetary challenges in parts of the world, the impact of the United Kingdom’s
withdrawal from the European Union, uncertainty regarding international trade policies, regional turmoil in the Middle East, concern over prospects in China and emerging
markets, growing debt for certain countries, and uncertainty about the consequences of governments withdrawing monetary stimulus all indicate that economic and political
conditions remain unpredictable.

If the security markets decline or experience volatility, our assets under management and our revenues could be negatively impacted. Changes in currency exchange rates,
such as an increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to non-U.S. currencies, could result in a decrease in the U.S. dollar value of assets under management that are
denominated in non-U.S. currencies. In addition, diminishing investor confidence in the markets and/or adverse
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market conditions could result in a decrease in investor risk tolerance. Such a decrease could prompt investors to reduce their rate of investment or to fully withdraw from
markets, which could reduce our overall assets under management and have an adverse effect on our revenues, earnings and growth prospects.

The volatility in the markets in the recent past has highlighted the interconnection of the global markets and demonstrated how the deteriorating financial condition of one
institution may materially adversely impact the performance of other institutions. Our assets under management have exposure to many different industries and counterparties
and may be exposed to credit, operational or other risk due to the default by a counterparty or client or in the event of a market failure or disruption. In the event of extreme
circumstances, including economic, political or business crises, such as a widespread systemic failure in the global financial system or failures of firms that have significant
obligations as counterparties, we may suffer significant declines in assets under management and severe liquidity or valuation issues.

• Price declines in specific securities, market segments or geographic areas where those assets are invested. Funds and portfolios that we manage that are focused on
certain geographic markets and industry sectors, are particularly vulnerable to political, social and economic events in those markets and sectors. If these markets or
industries decline or experience volatility, this could have a negative impact on our assets under management and our revenues. For example, certain non-U.S. markets,
particularly emerging markets, are not as developed or as efficient as the U.S. financial markets and, as a result, may be less liquid, less regulated and significantly more
volatile than the U.S. financial markets. Liquidity in such markets may be adversely impacted by factors including political or economic events, government policies,
expropriation, volume trading limits by foreign investors, and social or civil unrest, etc. These factors may negatively impact the market value of an investment or our ability
to dispose of it.

• Any real or perceived negative absolute or relative performance. Sales and redemptions of our investment strategies can be affected by investment performance relative
to other competing investment strategies or to established benchmarks. Our investment management strategies are rated, ranked or assessed by independent third-parties,
distribution partners and industry periodicals and services. These assessments often influence the investment decisions of clients. If the performance or assessment of our
investment strategies is seen as underperforming relative to peers, it could result in an increase in the withdrawal of assets by existing clients and the inability to attract
additional investments from existing and new clients. Certain of our investment strategies have capacity constraints, as there is a limit to the number of securities available for
the strategy to operate effectively. In those instances, we may choose to limit access to new or existing investors.

• Changes in interest rates. Increases in interest rates from their historically low levels may adversely affect the net asset values of our assets under management.
Furthermore, increases in interest rates may result in reduced prices in equity markets. Conversely, decreases in interest rates could lead to outflows in fixed income assets
that we manage as investors seek higher yields.

Our investment advisory agreements are subject to withdrawal, renegotiation or termination on short notice, which could negatively impact our business.

Our clients include our sponsored mutual fund investors, represented by boards of directors, managed account program sponsors, private clients and institutional clients. Our
investment management agreements with these clients may be terminated on short notice without penalty. As a result, there would be little impediment to these clients or sponsors
from terminating our agreements. Our clients may renegotiate their investment contracts, or reduce the assets we manage for them, due to a number of reasons including, but not
limited to: investment performance; loss of key investment personnel; a change in the client's or third-party distributors decision makers; and reputational, regulatory or compliance
issues. The board of directors of our sponsored funds may deem it to be in the best interests of a fund’s shareholders to make decisions averse to us, such as reducing the compensation
paid to us, requesting that we subsidize fund expenses over certain thresholds, or imposing restrictions on our management of the fund. Under the Investment Company Act,
investment advisory agreements automatically terminate in the event of an assignment, which may occur if, among other events, the Company undergoes a change in control, such as
any person acquiring 25% of the voting rights of our common stock. If an assignment were to occur, we cannot be certain that the fund’s board of directors and its shareholders would
approve a new investment advisory agreement. In addition, investment advisory agreements for separate accounts we manage may not be assigned without the consent of the client. If
an assignment occurs, we cannot be certain that the Company will be able to obtain the necessary approvals or client consents. The withdrawal, renegotiation or termination of any
investment management contract relating to a material portion of assets under management would have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.
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Any damage to our reputation could harm our business and lead to a reduction in our revenues and profitability.

Maintaining a positive reputation with existing and potential clients, the investment community and other constituencies is critical to our success. Our reputation is vulnerable to
many threats that can be difficult or impossible to control, and costly or impossible to remediate even if they are without merit or satisfactorily addressed. Our reputation may be
impacted by many factors including, but not limited to: poor performance; litigation; conflicts of interests; regulatory inquiries, investigations or findings; operational failures
(including cyber breaches); intentional or unintentional misrepresentation of our products or services by us or our third party service providers; material weaknesses in our internal
controls; or employee misconduct or rumors. Any damage to our reputation could impede our ability to attract and retain clients and key personnel, adversely impact relationships with
clients, third-party distributors and other business partners, and lead to a reduction in the amount of our assets under management, any of which could adversely affect our results of
operations and financial condition.

We manage client assets under agreements that have investment guidelines or other contractual requirements, and any failure to comply could result in claims, losses or
regulatory sanctions, which could negatively impact our revenues and profitability.

The agreements under which we manage client assets often have established investment guidelines or other contractual requirements with which we are required to comply in
providing our investment management services. Although we maintain various compliance procedures and other controls to prevent, detect and correct such errors, any failure or
allegation of a failure to comply with these guidelines or other requirement could result in client claims, reputational damage, withdrawal of assets and potential regulatory sanctions,
any of which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our indebtedness contains covenants that require annual principal repayments and other provisions that could adversely affect our financial position or results of
operations

We incur indebtedness for a variety of business reasons, including in relation to financing acquisitions. The indebtedness we incur can take many forms including, but not limited
to, term loans or revolving lines of credit that customarily contain covenants.

At December 31, 2019, the Company had $285.7 million of total debt outstanding, excluding debt of consolidated investment products ("CIP"), and $100.0 million in unused
capacity on a credit facility. Under our credit agreement, we are required to use a portion of our cash flow to service interest and make required annual principal payments, which will
restrict our cash flow available to pursue business growth opportunities. The credit agreement also contains covenants that limit our ability to return capital to shareholders. In
addition, our indebtedness may make it more difficult for us to withstand or respond to adverse or changing business, regulatory and economic conditions. We cannot provide
assurances that at all times in the future we will satisfy all such covenants or obtain any required waiver or amendment, in which event all indebtedness could become immediately
due. Any or all of the above factors could materially adversely affect our financial position or results of operations.

Our business relies on the ability to attract and retain key employees, and the loss of such employees could negatively affect our financial performance.

The success of our business is dependent to a large extent on our ability to attract and retain key employees, such as senior executives, portfolio managers, securities analysts and
sales personnel. Competition in the job market for these professionals is generally intense, and compensation levels in the industry are highly competitive. Our industry is also
characterized by the movement of investment professionals among different firms.

If we are unable to continue to attract and retain key employees, or if compensation costs required to attract and retain key employees increase, our performance, including our
competitive position, could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, we utilize Company equity awards as part of our compensation plans and as a means for recruiting and
retaining key employees. Declines in our stock price could result in deterioration of the value of equity awards granted, thus lessening the effectiveness of using stock-based awards to
retain key employees.

In certain circumstances, the departure of key employees could cause higher redemption rates in certain strategies or the loss of certain client accounts. Any inability to retain key
employees, attract qualified employees or replace key employees in a timely manner could lead to a reduction in the amount of our assets under management, which could have a
material adverse
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effect on our revenues and profitability. In addition, there could be additional costs to replace, retain or attract new talent that could result in a decrease in our profitability and have an
adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

The highly competitive nature of the asset management industry may require us to reduce our fees, or increase amounts paid to financial intermediaries, which could result
in a reduction of our revenues and profitability.

We face significant competition from a wide variety of financial institutions, including other investment management companies, as well as from proprietary products offered by
our distribution partners such as banks, broker-dealers and financial planning firms. Competition in our businesses is based on several factors, including investment performance, fees
charged, access to distribution channels and service to financial advisers. Our competitors, many of which are larger than we are, often offer similar products, use similar distribution
sources, offer less expensive products, have greater access to key distribution channels, and have greater resources, geographic footprints and name recognition than we do.
Additionally, certain products and asset classes that we do not currently offer, such as passive or index-based products, are increasingly popular with investors. Existing clients may
withdraw their assets in order to invest in these products, and we may be unable to attract additional investments from existing and new clients, which would lead to a decline in our
assets under management and market share.

Our profits are highly dependent on the fees charged for our products and services. In recent years, there has been a trend in certain segments of our markets toward lower fees
and lower-fee products, such as passive products. Competition could cause us to reduce the fees that we charge. In order to maintain appropriate fee levels in a competitive
environment, we must provide clients with investment products and services they view as appropriate in relation to the fees charged. If our clients, including our fund boards, were to
view our fees as being high relative to the market or the returns provided by our investment products, we may choose or be required to reduce our fee levels or we may experience
significant redemptions in our assets under management, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We are subject to an extensive and complex regulatory environment, and changes in regulations or failure to comply with regulations could adversely affect our revenues
and profitability.

The investment management industry in which we operate is subject to extensive and frequently changing regulation and has seen increased focus in recent year. We are
regulated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, the Investment Company Act and the Investment Advisers Act, and we are subject to regulation by the Commodities Futures Trading
Commission under the Commodities Exchange Act. Our UCITS and advisers are subject to regulation by the CBI. We are also regulated by FINRA, the Department of Labor under
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("ERISA"), as well as other federal and state laws and regulations.

Although we spend extensive time and resources to ensure compliance with all applicable laws and regulations, if we fail to properly modify and update our compliance
procedures in a timely manner in this changing and highly complex regulatory environment, we may be subject to various legal proceedings, including civil litigation, governmental
investigations and enforcement actions that could result in fines, penalties, suspensions of individual employees, or limitations on particular business activities, any of which could
have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Changes in tax laws and unanticipated tax obligations could have an adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

We are subject to federal and state income and non-income based taxes in the United States. Tax authorities may disagree with certain positions we have taken or implement
changes in tax policy, which may result in the assessment of additional taxes. We regularly assess the appropriateness of our tax positions and reporting. We cannot provide assurance,
however, that we will accurately predict the outcomes of audits, and the actual outcomes of these audits could be unfavorable. In addition, our ability to use net operating loss
carryforwards and other tax attributes available to us will be dependent on our ability to generate taxable income.

We utilize unaffiliated firms in providing investment management services, and matters that have an adverse impact on their business, or any change in our relationships
with them, could lead to a reduction in assets under management, which would adversely affect our revenues and profitability.

We utilize unaffiliated subadvisers as investment managers for certain of our retail products, and we have licensing arrangements with unaffiliated data providers. Because we
typically have no ownership interests in these unaffiliated firms, we do not control the business activities of such firms. Problems stemming from the business activities of these
unaffiliated firms

11



Table of Contents

may negatively impact or disrupt such firms’ operations or expose them to disciplinary action or reputational harm. Furthermore, any such matters at these unaffiliated firms may have
an adverse impact on our business or reputation or expose us to regulatory scrutiny, including with respect to our oversight of such firms.

We periodically negotiate provisions and renewals of these relationships, and we cannot provide assurance that such terms will remain acceptable to us or the unaffiliated firms.
These relationships can also be terminated upon short notice without penalty. In addition, the departure of key employees at unaffiliated subadvisers or data providers could cause
higher redemption rates for certain assets under management and/or the loss of certain client accounts. An interruption or termination of unaffiliated firm relationships could affect our
ability to market our products and result in a reduction in assets under management, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We distribute our products through intermediaries and changes in key distribution relationships could reduce our revenues, increase our costs and adversely affect our
profitability.

Our primary source of distribution for retail products is through intermediaries that include third-party financial institutions, such as: major wire houses; national, regional and
independent broker-dealers and financial advisors; banks and financial planners; and registered investment advisers. Our success is highly dependent on access to these various
distribution systems. These distributors are generally not contractually required to distribute our products and typically offer their clients various investment products and services,
including proprietary products and services, in addition to and in competition with our products and services. While we compensate these intermediaries for selling our products and
services pursuant to contractual agreements, we may not be able to retain access to these channels at all or at similar pricing. Increasing competition for these distribution channels
could cause our distribution costs to rise, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, revenues and profitability. To the extent that existing or future intermediaries
prefer to do business with our competitors, the sales of our products as well as our market share, revenues and profitability could decline.

We and our third-party service providers rely on numerous technology systems, and any temporary business interruption, security breach or system failure could negatively
impact our business and profitability.

Our technology systems, and those of third-party service providers, are critical to our operations. The ability to consistently and reliably obtain accurate securities pricing
information, process client portfolio and fund shareholder transactions, and provide reports and other customer service to fund shareholders and clients in other accounts managed by
us is an essential part of our business. Any delays or inaccuracies in obtaining pricing information, processing such transactions or reports, other breaches and errors, and any
inadequacies in other customer service could result in reimbursement obligations or other liabilities or alienate customers and potentially give rise to claims against us. Our customer
service capability, as well as our ability to obtain prompt and accurate securities pricing information and to process transactions and reports, is highly dependent on third-party service
providers’ information systems. Any failure or interruption of those systems, whether resulting from technology or infrastructure breakdowns, defects or external causes such as fire,
natural disaster, computer viruses, acts of terrorism or power disruptions, could result in financial loss, negatively impact our reputation and negatively affect our ability to do
business. Although we, and our third-party service providers, have disaster recovery plans in place, we may nonetheless experience interruptions if a natural or man-made disaster or
prolonged power outage were to occur, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

In addition, like other companies, our computer systems are regularly subject to, and expected to continue to be the target of, computer viruses or other malicious codes,
unauthorized access, cyber-attacks or other computer-related penetrations. Over time, the sophistication of cyber threats continues to increase, and any controls we put in place and
preventative actions we take to reduce the risk of cyber incidents and protect our information systems may be insufficient to detect or prevent unauthorized access, cyber-attacks or
other security breaches to our computer systems or those of third parties with whom we do business. Breach of our technology systems, or of those of third parties with whom we do
business, through cyber-attacks or failure to manage and secure our technology environment could result in interruptions or malfunctions in the operations of our business, loss of
valuable information, liability for stolen assets or information, remediation costs to repair damage caused by a breach, additional costs to mitigate against future incidents, and
litigation costs resulting from an incident.

We and certain of our third-party vendors receive and store personal information as well as non-public business information. Although we and our third-party vendors take
precautions, we may still be vulnerable to hacking or other unauthorized use. A breach of the systems or hardware could result in unauthorized access to our proprietary business or
client data or release of this type of data, which could subject us to legal liability or regulatory action under data protection and privacy laws, which may result in fines or penalties, the
termination of existing client contracts, costly mitigation activities and
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harm to our reputation. The occurrence of any of these risk could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

A relatively large percentage of our common stock is concentrated with a small number of shareholders, which could increase the volatility in our stock trading and affect
our share price.

A large percentage of our common stock is held by a limited number of shareholders. If our larger shareholders decide to liquidate their positions, it could cause significant
fluctuation in the share price of our common stock. Public companies with a relatively concentrated level of institutional shareholders, such as we have, often have difficulty
generating trading volume in their stock, which may increase the volatility in the price of our common stock.

Civil litigation and government investigations or proceedings could adversely affect our business.

Many aspects of our business involve substantial risks of liability, and there have been substantial incidences of litigation and regulatory investigations in the financial services
industry in recent years, including customer claims as well as class action suits seeking substantial damages. From time to time, we and/or our funds may be named as defendants or
co-defendants in lawsuits or be involved in disputes that involve the threat of lawsuits seeking substantial damages. We and/or our funds are also involved from time to time in
governmental and self-regulatory organization investigations and proceedings. See Item 3. "Legal Proceedings" for further description of the Company's litigation matters.

Any lawsuits, investigations or proceedings could result in reputational damage, loss of clients and assets, settlements, awards, injunctions, fines, penalties, increased costs and
expenses in resolving a claim, diversion of employee resources and resultant financial losses. Predicting the outcome of such matters is inherently difficult, particularly where claims
are brought on behalf of various classes of claimants or by a large number of claimants, when claimants seek substantial or unspecified damages, or when investigations or legal
proceedings are at an early stage. A substantial judgment, settlement, fine or penalty could be material to our operating results or cash flows for a particular period, depending on our
results for that period, or could cause us significant reputational harm, which could harm our business prospects.

We depend to a large extent on our business relationships and our reputation to attract and retain clients. As a result, allegations of improper conduct by private litigants,
including investors in our funds, or regulators, whether the ultimate outcome is favorable or unfavorable to us, as well as negative publicity and press speculation about us, our
investment activities or the asset management industry in general, whether or not valid, may harm our reputation, which may be more damaging to our business than to other types of
businesses. We may incur substantial legal expenses in defending against proceedings commenced by a client, regulatory authority or other private litigant. Substantial legal liability
levied on us could cause significant reputational harm and have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We have a significant portion of the Company's assets invested in marketable securities, which exposes us to earnings volatility as the value of these investments fluctuate,
as well as risk of capital loss.

We use capital to seed new investment strategies and make investments to introduce new products or enhance distribution access of existing products.  At December 31, 2019,
the Company had $107.2 million of seed capital investments, comprising $56.7 million of marketable securities and $50.5 million of net interests in CIP, and $83.4 million of net
investments in CLOs. These investments are in a variety of asset classes, including alternative, fixed income and equity strategies including first loss tranches of CLO equity.  Many of
these investments employ a long-term investment strategy and entail an optimal investment period spanning several years. Accordingly, during this investment period, the Company’s
capital utilized in these investments may not be available for other corporate purposes at all or without significantly diminishing our investment return. We cannot provide assurance
that these investments will perform as expected. Moreover, increases or decreases in the value of these investments will increase the volatility of our earnings, and a decline in the
value of these investments would result in the loss of capital and have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

Our intended quarterly dividends may not be paid as intended or at all.

The declaration, payment and determination of the amount of our quarterly dividends may change at any time. In making decisions regarding our quarterly dividends, we
consider general economic and business conditions, our strategic plans and prospects, our businesses and investment opportunities, our financial condition and operating results,
potential purchases of affiliate noncontrolling interests, working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs, contractual restrictions (including under the terms of our credit
agreement) and obligations, legal, tax, regulatory and other restrictions that may have implications on the payment of distributions by us to our shareholders or by our subsidiaries to
us, and such other factors as we may deem
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relevant. Our ability to pay dividends in excess of our current quarterly dividends is subject to restrictions under the terms of our credit agreement. We cannot make any assurances
that any dividends will be paid.

We may need to raise additional capital in the future, and resources may not be available to us in sufficient amounts or on acceptable terms, which could have an adverse
impact on our business.

Our ability to meet our future cash needs is dependent upon our ability to generate cash. Although we have generated sufficient cash in the past, we may not do so in the future.
As of December 31, 2019, we maintained $221.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, $107.2 million in seed capital investments and $83.4 million of net investments in CLOs and
had $100.0 million available under our credit facility. Also at December 31, 2019, we had $285.7 million in debt outstanding, excluding the notes payable of our CIP for which risk of
loss to the Company is limited to our $83.4 million investment in such products. See Footnote 20 of our consolidated financial statements for additional information on the notes
payable of the CIP. Our ability to access capital markets efficiently depends on a number of factors, including the state of credit and equity markets, interest rates and credit spreads.
We may need to raise capital to fund new business initiatives in the future, and financing may not be available to us in sufficient amounts, on acceptable terms, or at all. If we are
unable to access sufficient capital on acceptable terms, our business could be adversely impacted.

We have corporate governance provisions that may make an acquisition of us more difficult.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws could discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control that stockholders may
consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares. These provisions also could limit the price that investors might be
willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the market price of our common stock. Stockholders who wish to participate in these transactions may
not have the opportunity to do so. In addition, the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law also restrict certain business combinations with interested
stockholders.

Our insurance policies may not cover all losses and costs to which we may be exposed.

We carry insurance in amounts and under terms that we believe are appropriate. Our insurance may not cover all liabilities and losses to which we may be exposed. Certain
insurance coverage may not be available or may be prohibitively expensive in future periods. As our insurance policies come up for renewal, we may need to assume higher
deductibles or pay higher premiums, which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and financial condition.

We have goodwill and intangible assets on our balance sheet that could become impaired.

Our goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are subject to annual impairment reviews. We also have definite-lived intangible assets that are subject to impairment testing
if indicators of impairment are identified. A variety of factors could cause the carrying values to become impaired, which would adversely affect our results of operations.

We may engage in significant strategic transactions that may not achieve the expected benefits or could expose us to additional risks.

We regularly review, and from time to time have discussions on and engage in, potential significant transactions, including potential acquisitions, consolidations, joint ventures
or similar transactions, some of which may be material. We cannot provide assurance that we will be successful in negotiating the required agreements, closing transactions after
signing such agreements, or achieving expected financial benefits, including such things as revenue or cost synergies.

Any strategic transaction may also involve a number of other risks, including additional demands on our staff, unanticipated problems regarding integration of operating
facilities, technologies and new employees, and the existence of liabilities or contingencies not disclosed to, or otherwise unknown by, us prior to closing a transaction. In addition,
any business we acquire may underperform relative to expectations or may lose customers or employees.

SPECIAL NOTE ABOUT FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains statements that are, or may be considered to be, forward-looking statements within the meaning of The Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, as amended, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act").
All statements that are not historical facts, including statements about our beliefs or expectations, are "forward-looking statements." These statements may be identified by such
forward-looking terminology as "expect," "estimate," "intent," "plan," "intend," "believe,"
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"anticipate," "may," "will," "should," "could," "continue," "project," "opportunity," "predict," "would," "potential," "future," "forecast," "guarantee," "assume," "likely," "target" or
similar statements or variations of such terms.

Our forward-looking statements are based on a series of expectations, assumptions and projections about the Company and the markets in which we operate, are not guarantees
of future results or performance, and involve substantial risks and uncertainty, including assumptions and projections concerning our assets under management, net asset inflows and
outflows, operating cash flows, business plans and ability to borrow, for all future periods. All forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are as of the
date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K only.

We can give no assurance that such expectations or forward-looking statements will prove to be correct. Actual results may differ materially. We do not undertake or plan to
update or revise any such forward-looking statements to reflect actual results, changes in plans, assumptions, estimates or projections, or other circumstances occurring after the date
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, even if such results, changes or circumstances make it clear that any forward-looking information will not be realized. If there are any future
public statements or disclosures by us that modify or impact any of the forward-looking statements contained in or accompanying this Annual Report on Form 10-K, such statements
or disclosures will be deemed to modify or supersede such statements in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our business and our forward-looking statements involve substantial known and unknown risks and uncertainties, including those discussed under "Risk Factors" and
"Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as the following risks and uncertainties
resulting from: (a) any reduction in our assets under management; (b) withdrawal, renegotiation or termination of investment advisory agreements; (c) damage to our reputation; (d)
failure to comply with investment guidelines or other contractual requirements; (e) inability to satisfy financial covenants and payments related to our indebtedness; (f) inability to
attract and retain key personnel; (g) challenges from the competition we face in our business; (h) adverse regulatory and legal developments; (i) unfavorable changes in tax laws or
limitations; (j) adverse developments related to unaffiliated subadvisers; (k) negative implications of changes in key distribution relationships; (l) interruptions in or failure to provide
critical technological service by us or third parties; (m) volatility associated with our common stock; (n) adverse civil litigation and government investigations or proceedings; (o) risk
of loss on our investments; (p) inability to make quarterly common stock dividends; (q) lack of sufficient capital on satisfactory terms; (r) losses or costs not covered by insurance; (s)
impairment of goodwill or intangible assets; (t) inability to achieve expected acquisition-related benefits; and other risks and uncertainties. Any occurrence of, or any material adverse
change in, one or more risk factors or risks and uncertainties referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and our other periodic reports filed with the SEC could materially and
adversely affect our operations, financial results, cash flows, prospects and liquidity.

Certain other factors that may impact our continuing operations, prospects, financial results and liquidity, or that may cause actual results to differ from such forward-looking
statements, are discussed or included in the Company’s periodic reports filed with the SEC and are available on our website at www.virtus.com under "Investor Relations." You are
urged to carefully consider all such factors.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2. Properties.

We lease our principal offices, which are located at One Financial Plaza, Hartford, CT 06103. In addition, we lease office space in California, Connecticut, Florida, Georgia,
Illinois, Massachusetts, New Jersey and New York.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The information set forth in response to Item 103 of Regulation S-K under "Legal Proceedings" is incorporated
by reference from Part II, Item 8. "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," Note 12 "Commitments and Contingencies" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the trading symbol "VRTS." As of February 13, 2020, we had 7,723,659 shares of common stock
outstanding that were held by approximately 48,000 holders of record.

In making decisions regarding our quarterly dividend, we consider general economic and business conditions, our strategic plans and prospects, our businesses and investment
opportunities, our financial condition and operating results, working capital requirements and anticipated cash needs, contractual restrictions and obligations, legal, tax, regulatory and
other restrictions that may have implications on the payment of distributions by us to our common shareholders or by our subsidiaries to us, and such other factors as we may deem
relevant. We cannot provide any assurances that any distributions, whether quarterly or otherwise, will continue to be paid in the future.

On February 3, 2020, 1,150,000 shares of mandatory convertible preferred stock ("MCPS") converted to 912,870 shares of the Company's common stock. Each share of MCPS
converted to 0.7938 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $125.97 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. The number of shares of common stock issued
upon conversion was determined based on the volume-weighted average price per share of our common stock over the 20 consecutive trading day period beginning on, and including,
the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date.

On February 26, 2020, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.67 per common share to be paid on May 15, 2020 to shareholders of record at the close of
business on April 30, 2020.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

As of December 31, 2019, 4,180,045 shares of our common stock were authorized to be repurchased under a share repurchase program approved by our Board of Directors, and
252,438 shares remain available for repurchase. Under the terms of the program, we may repurchase shares of our common stock from time to time at our discretion through open
market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisms, depending on price and prevailing market and business conditions. The program, which has no
specified term, may be suspended or terminated at any time.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we repurchased a total of 372,365 common shares for approximately $40.0 million. The following table sets forth information
regarding our share repurchases in each month during the quarter ended December 31, 2019:

Period  
Total number of shares

purchased  
Average price paid per

share (1)  

Total number of shares
purchased as part of publicly

announced plans or programs (2)  

Maximum number of shares that
may yet be purchased under the

plans or programs (2)

October 1—31, 2019  7,295  $ 108.23  7,295  330,888
November 1—30, 2019  45,038  $ 115.96  45,038  285,850
December 1—31, 2019  33,412  $ 119.27  33,412  252,438
Total  85,745    85,745   

(1) Average price paid per share is calculated on a settlement basis and excludes commissions.
(2) The share repurchases above were completed pursuant to a program announced in the fourth quarter of 2010 and most recently expanded in December 2017. This repurchase program

is not subject to an expiration date.

There were no unregistered sales of equity securities during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2019. Shares of our common stock purchased by participants in our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan were delivered to participant accounts via open market purchases at fair value by the third-party administrator under the plan. We do not reserve shares for this plan or
discount the purchase price of the shares.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table sets forth our selected consolidated financial and other data at the dates and for the periods indicated. The selected financial data should be read in
conjunction with "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto appearing
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2019 (1)  2018 (1)  2017 (1)  2016 (2)  2015 (2)
Results of Operations          
Revenues $ 563,246  $ 552,235  $ 425,607  $ 322,554  $ 381,977
Operating expenses 438,536  439,136  367,572  271,740  301,599
Operating income (loss) 124,710  113,099  58,035  50,814  80,378
Income tax expense (benefit) 35,177  32,961  40,490  21,044  36,972
Net income (loss) 105,508  76,080  39,939  48,763  30,671
Net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders 87,312  67,192  28,676  48,502  35,106
Earnings (loss) per share—basic 12.54  9.37  4.09  6.34  3.99
Earnings (loss) per share—diluted 11.74  8.86  3.96  6.20  3.92
Cash dividends declared per preferred share 7.25  7.25  7.25  —  —
Cash dividends declared per common share 2.44  2.00  1.80  1.80  1.80
 As of December 31,

(in thousands) 2019 (1)  2018 (1)  2017 (2)  2016 (2)  2015 (2)
Balance Sheet Data          
Cash and cash equivalents $ 221,781  $ 201,705  $ 132,150  $ 64,588  $ 87,574
Investments 83,206  79,558  108,492  89,371  56,738
Investments of CIP 2,030,110  1,749,568  1,597,752  489,042  522,820
Goodwill and other intangible assets, net 600,757  629,178  472,107  45,215  47,588
Total assets 3,204,634  2,870,535  2,590,799  824,388  859,729
Accrued compensation and benefits 101,377  93,339  86,658  47,885  49,617
Debt 277,839  329,184  248,320  30,000  —
Notes payable of CIP 1,834,535  1,620,260  1,457,435  328,761  —
Total liabilities 2,454,532  2,169,187  1,981,397  465,449  276,408
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 63,845  57,481  4,178  37,266  73,864
Mandatory convertible preferred stock 110,843  110,843  110,843  —  —
Total equity 686,257  643,867  605,224  321,673  509,457
 As of December 31,
(in millions) 2019  2018  2017  2016  2015
Assets Under Management          
Total assets under management $ 108,904  $ 92,030  $ 90,963  $ 45,366  $ 47,385
Total long-term assets under management $ 107,726  $ 90,417  $ 88,835  $ 45,366  $ 47,385
 

(1) Derived from audited consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
(2) Derived from audited consolidated financial statements not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

Overview

Our Business

We provide investment management and related services to individuals and institutions. We use a multi-manager, multi-style approach, offering investment strategies from
affiliated managers, each having its own distinct investment style, autonomous investment process and individual brand. By offering a broad array of products, we believe we can
appeal to a greater number of investors and have offerings across market cycles and through changes in investor preferences. Our earnings are primarily driven by asset-based fees
charged for services relating to these various products, including investment management, fund administration, distribution and shareholder services.

We offer investment strategies for individual and institutional investors in different product structures and through multiple distribution channels. Our investment strategies are
available in a diverse range of styles and disciplines, managed by a collection of differentiated investment managers. We have offerings in various asset classes (equity, fixed income
and alternative), geographies (domestic, international and emerging) market capitalizations (large, mid and small), styles (growth, core and value) and investment approaches
(fundamental, quantitative and thematic). Our retail products include open-end funds and exchange traded funds ("ETFs") as well as closed-end funds and retail separate accounts. Our
institutional products are offered through separate accounts and pooled or commingled structures to a variety of institutional clients. We also provide subadvisory services to other
investment advisers and serve as the collateral manager for structured products.

We distribute our open-end funds and ETFs principally through financial intermediaries. We have broad distribution access in the retail market, with distribution partners that
include national and regional broker-dealers, independent broker-dealers and registered investment advisers, banks and insurance companies. In many of these firms, we have a
number of products that are on preferred "recommended" lists and on fee-based advisory programs. Our sales efforts are supported by regional sales professionals, a national account
relationship group, and separate teams for ETFs and the retirement and insurance channels. We leverage third-party distributors for off-shore products and in certain international
jurisdictions. Our retail separate accounts are distributed through financial intermediaries and directly to private clients by teams at an affiliated manager.

Our institutional services are marketed through relationships with consultants as well as directly to clients. We target key market segments, including foundations and
endowments, corporate, public and private pension plans, and subadvisory relationships.

Market Developments

The financial markets have a significant impact on the value of our assets under management and on the level of our sales and flows. The capital and financial markets could
experience fluctuation, volatility and declines as they have in the past, which could impact investment returns and asset flows among investment products as well as investor choices
and preferences among investment products. The changes in our assets under management may also be affected by the factors discussed in Item 1A. "Risk Factors" of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

The U.S. and global equity markets increased in value in 2019, as evidenced by increases in major indices as noted in the following table:

  December 31,  As of Change

Index  2019  2018  %

MSCI World Index  2,358  1,884  25.2%
Standard & Poor's 500 Index  3,231  2,507  28.9%
Russell 2000 Index  1,668  1,349  23.6%
MSCI Emerging Markets Index  1,115  966  15.4%
Bloomberg Barclays U.S. Aggregate Bond Index  2,225  2,047  8.7%
Standard & Poor's / LSTA Leveraged Loan Index  2,273  2,054  10.7%
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A discussion of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018 compared to the year ended December 31, 2017 may be found in "Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" in Part II, Item 7 of our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018, which specific discussion is incorporated
herein by reference.

Financial Highlights

• Earnings per diluted share was $11.74 in 2019, an increase of $2.88, or 32.5%, from $8.86 per diluted share in 2018.
• Total sales were $20.1 billion in 2019 compared with $22.8 billion in 2018. Net flows were $(0.8) billion in 2019 compared with $(3.7) billion in 2018.
• Assets under management were $108.9 billion at December 31, 2019 compared to $92.0 billion at December 31, 2018.

Sustainable Growth Advisers, LP

On July 1, 2018, we completed our majority investment in Sustainable Growth Advisers, LP (the "SGA Acquisition"), an investment manager with $11.3 billion in assets under
management at June 30, 2018.

Assets Under Management

At December 31, 2019, total assets under management were $108.9 billion, representing an increase of $16.9 billion, or 18.3%, from December 31, 2018. The increase was
primarily due to positive market performance of $19.3 billion, partially offset by net outflows, dividend distributions on open- and closed-end funds and interest payments on
structured products. Long-term assets under management, which exclude liquidity strategies, were $107.7 billion at December 31, 2019, up 19.1% from $90.4 billion at the end of the
prior year.

Average long-term assets under management, which exclude assets in liquidity strategies, were $100.5 billion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2019, an increase of
$5.9 billion, or 6.2%, from $94.6 billion for the twelve months ended December 31, 2018. The year-over-year increase in long-term average assets under management was primarily
due to the full year impact of the SGA Acquisition and positive market performance, partially offset by net outflows, dividend distributions on open- and closed-end funds and interest
payments on structured products.
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Investment Performance - Open End Funds

The following table presents our open-end funds' three-year average annual return and the corresponding three-year benchmark index average annual return as of December 31,
2019. Also presented with each fund is its three-year ranking within its Morningstar Peer Group.

   Three Year

Fund Type/Name
Assets 

(in millions)  
Average

Return (1)
Benchmark Index

Return (2)

Peer Group
Percentile

 Ranking (3)

   % % %

U.S. Retail Funds      
Equity      
Virtus KAR Small-Cap Growth Fund $ 5,463  27.98 12.49 1

Virtus Ceredex Mid-Cap Value Equity Fund 3,716  11.06 8.10 3

Virtus KAR Small-Cap Core Fund 1,604  22.89 8.59 4

Virtus Ceredex Large-Cap Value Equity Fund 1,306  10.90 9.68 35

Virtus KAR Mid-Cap Growth Fund 681  27.73 17.36 1

Virtus KAR Small-Cap Value Fund 633  7.67 4.77 88

Virtus KAR Capital Growth Fund 561  21.19 20.49 22

Virtus Ceredex Small-Cap Value Equity Fund 556  4.33 4.77 86

Virtus KAR Mid-Cap Core Fund 529  16.17 12.06 44

Virtus Rampart Equity Trend Fund 304  8.55 15.27 95

Virtus Rampart Sector Trend Fund 206  10.42 15.27 89

Virtus Rampart Enhanced Core Equity Fund 146  11.08 15.27 85

Virtus Zevenbergen Innovative Growth Stock Fund 137  26.90 19.89 2

Virtus Silvant Large-Cap Growth Stock Fund 109  19.01 20.49 42

Virtus KAR Small-Mid Cap Core Fund 54  N/A N/A N/A

Virtus Horizon Wealth Masters Fund 46  8.23 12.06 71

Virtus Silvant Small-Cap Growth Stock Fund 30  13.32 12.49 53

      
Fixed Income      
Virtus Newfleet Multi-Sector Short Term Bond Fund 6,362  3.23 3.04 11

Virtus Seix Floating Rate High Income Fund 3,341  3.54 4.48 54

Virtus Newfleet Low Duration Core Plus Bond Fund 485  2.92 2.58 21

Virtus Newfleet Senior Floating Rate Fund 354  3.26 4.48 70

Virtus Newfleet Multi-Sector Intermediate Bond Fund 318  5.01 4.03 40

Virtus Seix Total Return Bond Fund 307  3.11 4.03 94

Virtus Seix Investment Grade Tax-Exempt Bond Fund 301  3.67 4.10 70

Virtus Seix High Yield Fund 299  5.89 6.45 31

Virtus Seix High Income Fund 296  5.31 6.37 57

Virtus Newfleet Tax-Exempt Bond Fund 130  4.06 4.24 47

Virtus Seix Core Bond Fund 105  3.46 4.03 66

Virtus Newfleet Core Plus Bond Fund 98  4.91 4.03 12

Virtus Newfleet High Yield Fund 60  5.57 6.36 47

Virtus Seix High Grade Municipal Bond Fund 59  4.61 4.72 51

Virtus Seix Corporate Bond Fund 39  4.96 5.92 67

Virtus Seix U.S. Mortgage Fund 21  2.95 3.25 33
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   Three Year

Fund Type/Name
Assets 

(in millions)  
Average

Return (1)
Benchmark Index

Return (2)

Peer Group
Percentile

 Ranking (3)

   % % %

International/Global      
Virtus Vontobel Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund 7,312  10.88 11.57 45

Virtus KAR International Small-Cap Fund 1,926  15.17 9.65 12

Virtus Vontobel Foreign Opportunities Fund 1,098  14.15 9.56 29

Virtus Vontobel Global Opportunities Fund 348  16.30 12.44 15

Virtus KAR Emerging Markets Small-Cap Fund 129  13.60 6.70 16

Virtus SGA Global Growth Fund 92  19.85 12.44 5

Virtus KAR Global Quality Dividend Fund 42  9.69 10.55 N/A

Virtus SGA International Growth Fund 42  16.03 9.87 14

      
Alternatives      
Virtus Duff & Phelps Real Estate Securities Fund 561  8.10 8.14 51

Virtus Duff & Phelps International Real Estate Securities Fund 255  13.79 10.76 5

Virtus Duff & Phelps Global Infrastructure Fund 108  12.37 12.12 19

Virtus Duff & Phelps Global Real Estate Securities Fund 56  11.83 8.28 17

Virtus Aviva Multi-Strategy Target Return Fund 38  0.99 1.16 80

Virtus KAR Long/Short Equity Fund 37  N/A N/A N/A

      
Asset Allocation      
Virtus Tactical Allocation Fund 621  12.66 12.36 5

Virtus Rampart Multi-Asset Trend Fund 48  5.40 8.99 65

Virtus Herzfeld Fund 46  8.16 9.20 62

      
Global Funds      
Virtus GF SGA Global Growth Fund 308  N/A N/A N/A

Virtus GF Multi-Sector Short Duration Bond Fund 62  2.81 3.26 4

Virtus GF U.S. Small Cap Focus Fund 62  24.33 8.59 2

Virtus GF Multi-Sector Income Fund 27  N/A N/A N/A

      
Variable Insurance Funds      
Virtus KAR Capital Growth Series 238  21.80 20.49 17

Virtus SGA International Growth Series 148  4.63 9.87 99

Virtus Newfleet Multi-Sector Intermediate Bond Series 118  4.69 4.03 54

Virtus KAR Small-Cap Growth Series 104  29.26 12.49 1

Virtus Rampart Enhanced Core Equity Series 97  11.30 15.27 83

Virtus Duff & Phelps Real Estate Securities Series 78  8.07 8.14 52

Virtus KAR Small-Cap Value Series 77  8.00 4.77 86

Virtus Strategic Allocation Series 77  12.60 12.36 5

      
Other Funds 59     
      
 $ 42,870     

(1) Represents the average annual total return performance of the largest share class as measured by net assets for which performance data is available. Performance shown does not
include the effect of applicable sales charges, if any. Had any applicable sales charges been reflected, performance would be lower than shown above.

(2) Represents the average annual total return of the benchmark index. Benchmark indices are unmanaged, their returns do not reflect any fees, expenses or sales charges, and they are not
available for direct investment. The Benchmark Index for each fund can be found in the respective fund's fact sheet on our website at https://www.virtus.com/investor-center/mutual-
fund-documents.

(3) Represents the peer ranking of the fund’s average annual total return according to Morningstar. The Morningstar Peer Group for each fund can be found in the respective fund's fact
sheet on our website at https://www.virtus.com/investor-
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center/mutual-fund-documents. Fund returns are reported net of fees.

Past performance does not guarantee future results. Investment return and principal value will fluctuate so that shares, when redeemed, may be worth more or less than their
original cost.

Operating Results

In 2019, total revenues increased 2.0%, or $11.0 million, to $563.2 million from $552.2 million in 2018 primarily due to higher revenues from an increase in average assets
primarily as a result of the SGA Acquisition and positive market performance. Operating income increased by 10.3%, or $11.6 million, to $124.7 million in 2019 from $113.1 million
in 2018, due to the same factors causing the increase in total revenues in addition to a decrease in expenses.

Assets Under Management by Product

The following table summarizes our assets under management by product:  

 As of December 31,  As of Change

(in millions) 2019  2018  
2019 vs. 

2018  %
Open-End Funds (1) $ 42,870  $ 37,710  $ 5,160  13.7 %
Closed-End Funds 6,748  5,956  792  13.3 %
Exchange Traded Funds 1,156  668  488  73.2 %
Retail Separate Accounts 20,414  14,998  5,416  36.1 %
Institutional Accounts 32,635  27,445  5,190  18.9 %
Structured Products 3,903  3,640  263  7.2 %

Total Long-Term 107,726  90,417  17,309  19.1 %
Liquidity (2) 1,178  1,613  (435)  (26.9)%
Total Assets Under Management $ 108,904  $ 92,030  $ 16,874  18.3 %
Average Long-Term Assets Under Management (3) $ 100,472  $ 94,567  $ 5,905  6.2 %
Average Assets Under Management (3) $ 102,072  $ 96,278  $ 5,794  6.0 %

(1) Represents assets under management of U.S. retail funds, offshore funds and variable insurance funds.
(2) Represents assets under management in liquidity strategies, including certain open-end funds and institutional accounts.
(3) Averages are calculated as follows:

- Funds - average daily or weekly balances
- Retail Separate Accounts - average of prior-quarter ending balances or average of month-end balances
- Institutional Accounts and Structured Products - average of month-end balances
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The following table summarizes asset flows by product:

Asset Flows by Product    
    

(in millions) Years Ended December 31,

 2019  2018
Open-End Funds (1)    
Beginning balance $ 37,710  $ 43,078
Inflows 10,835  14,836
Outflows (13,029)  (17,098)
Net flows (2,194)  (2,262)
Market performance 7,536  (2,522)
Other (2) (182)  (584)
Ending balance $ 42,870  $ 37,710

Closed-End Funds    
Beginning balance $ 5,956  $ 6,666
Inflows 44  22
Outflows —  —
Net flows 44  22
Market performance 1,116  (289)
Other (2) (368)  (443)
Ending balance $ 6,748  $ 5,956

Exchange Traded Funds    
Beginning balance $ 668  $ 1,039
Inflows 784  290
Outflows (279)  (342)
Net flows 505  (52)
Market performance 90  (163)
Other (2) (107)  (156)
Ending balance $ 1,156  $ 668

Retail Separate Accounts    
Beginning balance $ 14,998  $ 13,937
Inflows 3,315  3,061
Outflows (1,790)  (2,440)
Net flows 1,525  621
Market performance 4,045  (736)
Other (2) (154)  1,176
Ending balance $ 20,414  $ 14,998

Institutional Accounts    
Beginning balance $ 27,445  $ 20,815
Inflows 4,777  4,144
Outflows (5,720)  (6,543)
Net flows (943)  (2,399)
Market performance 6,377  (992)
Other (2) (244)  10,021
Ending balance $ 32,635  $ 27,445

Structured Products    
Beginning balance $ 3,640  $ 3,299
Inflows 389  421
Outflows (98)  (71)
Net flows 291  350
Market performance 173  180
Other (2) (201)  (189)
Ending balance $ 3,903  $ 3,640
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Total Long-Term    
Beginning balance $ 90,417  $ 88,834
Inflows 20,144  22,774
Outflows (20,916)  (26,494)
Net flows (772)  (3,720)
Market performance 19,337  (4,522)
Other (2) (1,256)  9,825
Ending balance $ 107,726  $ 90,417

Liquidity (3)    
Beginning balance $ 1,613  $ 2,129
Other (2) (435)  (516)
Ending balance $ 1,178  $ 1,613

Total    
Beginning balance $ 92,030  $ 90,963
Inflows 20,144  22,774
Outflows (20,916)  (26,494)
Net flows (772)  (3,720)
Market performance 19,337  (4,522)
Other (2) (1,691)  9,309
Ending balance $ 108,904  $ 92,030

(1) Represents assets under management of U.S. retail funds, offshore funds and variable insurance funds.
(2) Represents open-end and closed-end fund distributions net of reinvestments, the net change in assets from liquidity strategies and the effect on net flows from non-sales related

activities such as asset acquisitions/(dispositions), seed capital investments/(withdrawals), structured products reset transactions and the use of leverage.
(3) Represents assets under management in liquidity strategies, including in certain open-end funds and institutional accounts.

The following table summarizes our assets under management by asset class:
 

 December 31,  Change

(in millions) 2019  2018  
2019 vs. 

2018  %
Asset Class        

Equity $ 70,720  $ 53,297  $ 17,423  32.7 %
Fixed income 31,186  33,425  (2,239)  (6.7)%
Alternatives (1) 5,820  3,695  2,125  57.5 %
Total Long-term 107,726  90,417  17,309  19.1 %
Liquidity (2) 1,178  1,613  (435)  (26.9)%
Total $ 108,904  $ 92,030  $ 16,874  18.3 %

 
(1) Consists of real estate securities, mid-stream energy securities and master limited partnerships, options strategies and other.
(2) Represents assets under management in liquidity strategies, including in certain open-end funds and institutional accounts.
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Average Assets Under Management and Average Fees Earned

The following table summarizes the average management fees earned in basis points and average assets under management: 

 Years Ended December 31,
Average Fee Earned 

(expressed in basis points)  
Average Assets Under Management 

(in millions) (2)

 2019  2018  2019  2018
Products        
Open-End Funds (1) 56.1  53.0  $ 40,917  $ 43,623
Closed-End Funds 64.7  66.0  6,524  6,283
Exchange Traded Funds 22.1  17.9  1,012  985
Retail Separate Accounts 47.9  47.1  17,311  15,069
Institutional Accounts 31.3  32.1  30,834  24,966
Structured Products 36.9  43.1  3,874  3,641

All Long-Term Products 46.6  46.7  100,472  94,567
Liquidity (3) 10.1  10.4  1,600  1,711

All Products 46.0  46.0  $ 102,072  $ 96,278
 
(1) Represents assets under management of U.S. retail funds, offshore funds and variable insurance funds.
(2) Averages are calculated as follows:

- Funds - average daily or weekly balances
- Retail Separate Accounts - average of prior-quarter ending balances or average of month-end balances
- Institutional Accounts and Structured Products - average of month-end balances

(3) Represents assets under management in liquidity strategies, including certain open-end funds and institutional accounts.

Average fees earned represent investment management fees before the impact of consolidation of investment products ("CIP"), divided by average net assets. Fund fees are
calculated based on average daily or weekly net assets. Retail separate account fees are calculated based on the end of the preceding or current quarter’s asset values or on an average
of month-end balances. Institutional account fees are calculated based on an average of month-end balances or current quarter’s asset values. Structured product fees are calculated
based on a combination of the underlying cash flows and the principal value of the product. Average fees earned will vary based on several factors, including the asset mix and
expense reimbursements to funds.

The average fee rate earned on long-term products for 2019 decreased by 0.1 basis points compared to the prior year, primarily due to the impact of the lower blended fee rates
of the assets from the SGA Acquisition, which impacted institutional accounts, and lower performance-related fees earned on our structured products, partially offset by changes in the
underlying asset mix to higher fee earnings strategies in open-end funds.
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Results of Operations
Summary Financial Data 

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %

Investment management fees $ 461,477  $ 437,021  $ 24,456  5.6 %
Other revenue 101,769  115,214  (13,445)  (11.7)%
Total revenues 563,246  552,235  11,011  2.0 %
Total operating expenses 438,536  439,136  (600)  (0.1)%
Operating income (loss) 124,710  113,099  11,611  10.3 %
Other income (expense), net 8,253  (23,180)  31,433  (135.6)%
Interest income (expense), net 7,722  19,122  (11,400)  (59.6)%
Income (loss) before income taxes 140,685  109,041  31,644  29.0 %
Income tax expense (benefit) 35,177  32,961  2,216  6.7 %
Net income (loss) 105,508  76,080  29,428  38.7 %
Noncontrolling interests (9,859)  (551)  (9,308)  1,689.3 %
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Stockholders $ 95,649  $ 75,529  $ 20,120  26.6 %
Preferred stockholder dividends (8,337)  (8,337)  —  — %

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders 87,312  67,192  20,120  29.9 %

Earnings (loss) per share-diluted $ 11.74  $ 8.86  $ 2.88  32.5 %

Revenues

Revenues by source were as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %
Investment management fees        
Open-end funds $ 229,637  $ 231,175  $ (1,538)  (0.7)%
Closed-end funds 42,199  41,455  744  1.8 %
Retail separate accounts 82,999  73,532  9,467  12.9 %
Institutional accounts 96,429  77,711  18,718  24.1 %
Structured products 6,381  9,622  (3,241)  (33.7)%
Other products 3,832  3,526  306  8.7 %
Total investment management fees 461,477  437,021  24,456  5.6 %
Distribution and service fees 40,898  50,715  (9,817)  (19.4)%
Administration and shareholder service fees 59,884  63,614  (3,730)  (5.9)%
Other income and fees 987  885  102  11.5 %
Total revenues $ 563,246  $ 552,235  $ 11,011  2.0 %
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Investment Management Fees

Investment management fees are earned based on a percentage of assets under management and are paid pursuant to the terms of the respective investment management
contracts, which generally require monthly or quarterly payments. Investment management fees increased by $24.5 million, or 5.6%, for the year ended December 31, 2019 due to a
6.0%, or $5.8 billion, increase in average assets under management, primarily as a result of market performance and the SGA Acquisition.

Distribution and Service Fees

Distribution and service fees are sales- and asset-based fees earned from open-end funds for marketing and distribution services. Distribution and service fees decreased by $9.8
million, or 19.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to lower sales and average assets for open-end funds in share classes that have distribution and service fees.

Administration and Shareholder Service Fees

Administration and shareholder service fees represent fees earned for fund administration and shareholder services from our open-end mutual funds and certain of our closed-
end funds. Fund administration and shareholder service fees decreased $3.7 million, or 5.9%, for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to the decrease in average assets
under management for our open-end funds.

Other Income and Fees

Other income and fees primarily represent contingent sales charges earned from investor redemptions of certain shares sold without a front-end sales charge. Other income and
fees increased by an immaterial amount for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to December 31, 2018.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses by category were as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %
Operating expenses        

Employment expenses $ 240,521  $ 238,501  $ 2,020  0.8 %
Distribution and other asset-based expenses 82,099  92,441  (10,342)  (11.2)%
Other operating expenses 74,363  74,853  (490)  (0.7)%
Other operating expenses of CIP 4,015  3,515  500  14.2 %
Restructuring and severance 2,302  87  2,215  2,546.0 %
Depreciation expense 4,992  4,597  395  8.6 %
Amortization expense 30,244  25,142  5,102  20.3 %

Total operating expenses $ 438,536  $ 439,136  $ (600)  (0.1)%

Employment Expenses

Employment expenses consist of fixed and variable compensation and related employee benefit costs. Employment expenses of $240.5 million increased $2.0 million, or 0.8%,
from the prior year ended December 31, 2018. The increase from the prior year reflected the full-year impact in 2019 from the addition of employees from the SGA Acquisition,
partially offset by lower sales-based compensation.

Distribution and Other Asset-Based Expenses

Distribution and other asset-based expenses consist primarily of payments to third-party client intermediaries for providing services to investors in sponsored investment
products. These payments are primarily based on percentages of sales, assets under management or revenues. These expenses also include the amortization of deferred sales
commissions related to up-front commissions on shares sold without a front-end sales charge to shareholders. The deferred sales commissions are amortized on a straight-line basis
over the periods in which commissions are generally recovered from distribution fee revenues
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and contingent sales charges received from shareholders of the funds upon redemption of their shares. Distribution and other asset-based expenses decreased $10.3 million, or 11.2%,
from the prior year due primarily to lower average open-end fund assets under management and a lower percentage of sales in share classes where we pay distribution and other asset-
based expenses.

Other Operating Expenses

Other operating expenses primarily consist of investment research and technology costs, professional fees, travel and distribution related costs, rent and occupancy expenses, and
other business costs. Other operating expenses decreased $0.5 million, or 0.7%, to $74.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from the prior year primarily due to costs
incurred in the prior year related to the SGA Acquisition that did not recur in the current year, partially offset by the inclusion of SGA's other operating expenses for the full year in
2019.

Other Operating Expenses of CIP

Other operating expenses of CIP increased $0.5 million, or 14.2%, to $4.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 from the prior year primarily due to costs associated
with the issuance of two new CLOs, partially offset by fewer consolidated mutual funds in the current year period versus the prior year period.

Restructuring and Severance

During the year ended December 31, 2019, we incurred $2.3 million in restructuring and severance costs primarily related to severance costs.

Depreciation Expense

Depreciation expense consists primarily of the straight-line depreciation of furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements. Depreciation expense increased $0.4 million, or
8.6%, to $5.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily due to depreciation expense on new office space.

Amortization Expense

Amortization expense consists of the amortization of definite-lived intangible assets over their estimated useful lives. Amortization expense increased $5.1 million, or 20.3%, to
$30.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 primarily due to an increase in definite lived intangible assets as a result of the SGA Acquisition.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other Income (Expense), net by category were as follows:

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %

Other Income (Expense)        
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net $ 7,044  $ (5,217)  $ 12,261  (235.0)%
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) of CIP, net (1,202)  (21,252)  20,050  (94.3)%
Other income (expense), net 2,411  3,289  (878)  (26.7)%

Total Other Income (Expense), net $ 8,253  $ (23,180)  $ 31,433  (135.6)%

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) on Investments, net

Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net increased for the year ended December 31, 2019 by $12.3 million from the prior year. The change related to realized
and unrealized gains on investments in the current year compared to realized and unrealized losses in the prior year, is consistent with global market performance in the current year
compared to the prior year as evidenced by changes in the S&P 500 Index and MSCI World Index noted earlier.

28



Table of Contents

Realized and Unrealized Gain (Loss) of CIP, net

Realized and unrealized gain (loss) of CIP, net decreased $20.1 million from the prior year. The change for the current year primarily consisted of a decrease in realized and
unrealized losses on the investments of CIP of $36.0 million, primarily due to changes in market values of leveraged loans, offset by a $15.9 million decrease in unrealized gains on
notes payable of CIP.

Other Income (Expense), net

Other income (expense), net decreased during the year ended December 31, 2019 by $0.9 million, or 26.7%, as compared to the prior year due to lower earnings on equity
method investments.

Interest Income (Expense), net

Interest Income (Expense), net by category were as follows:

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %

Interest Income (Expense)        
Interest expense $ (19,473)  $ (19,445)  $ (28)  0.1 %
Interest and dividend income 3,844  4,999  (1,155)  (23.1)%
Interest and dividend income of investments of CIP 115,356  98,356  17,000  17.3 %
Interest expense of CIP (92,005)  (64,788)  (27,217)  42.0 %

Total Interest Income, net $ 7,722  $ 19,122  $ (11,400)  (59.6)%

Interest Expense

Interest expense remained relatively unchanged for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to the prior year.

Interest and Dividend Income
    
Interest and dividend income is earned on cash equivalents and our marketable securities. Interest and dividend income decreased $1.2 million, or 23.1%, in 2019 compared

to the prior year primarily due to lower average investment balances in the current year.
    

Interest and Dividend Income of Investments of CIP
    
Interest and dividend income of investments of CIP increased $17.0 million, or 17.3%, compared to the prior year primarily due to a higher balance of investments of our CIP

compared to the prior year.
    

Interest Expense of CIP

Interest expense of CIP increased by $27.2 million, or 42.0%, compared to the prior year primarily due to higher average debt balances of CIP as well as $4.5 million of
amortization of discounts on notes payable in the current year.

    
Income Tax Expense

The provision for income taxes reflected U.S. federal, state and local taxes at an estimated effective tax rate of 25.0% and 30.2% for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The decrease
in the estimated effective tax rate for the current year was primarily due to the change in the valuation allowance associated with various investments held.

Effects of Inflation

Inflationary pressures can result in increases to our cost structure, especially to the extent that large expense components such as compensation are impacted. To the degree that
these expense increases are not recoverable or cannot be counterbalanced through pricing increases due to the competitive environment, our profitability could be negatively impacted.
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In addition, the value of the assets that we manage may be negatively impacted if inflationary expectations result in a rising interest rate environment. Declines in the values of these
assets under management could lead to reduced revenues as management fees are generally earned as a percent of assets under management.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Certain Financial Data

The following tables summarize certain financial data relating to our liquidity and capital resources: 

 December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %
Balance Sheet Data        
Cash and cash equivalents $ 221,781  $ 201,705  $ 20,076  10.0 %
Investments 83,206  79,558  3,648  4.6 %
Debt 277,839  329,184  (51,345)  (15.6)%
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 63,845  57,481  6,364  11.1 %
Total equity 686,257  643,867  42,390  6.6 %

 

 Years Ended December 31,  Change

(in thousands) 2019  2018  
2019 vs.  

2018  %
Cash Flow Data        
Provided by (used in)        
Operating activities $ (36,723)  $ (62,555)  $ 25,832  (41.3)%
Investing activities 4,448  (121,228)  125,676  (103.7)%
Financing activities 99,558  204,157  (104,599)  (51.2)%

 
Overview

At December 31, 2019, we had $221.8 million of cash and cash equivalents and $83.2 million of investments, which included $61.0 million of investment securities, compared
to $201.7 million of cash and cash equivalents and $79.6 million of investments, which included $61.3 million of investment securities at December 31, 2018.

At December 31, 2019, we had $285.7 million outstanding under our term loan maturing June 1, 2024 and no outstanding borrowings under our $100.0 million revolving credit
facility.

Uses of Capital

Our main uses of capital related to operating activities include payments of annual incentive compensation, interest on our indebtedness, income taxes and other operating
expenses, which primarily consist of investment research, technology costs, professional fees, distribution and occupancy costs. Annual incentive compensation, which is one of the
largest annual operating cash expenditures, is typically paid in the first quarter of the year. In the first quarter of 2019 and 2018, we paid approximately $76.2 million and $74.1
million, respectively, in incentive compensation earned during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

In addition to operating activities, other uses of cash could include: (a) investments in organic growth, including expanding our distribution efforts; (b) seeding or launching new
products, including seeding funds or sponsoring CLO issuances; (c) principal payments on debt outstanding through scheduled amortization, excess cash flow payment requirements
or additional paydowns; (d) dividend payments to preferred and common stockholders; (e) repurchases of our common stock; (f) investments in our infrastructure; (g) investments in
inorganic growth opportunities as they arise; (h) integration costs, including restructuring and severance, related to potential acquisitions, if any; and (i) potential purchases of affiliate
noncontrolling interests.
 

Capital and Reserve Requirements

We operate a broker-dealer subsidiary registered with the SEC that is subject to certain rules regarding minimum net
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capital. The broker-dealer is required to maintain a ratio of "aggregate indebtedness" to "net capital," as defined, which may not exceed 15 to 1, and must also maintain a minimum
amount of net capital. Failure to meet these requirements could result in adverse consequences to us, including additional reporting requirements, a lower required ratio of aggregate
indebtedness to net capital or interruption of our business. At December 31, 2019, the ratio of aggregate indebtedness to net capital of our broker-dealer was below the maximum
allowed, and net capital was significantly greater than the required minimum.

Balance Sheet

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in banks and money market fund investments. Investments consist primarily of investments in our sponsored funds. CIP represent
investment products for which we provide investment management services and where we have either a controlling financial interest or we are considered the primary beneficiary of
an investment product that is considered a variable interest entity.

Operating Cash Flow

Net cash used in operating activities of $36.7 million for 2019 decreased by $25.8 million from net cash used in operating activities of $62.6 million in 2018. The decrease was
due primarily to a decrease in the net purchases of investments of CIP and by changes in our operating assets and liabilities and the operating assets and liabilities of CIP.

Investing Cash Flow

Cash flows from investing activities consist primarily of capital expenditures and other investing activities related to our business operations. Net cash provided by investing
activities of $4.4 million for 2019 changed by $125.7 million from net cash used in investing activities of $121.2 million in 2018. The primary investing activities during 2019 were
related to the increase in cash of $10.0 million from the consolidation of investment products partially offset by capital expenditures and other asset purchases of $7.6 million. The
primary investing activity during 2018 was the $127.0 million SGA Acquisition.

Financing Cash Flow

Cash flows from financing activities consist primarily of the issuance of common and preferred stock, return of capital (through repurchases of common shares, dividends,
withholding obligations for the net share settlement of employee share transactions), issuance and repayment of debt by us, and CIP and contributions to noncontrolling interests
related to CIP. Net cash provided by financing activities decreased $104.6 million to $99.6 million in 2019 compared to net cash provided by financing activities of $204.2 million in
the prior year, primarily due to the issuance of debt for the SGA Acquisition in 2018.

Credit Agreement

The Company's credit agreement, as amended (the "Credit Agreement") comprises (a) $365.0 million of seven-year term debt (the "Term Loan") expiring in June 2024 and (b) a
$100.0 million five-year revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility") expiring in June 2022. At December 31, 2019, $285.7 million was outstanding under the Term Loan, and there
were no outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility. In accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 835, Interest, the amounts outstanding under the Term Loan
are presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheet net of related debt issuance costs, which were $7.9 million as of December 31, 2019.

Contractual Obligations
The following table summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2019: 

 Payments Due

(in millions) Total  
Less Than 

1 Year  1-3 Years  3-5 Years  
More Than 

5 Years
Lease obligations $ 34.9  $ 5.9  $ 14.9  $ 6.9  $ 7.2
Term Loan (1) 337.2  15.6  45.8  275.8  —
Credit Facility, including commitment fee (1) 0.9  0.4  0.5  —  —
Minimum payments on service contracts (2) 17.2  9.8  6.1  1.3  —
Total $ 390.2  $ 31.7  $ 67.3  $ 284.0  $ 7.2
 

(1) At December 31, 2019, we had $285.7 million outstanding under our Term Loan, which has a variable interest rate, and no amounts outstanding under our Credit Facility. Payments due are
estimated based on the variable interest rate and commitment fee rate in effect
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on December 31, 2019. Debt of CIP is excluded from the above table as we are not obligated for these amounts. See Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," Note 20
"Consolidation" for additional information.

(2) Service contracts include contractual amounts that will be due to purchase goods and services to be used in our operations and may be canceled at earlier times than those indicated under
certain conditions that may include termination fees.

Affiliate noncontrolling interests that are redeemable have been excluded from the above table as there is significant uncertainty as to the timing and amount of any
noncontrolling interest purchase in the future. Accordingly, future payments to purchase noncontrolling interests have been excluded from the above table, unless a put or call option
has been exercised and a mandatory firm commitment exists for us to purchase such noncontrolling interests.

The table above excludes approximately $1.2 million of unrecognized tax benefits accounted for under ASC 70, Income Taxes, as we are unable to reasonably estimate the
ultimate amount or timing of any settlement. See Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," Note 10 "Income Taxes" for additional information.

Impact of New Accounting Standards

For a discussion of accounting standards, see Part II, Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," Note 2 "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies."

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not invest in any off-balance sheet vehicles that provide liquidity, capital resources, market or credit risk support nor do we engage in any leasing activities that expose us
to any liability that is not reflected in our consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
which requires the use of estimates. Actual results may vary from these estimates. Management believes the following critical accounting policies are important to understanding our
results of operations and financial position.

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the Company's accounts, including our subsidiaries and investment products that are consolidated. Voting interest entities
("VOEs") are consolidated when we have a controlling financial interest, which is typically present when we own a majority of the voting interest in an entity or otherwise have the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity.

We evaluate any variable interest entities ("VIEs") in which we have a variable interest for consolidation. A VIE is an entity in which either (a) the equity investment at risk is
not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its own activities without additional financial support or (b) where, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk do not possess:
(i) the power, through voting or similar rights, to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; (ii) the obligation to absorb expected losses or
the right to receive expected residual returns of the entity; or (iii) proportionate voting and economic interests and where substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve, or are
conducted on behalf of, an investor with disproportionately fewer voting rights. If an entity has any of these characteristics, it is considered a VIE and is required to be consolidated by
its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and has the
obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

CIP includes both VOEs, primarily consisting of open-end funds in which we hold a controlling financial interest, and VIEs, which primarily consist of CLOs of which we are
considered the primary beneficiary. The consolidation and deconsolidation of these investment products have no impact on net income (loss) attributable to stockholders. Our risk with
respect to these investment products is limited to our beneficial interests in these products. We have no right to the benefits from, and do not bear the risks associated with, these
investment products beyond our investments in, and fees generated from, these products.
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Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests include third-party investments in CIP and minority interests held in an affiliate.

Noncontrolling interests - CIP

Represent third-party investments in our CIP and are classified as redeemable noncontrolling interests if investors in those products may request withdrawal at any time.

Noncontrolling interests - affiliate

Represent minority interests held in a consolidated affiliate. Minority interests held in an affiliate are subject to holder put rights and our call rights at established multiples of
earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and, as such, are considered redeemable at other than fair value. These rights are exercisable at pre-established intervals
(between four and seven years from their issuance) or upon certain conditions such as retirement. The put and call rights are not legally detachable or separately exercisable and are
deemed to be embedded in the related noncontrolling interests. We, in purchasing affiliate equity, have the option to settle in cash or shares of common stock and are entitled to the
cash flow associated with any purchased equity. Minority interests held in an affiliate are generally recorded in our Consolidated Balance Sheets at estimated redemption value within
redeemable noncontrolling interests, and changes in estimated redemption value of these interests are recorded in our Consolidated Statements of Operations within noncontrolling
interests.

Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date. ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement ("ASC 820"), establishes a framework for measuring fair value and a valuation
hierarchy based upon the transparency of inputs used in the valuation of an asset or liability. Classification within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The valuation hierarchy contains three levels as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. Level 1 assets and liabilities may include debt securities and equity securities that are traded in an active
exchange market.

Level 2 – Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations
in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets. Level 2 inputs may include observable market data such as closing market prices provided
by independent pricing services after considering factors such as the yields or prices of comparable investments of comparable quality, coupon, maturity, call rights and other potential
prepayments, terms and type, reported transactions, indications as to values from dealers and general market conditions. In addition, pricing services may determine the fair value of
equity securities traded principally in foreign markets when it has been determined that there has been a significant trend in the U.S. equity markets or in index futures trading. Level 2
assets and liabilities may include debt and equity securities, purchased loans and over-the-counter derivative contracts whose fair value is determined using a pricing model without
significant unobservable market data inputs.

Level 3 – Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable in active exchange markets.

The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for our assets measured at fair value:

Sponsored funds represent investments in open-end, closed-end funds and ETFs for which we act as the investment manager. The fair value of open-end funds is determined
based on their published net asset values and are categorized as Level 1. The fair value of closed-end funds and ETFs are determined based on the official closing price on the
exchange on which they are traded and are categorized as Level 1.

Equity securities include securities traded on active markets and are valued at the official closing price (typically last sale or bid) on the exchange on which the securities are
primarily traded and are categorized as Level 1.
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Debt securities and Investments - available for sale represent investments in CLOs for which we provide investment management services. The investments in collateralized
loan obligations are measured at fair value based on independent third party valuations and are categorized as Level 2 or Level 3. The independent third party valuations are based on
discounted cash flow analyses and comparable trade data.

Nonqualified retirement plan assets represent mutual funds within a nonqualified retirement plan whose fair value is determined based on their published net asset value and are
categorized as Level 1.

Investments of CIP represent the underlying debt and equity securities held in sponsored products that we consolidate. Equity securities are valued at the official closing price on
the exchange on which the securities are traded and are categorized within Level 1. Level 2 investments include certain equity securities for which closing prices are not readily
available or are deemed to not reflect readily available market prices and are valued using an independent pricing service, as well as most debt securities that are valued based on
quotations received from independent pricing services or from dealers who make markets in such securities. Pricing services do not provide pricing for all securities, and therefore
indicative bids from dealers, which are based on pricing models used by market makers in the security, are utilized, and are also included within Level 2. Level 3 investments include
debt and equity securities that are not widely traded, are illiquid and are priced by dealers based on pricing models used by market makers in the security. In certain instances, fair
value has been determined utilizing discounted cash flow analyses or single broker non-binding quotes. Depending on the nature of the inputs, these assets are classified as Level 1, 2
or 3 within the fair value measurement hierarchy.

Notes payable of CIP represent notes issued by CLOs we consolidate and that are measured using the measurement alternative in ASC 820 for collateralized financing entities.
Accordingly, the fair value of CLO liabilities was measured based on the fair value of CLO assets less the sum of (a) the fair value of our beneficial interests and (b) the carrying value
of any beneficial interests that represent compensation for services.

Cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities equal or approximate fair value based on the short-term nature of these instruments.
Marketable securities are reflected in the consolidated financial statements at fair value based upon publicly quoted market prices.

Goodwill

As of December 31, 2019, the carrying value of goodwill was $290.4 million. Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquisitions over the fair value of
identified net assets and liabilities acquired. We have determined that we have only one reporting unit for purposes of assessing the carrying value of goodwill. Goodwill impairment
testing is performed at least annually or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If we determine that the carrying value
of the reporting unit is less than the fair value, a second step of the goodwill impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss, if any. We completed our annual
goodwill impairment assessment as of October 31, 2019, and no impairment was identified. For purposes of this assessment, we considered various qualitative factors including, but
not limited to, certain indicators of fair value (i.e., market capitalization and market multiplies for asset management businesses), and determined that it was more likely than not that
the fair value of our reporting unit was greater than its carrying value. Only a significant decline in the fair value of our reporting unit would indicate that an impairment may exist.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2019, the carrying value of indefinite-lived intangible assets was $43.5 million. Indefinite-lived intangible assets comprise certain trade names and fund
investment advisory contracts. We perform indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment tests annually, or more frequently, should circumstances change, which could reduce the fair
value of indefinite-lived intangible assets below their carrying value. We completed our annual impairment assessment of these assets as of October 31, 2019, and no impairments
were identified. For purposes of this assessment, we considered various qualitative factors for the investment advisory contracts related to the indefinite-lived intangible assets
including, but not limited to, (a) the growth in assets under management, (b) the positive operating margins, and (c) the positive cash flows generated, and we determined that it was
more likely than not that the fair value of indefinite-lived intangible assets was greater than their carrying value. Only a significant decline in the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible assets would indicate that an impairment may exist.
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Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2019, the carrying value of definite-lived intangible assets was $266.9 million. Definite-lived intangible assets comprise certain fund investment advisory
contracts, trade names and non-competition agreements. We monitor the useful lives of definite-lived intangible assets and revise the useful lives, if necessary, based on the
circumstances. Significant judgment is required in estimating the period that these assets will contribute to our cash flows and the pattern over which these assets will be consumed. A
change in the remaining useful life of any of these assets could have a significant impact on amortization expense. All amortization expense is calculated on a straight-line basis.
Impairment testing is performed whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If we determine the carrying value of the
definite-lived intangible assets is less than the sum of the undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the asset, we will quantify the impairment using a discounted cash flow
model.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenues are recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied, which occurs when control of the services is transferred to customers. Investment management fees,
distribution and service fees and administration and shareholder service fees are generally calculated as a percentage of average net assets of the investment portfolios managed. The
net asset values from which investment management, distribution and service, and administration and shareholder service fees are calculated are variable in nature and subject to
factors outside of our control such as additional investments, withdrawals and market performance. Because of this, they are considered constrained until the end of the contractual
measurement period (monthly or quarterly) which is when asset values are generally determinable.

Investment Management Fees

We provide investment management services pursuant to investment management agreements through our affiliated investment advisers (each an "Adviser"). Investment
management services represent a series of distinct daily services that are performed over time. Fees earned on funds are based on each fund’s average daily or weekly net assets that
are generally received and calculated on a monthly basis. We record management fees net of investment management fees paid to unaffiliated subadvisers since we consider ourselves
to be an agent of the fund as it relates to the day-to-day investment management services performed by unaffiliated subadvisers, with our performance obligation being to arrange for
the provision of that service and not control the specified service before that service is performed. Amounts paid to unaffiliated subadvisers for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018 and 2017 were $40.5 million, $46.7 million and $46.7 million, respectively.

Retail separate account fees are generally based on the end of the preceding or current quarter's asset values or on an average of month-end balances. Institutional account fees
are generally based on an average of month-end balances or current quarter’s asset values. In certain instances, institutional fees may include performance fees that are based on
relative investment returns. Fees for structured finance products, for which we act as the collateral manager, consist of senior, subordinated and, in certain instances, incentive
management fees. Senior and subordinated management fees are calculated at a contractual fee rate applied against the end of the preceding quarter par value of the total collateral
being managed with subordinated fees being recognized only after certain portfolio criteria are met. Incentive fees on certain of our CLOs are typically a percentage of the excess cash
flows available to holders of the subordinated notes, above a threshold level internal rate of return.

 
We rely on data provided to us by service providers for the pricing of our assets under management. Our service providers have formal valuation policies and procedures over

the valuation of investments. As of December 31, 2019, our total assets under management by fair value hierarchy level, as defined by ASC 820 were approximately 71.5% Level 1,
28.4% Level 2 and 0.1% Level 3.

Distribution and Service Fees

Distribution and service fees are asset-based fees earned from open-end funds for distribution services. Depending on the fund type or share class, these fees primarily consist of
an asset-based fee that is paid by the fund over a period of years to cover allowable sales and marketing expenses for the fund or front-end sales charges that are based on a percentage
of the offering price. Asset-based distribution and service fees are primarily based on percentages of the average daily net asset value and are paid monthly pursuant to the terms of the
respective distribution and service fee contracts.

Distribution and service fees represent two performance obligations comprised of distribution and related shareholder servicing activities. Distribution services are generally
satisfied upon the sale of a fund share. Shareholder servicing activities are generally services satisfied over time.
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We distribute our open-end funds through third-party financial intermediaries that comprise national and regional broker-dealers. These third-party financial intermediaries
provide distribution and shareholder service activities on our behalf. We pass related distribution and service fees to these third-party financial intermediaries for these services and
consider ourselves the principal in these arrangements since we have control of the services prior to the services being transferred to the customer. These payments are classified
within distribution and other asset-based expenses.

Administration & Shareholder Service Fees

We provide administrative fund services to our open-end funds and certain of our closed-end funds and shareholder services to our open-end funds. Administration and
shareholder services are performed over time. We earn fees for these services, which are calculated and paid monthly, based on each fund’s average daily or weekly net assets.
Administrative fund services include: record keeping, preparing and filing documents required to comply with securities laws, legal administration and compliance services, customer
service, supervision of the activities of the funds’ service providers, tax services and treasury services. We also provide office space, equipment and personnel that may be necessary
for managing and administering the business affairs of the funds. Shareholder services include maintaining shareholder accounts, processing shareholder transactions, preparing filings
and performing necessary reporting.

Other income and fees consist primarily of redemption income on the early redemption of certain share classes of mutual funds.

Accounting for Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes, which requires recognition of the amount of taxes payable or refundable for the current year, as well
as deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts in the Consolidated Financial Statements. We
recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax
benefits recognized are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon ultimate settlement. We record interest and penalties related
to income taxes as a component of income tax expense.

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and, in particular, any valuation allowance that is recorded against our deferred tax assets. The
methodology for determining the realizability of deferred tax assets includes consideration of taxable income in prior carryback year(s), if carryback is permitted under the tax law, as
well as consideration of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities that are in the same period and jurisdiction and are of the same character as the temporary differences that gave rise to
the deferred tax assets. Our methodology also includes estimates of future taxable income from operations, as well as the expiration dates and amounts of carryforwards related to net
operating losses and capital losses. These estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred tax assets based on assumptions that we believe to be reasonable and
consistent with demonstrated operating results. Changes in future operating results not currently forecasted may have a significant impact on the realization of deferred tax assets.
Valuation allowances are provided when it is determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit of deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Loss Contingencies

The likelihood that a loss contingency exists is evaluated using the criteria of ASC 450, Contingencies, and an accrued liability is recorded if the likelihood of a loss is
considered both probable and reasonably estimable at the date of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that we have considered relevant circumstances that we may be currently subject to, and the consolidated financial statements accurately reflect our reasonable
estimate of the results of our operations, financial condition and cash flows for the years presented.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Market Risk

Substantially all of our revenues are derived from investment management, distribution and service, and administration and shareholder service fees, which are based on the
market value of assets under management. Accordingly, a

36



Table of Contents

decline in the market value of assets under management would cause our revenues and income to decline. In addition, a decline in the market value of assets under management could
cause our clients to withdraw their investments in favor of other investments offering higher returns or lower risk, which would cause our revenues and income to decline.

We are also subject to market risk due to a decline in the market value of our investments, which consist of marketable securities and our net interests in CIP. The following
table summarizes the impact of a 10% increase or decrease in the fair values of these financial instruments:

 December 31, 2019

(in thousands) Fair Value  10% Change

Investment Securities - Fair Value (1) $ 60,990  $ 6,099
Our net interest in CIP (2) 135,307  13,531

Total Investments subject to Market Risk $ 196,297  $ 19,630

(1) If a 10% increase or decrease in fair values were to occur, it would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in our pre-tax earnings.

(2) These represent our direct investments in investment products that are consolidated. Upon consolidation, these direct investments are eliminated, and the assets and liabilities of CIP are
consolidated in the Consolidated Balance Sheet, together with a noncontrolling interest balance representing the portion of the CIP owned by third parties. If a 10% increase or decrease in
the fair values of our direct investments in CIP were to occur, it would result in a corresponding increase or decrease in our pre-tax earnings.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. At December 31, 2019,
we were exposed to interest rate risk as a result of approximately $145.8 million of investments in fixed and floating rate income products, which include our net interests in CIP. We
considered a hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates and determined that the fair value of our fixed income investments could change by an estimated $2.2 million.

At December 31, 2019, we had $285.7 million outstanding under our Term Loan. The applicable margin on amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement is 2.50%, in the
case of LIBOR-based loans, and 1.50%, in the case of an alternate base rate loan. In each case the applicable margin is subject to a 25 basis point reduction if our secured net leverage
ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of the last day of the preceding fiscal quarter is not greater than 1.00 to 1.00, as reflected in certain financial reports required under the
Credit Agreement. Given our borrowings are floating rate, we considered a hypothetical 100 basis point change in the base rate of our outstanding borrowings and determined that
annual interest expense would change by an estimated $2.8 million, either an increase or decrease, depending on the direction of the change in the base rate.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The audited consolidated financial statements, including the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and the required supplementary quarterly information,
required by this item are presented under Item 15 "Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules" beginning on page F-1.
 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and that such information
is
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accumulated and communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure. Any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives.

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on their evaluation, our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31,
2019, the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the
fourth quarter of fiscal 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) of the Exchange Act. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent
or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policy or procedures may deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 based upon the
Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on this evaluation, management, including
our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registered public
accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in Item 15 "Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules" of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.

PART III
 

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
Information required by this Item 10 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information required by this Item 11 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 12.         Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

Information required by Item 403 of Regulation S-K is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.
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The following table sets forth information as of December 31, 2019 with respect to compensation plans under which shares of our common stock may be issued:

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION
 

 (a)  (b)  (c)

Plan Category

Number of 
securities to be 

issued 
upon exercise of 

outstanding 
options,  
warrants 
and rights  

Weighted-average 
exercise price of 

outstanding 
options, warrants 

and rights (1)  

Number of 
securities remaining 
available for future 

issuance under equity 
compensation plans 

(excluding securities reflected 
in column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders (2) 535,030  $ 39.35  552,999
Equity compensation plans not approved by security holders —  —  —
Total 535,030  $ 39.35  552,999
 

(1) The weighted-average exercise price set forth in this column is calculated excluding outstanding restricted stock unit awards ("RSUs") since recipients of such awards are not required to
pay an exercise price to receive the shares subject to these awards.

(2) Represents 6,654 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of stock options and 528,376 shares of our common stock issuable upon the vesting of RSUs outstanding under the
Company’s Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (the "Omnibus Plan"). Of the 2,820,000 maximum number of shares of our common stock authorized for issuance under the Omnibus Plan,
107,901 shares of common stock have been issued on a cumulative basis in the form of direct grants to directors.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Information required by this Item 13 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services.
Information required by this Item 14 is incorporated herein by reference to our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed pursuant to

Regulation 14A under the Exchange Act.
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PART IV
 

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

 
(a)(1) Financial Statements: The following Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm and Consolidated

Financial Statements of Virtus are included in this Annual Report:

  
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

  
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018

  
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

  
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

  
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

  
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017

  
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 (a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules:

All financial statement schedules have been omitted because the required information is either presented in the consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto or is
not applicable or required.
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 (a)(3) Exhibits:

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incorporated herein by reference:
 

Exhibit
Number   Exhibit Description

  

(2)   Plan of Acquisition, Reorganization, Arrangement, Liquidation or Succession
2.1

  
Separation Agreement, Plan of Reorganization and Distribution by and between The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and the Registrant, dated as of
December 18, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).

2.2

 

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of December 16, 2016 among the Registrant, 100 Pearl Street 2, LLC, Lightyear Fund III, AIV-2, L.P.,
and RidgeWorth Holdings LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed December 22,
2016).

2.3

 

Securities Purchase Agreement among the Registrant, Sustainable Growth Advisers, LP ("SGA"), SGIA, LLC, Estancia Capital Partners, L.P.
and each of the management partners of SGA named therein, dated as of February 1, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 of the
Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed February 27, 2018).

(3)   Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws
3.1

  
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant, dated December 18, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).

3.2
  

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant, as amended on February 14, 2018 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 16, 2018).

3.3

  

Certificate of Designations of Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B Voting Convertible Preferred Stock of the
Registrant, dated October 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Form 10, filed
November 14, 2008).

3.4

  

Certificate of Amendment of the Certificate of Designations of Series A Non-Voting Convertible Preferred Stock and Series B Voting
Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
August 13, 2009).

3.5
  

Certificate of Designations of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant, dated December 29, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed January 2, 2009).

3.6
 

Certificate of Designations of 7.25% Series D Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 1, 2017).

(4)  Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders including Indentures
4.1

 
Specimen 7.25% Series D Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock Share Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company's
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 1, 2017)

4.2  Description of the Registrant's 7.25% Series D Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock
4.3  Description of the Registrant's Common Stock
(10)   Material Contracts
10.1

  
Transition Services Agreement by and between The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and the Registrant, dated as of December 18, 2008 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).

10.2
  

Tax Separation Agreement by and between The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and the Registrant, dated December 18, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).

10.3
  

Amendment to Tax Separation Agreement, dated April 8, 2009, by and between The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and the Registrant, dated as of
December 18, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed April 10, 2009).

10.4
  

Employee Matters Agreement by and between The Phoenix Companies, Inc. and the Registrant, dated December 18, 2008 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).
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10.5*
  

Change in Control Agreement between George R. Aylward and the Registrant, effective as of December 31, 2008 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 4 to Form 10, filed December 19, 2008).

10.6*
  

Amended and Restated Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the
Registrant’s Form 8-K, filed May 16, 2019).

10.7*
  

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Non-Qualified Excess Investment Plan, effective as of November 1, 2008 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.6 of the Registrant’s Amendment No. 2 to Form 10, filed November 14, 2008).

10.8*
  

First Amendment to the Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Non-Qualified Excess Investment Plan, effective as of February 1, 2010 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed May 4, 2010).

10.9*
  

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Amended and Restated Executive Severance Allowance Plan, effective as of February 2, 2009 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 4, 2009).

10.10*
  

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement under the Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed May 13, 2009).

10.11*
  

Form of Restricted Stock Units Agreement under the Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed May 13, 2009).

10.12*
  

Form of Performance Share Units Agreement under the Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.30 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed August 5, 2011).

10.13*
  

Form of Indemnity Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
November 4, 2009).

10.14*
  

Offer Letter from the Registrant to Mark S. Flynn dated December 9, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed March 1, 2012).

10.15*
 

Confidential Executive Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims, dated January 25, 2019, by and between Mark S. Flynn and
Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.

10.16*
 

Offer Letter from the Registrant to Barry M. Mandinach dated April 4, 2014 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed May 7, 2014).

10.17
  

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated October 27, 2016, between Bank of Montreal Holding Inc. and Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed October 27, 2016).

10.18
 

Commitment Letter, dated as of December 16, 2016, among Barclays Bank PLC, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. and Virtus Investment
Partners, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed December 22, 2016).

10.19
 

Credit Agreement, dated as of June 1, 2017, by and among the Registrant, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. as administrative agent, and the
lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed June 1, 2017).

10.20

 

Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement with the Registrant, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc. as administrative agent, and the lenders party
thereto (including, without limitation, the Amendment No. 1 Additional Term Lenders (as defined in the Amendment) to the Credit Agreement
dated as of June 1, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed February 22, 2018).

10.21*

 

Form of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Performance Share Units Agreement (Special Integration Award) under the Virtus Investment
Partners, Inc. Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q, filed May 8, 2017).

(21)  Subsidiaries of the Registrant
21.1  Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Subsidiaries List.
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(23)   Consents of Experts and Counsel
23.1   Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
23.2  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.
31.1   Certifications of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2   Certifications of Registrant’s Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32.1   Certifications of Registrant’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
101

  

The following information formatted in iXBRL (Inline Extensible Business Reporting Language): (a) Consolidated Balance Sheets as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, (b) Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017, (c) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (d) Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, (e) Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’
Equity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 and (f) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

104  Cover page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document and included in Exhibit 101)
 
* Management contract, compensatory plan or arrangement.

The agreements and other documents filed as exhibits to this report are not intended to provide factual information or other disclosure other than the terms of the agreements or
other documents themselves, and you should not rely on them for that purpose. In particular, any representations and warranties made by the Company in these agreements or other
documents were made solely within the specific context of the relevant agreement or document and may not describe the actual state of affairs at the date they were made or at any
other time.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: February 27, 2020
 

   

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
  

By:  /S/    MICHAEL A. ANGERTHAL

  Michael A. Angerthal

  

Executive Vice President
Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
indicated as of February 27, 2020.
 

/S/    MARK C. TREANOR  /S/    GEORGE R. AYLWARD  
Mark C. Treanor

Director and Non-Executive Chairman
  George R. Aylward

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

  

/S/    PETER L. BAIN  /S/    SUSAN S. FLEMING
Peter L. Bain

Director
  Susan S. Fleming 

Director
  

/S/    PAUL G. GREIG  /S/    TIMOTHY A. HOLT
Paul G. Greig

Director
  Timothy A. Holt

Director
  

/S/    SHEILA HOODA  /S/    MELODY L. JONES
Sheila Hooda

Director
  Melody L. Jones

Director
  

/S/    STEPHEN T. ZARRILLI  /S/    MICHAEL A. ANGERTHAL  
Stephen T. Zarrilli 

Director
  Michael A. Angerthal

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the shareholders and the Board of Directors of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated
statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as
the "financial statements"). We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its

operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). Also, in our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company’s management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and an opinion on the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures to respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use,
or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or
detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit
committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below,
providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Consolidation - Consolidation of Investment Products - Refer to Notes 2 and 20 to the financial statements

Critical Audit Matter Description

The Company is required to consolidate investment products to which it provides investment management services when it (1) has a majority voting interest in an investment product that is a voting
interest entity (VOE) or otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity; or (2) it is considered the primary beneficiary of an investment product that is a variable
interest entity (VIE). The Company is required to evaluate whether an investment product is a VOE or a VIE upon its initial involvement with the investment product, or the occurrence of a
reconsideration event. This assessment involves management’s judgment and is determined based on a variety of factors including the capital structure of the investment product, the investment
product’s activities, the equity investment at risk, and the proportionate voting and economic interests of the investors in the investment product including the Company.

For each investment product that is considered a VIE, the Company performs a primary beneficiary analysis to determine if it holds a controlling financial interest in the investment product. A
controlling financial interest is defined as (a) the power to direct the activities of a VIE that most significantly impact the VIE's economic performance and (b) the obligation to absorb losses of the
VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE or the right to receive benefits from the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. The evaluation of these two criteria involves
judgments to analyze the governing documents of the investment product. The level of judgment required may vary in significance based on the complexity of the voting rights and structure
economic interests of the investment product and the facts and circumstances of the Company’s investment.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to testing the consolidation assessment of VIEs included the following:
• We tested the design and operating effectiveness of controls over management’s review of the consolidation analysis of new or modified investment products during the year.
• We read the governing documents (including the collateral management agreement, preference share subscription agreement and credit agreement, if applicable) of each investment product to

confirm that:
• Key facts included in management’s consolidation analysis are consistent with the governing documents and the Company’s interests in the investment products;
• Relevant terms impacting the consolidation analysis under GAAP were considered including the evaluation of whether the investment product is a VOE or VIE;
• The Company’s assessment effectively identifies the primary beneficiary of those investment products considered to be VIEs through an analysis of the power to direct activities of the

VIE and the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits from the VIE.
• We involved specialists from our consolidation subject matter expert team to assist us in analyzing the appropriate application of GAAP where the accounting considerations were complex.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 27, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2018.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income, of changes in stockholders’ equity and of cash flow of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (the “Company”) for the year ended December 31, 2017, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations and cash flows of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2017 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s consolidated financial
statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing
procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
Our audit also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

 
/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut

February 26, 2018, except for the change in the manner in which the Company accounts for restricted cash in the statement of cash flow discussed in Note 2 (not presented herein) to
the consolidated financial statements appearing under Item 15 of the Company’s 2018 annual report on Form 10-K, as to which the date is February 27, 2019

We served as the Company's auditor from at least 1995 to 2018. We have not been able to determine the specific year we began serving as the auditor of the Company.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands, except share data)
 December 31, 2019  December 31, 2018

Assets:     

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 221,781  $ 201,705

Investments  83,206  79,558

Accounts receivable, net  74,132  70,047

Assets of consolidated investment products ("CIP")   

Cash and cash equivalents of CIP  99,691  52,015

Cash pledged or on deposit of CIP  467  936

Investments of CIP  2,030,110  1,749,568

Other assets of CIP  23,612  31,057

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net  18,150  20,154

Intangible assets, net  310,391  338,812

Goodwill  290,366  290,366

Deferred taxes, net  15,879  22,116

Other assets  36,849  14,201

Total assets  $ 3,204,634  $ 2,870,535

Liabilities and Equity    

Liabilities:    

Accrued compensation and benefits  $ 101,377  $ 93,339

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  23,308  27,926

Dividends payable  8,915  7,762

Debt  277,839  329,184

Other liabilities  40,507  20,010

Liabilities of CIP   

Notes payable of CIP  1,834,535  1,620,260

Securities purchased payable and other liabilities of CIP  168,051  70,706

Total liabilities  2,454,532  2,169,187

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 12)   

Redeemable noncontrolling interests  63,845  57,481

Equity:   

Equity attributable to stockholders:   
Series D mandatory convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 1,150,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding at December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018  110,843  110,843
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000,000,000 shares authorized; 10,736,887 shares issued and 6,809,280 shares outstanding at December 31, 2019 and
10,552,624 shares issued and 6,997,382 shares outstanding at December 31, 2018  107  106

Additional paid-in capital  1,199,205  1,209,805

Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)  (215,216)  (310,865)

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  9  (731)

Treasury stock, at cost, 3,927,607 and 3,555,242 shares at December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively  (419,249)  (379,249)

Total equity attributable to stockholders  675,699  629,909

Noncontrolling interests  10,558  13,958

Total equity  686,257  643,867

Total liabilities and equity  $ 3,204,634  $ 2,870,535

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share data) 2019  2018  2017
Revenues      
Investment management fees $ 461,477  $ 437,021  $ 331,075
Distribution and service fees 40,898  50,715  44,322
Administration and shareholder service fees 59,884  63,614  48,996
Other income and fees 987  885  1,214
Total revenues 563,246  552,235  425,607
Operating Expenses     
Employment expenses 240,521  238,501  191,394
Distribution and other asset-based expenses 82,099  92,441  71,987
Other operating expenses 74,363  74,853  69,410
Other operating expenses of consolidated investment products ("CIP") 4,015  3,515  8,531
Restructuring and severance 2,302  87  10,580
Depreciation expense 4,992  4,597  3,497
Amortization expense 30,244  25,142  12,173
Total operating expenses 438,536  439,136  367,572
Operating Income (Loss) 124,710  113,099  58,035
Other Income (Expense)     
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net 7,044  (5,217)  2,973
Realized and unrealized gain (loss) of CIP, net (1,202)  (21,252)  13,553
Other income (expense), net 2,411  3,289  1,635
Total other income (expense), net 8,253  (23,180)  18,161
Interest Income (Expense)     
Interest expense (19,473)  (19,445)  (12,007)
Interest and dividend income 3,844  4,999  2,160
Interest and dividend income of investments of CIP 115,356  98,356  49,323
Interest expense of CIP (92,005)  (64,788)  (35,243)
Total interest income (expense), net 7,722  19,122  4,233
Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes 140,685  109,041  80,429
Income tax expense (benefit) 35,177  32,961  40,490
Net Income (Loss) 105,508  76,080  39,939
Noncontrolling interests (9,859)  (551)  (2,927)
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Stockholders $ 95,649  $ 75,529  $ 37,012
Preferred stockholder dividends (8,337)  $ (8,337)  $ (8,336)

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders $ 87,312  $ 67,192  $ 28,676

Earnings (Loss) per Share-Basic $ 12.54  $ 9.37  $ 4.09

Earnings (Loss) per Share-Diluted $ 11.74  $ 8.86  $ 3.96

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding-Basic 6,963  7,174  7,013

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding-Diluted 8,149  8,527  7,247

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Net Income (Loss) $ 105,508  $ 76,080  $ 39,939
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:      

Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of tax of ($5), $6 and ($4) for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 14  (17)  12
Unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax of $111 and $100 for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively —  (292)  (388)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 14  (309)  (376)
Comprehensive income (loss) 105,522  75,771  39,563
Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests (9,859)  (551)  (2,927)
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to stockholders $ 95,663  $ 75,220  $ 36,636

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity

 Permanent Equity  Temporary
Equity

 Common Stock  Preferred Stock  
Additional 

Paid-in 
Capital  

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income (Loss)  

Treasury Stock  Total 
Attributed 

To 
Shareholders  

Non- 
controlling 

Interests  Total 
Equity  

Redeemable 
Non- 

controlling 
Interests(in thousands, except share data) Shares  Par Value  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Balances at December 31, 2016
5,889,013  $ 91  —  $ —  $ 1,090,331  $ (424,279)  $ (224)  3,230,045  $ (344,246)  $ 321,673  $ —  $ 321,673  $ 37,266

Cumulative effect adjustment for
adoption of ASU 2016-09 —  —  —  —  —  1,051  —  —  —  1,051  —  1,051  —
Net income (loss)

—  —  —  —  —  37,012  —  —  —  37,012  1,507  38,519  1,420
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities
available-for-sale —  —  —  —  —  —  (388)  —  —  (388)  —  (388)   
Foreign currency translation adjustment

—  —  —  —  —  —  12  —  —  12  —  12  —
Net subscriptions (redemptions) and
other —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  15,160  15,160  (34,508)
Issuance of mandatory convertible
preferred stock, net of offering costs —  —  1,150,000  110,843  —  —  —  —  —  110,843  —  110,843  —
Cash dividends declared ($7.25 per
preferred share) —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  (8,337)  —
Issuance of common stock for
acquisition of business 213,669  2  —  —  21,738  —  —  —  —  21,740  —  21,740  —
Issuance of common stock, net of
offering costs 1,046,500  11  —  —  109,316  —  —  —  —  109,327  —  109,327  —
Cash dividends declared ($1.80 per
common share) —  —  —  —  (13,545)  —  —  —  —  (13,545)  —  (13,545)  —
Repurchase of common shares

(66,244)  —  —  —  —  —  —  66,244  (7,502)  (7,502)  —  (7,502)  —
Issuance of common shares related to
employee stock transactions 76,707  1  —  —  840  —  —  —  —  841  —  841  —
Taxes paid on stock-
based compensation —  —  —  —  (3,499)  —  —  —  —  (3,499)  —  (3,499)  —
Stock-based compensation

—  —  —  —  19,329  —  —  —  —  19,329  —  19,329  —

Balances at December 31, 2017 7,159,645  $ 105  1,150,000  $ 110,843  $ 1,216,173  $ (386,216)  $ (600)  3,296,289  $ (351,748)  $ 588,557  $ 16,667  $ 605,224  $ 4,178
Adjustment for adoption of ASU 2016-
01 —  —  —  —  —  (178)  178  —  —  —  —  —  —
Acquisition of business

—  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  55,500
Net income (loss)

—  —  —  —  —  75,529  —  —  —  75,529  36  75,565  515
Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities
available-for-sale —  —  —  —  —  —  (292)  —  —  (292)  —  (292)  —
Foreign currency translation adjustment

—  —  —  —  —  —  (17)  —  —  (17)  —  (17)  —
Net subscriptions (redemptions) and
other —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  —  (2,745)  (2,745)  (2,712)
Cash dividends declared ($7.25 per
preferred share) —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  (8,337)  —
Cash dividends declared ($2.00 per
common share) —  —  —  —  (15,267)  —  —  —  —  (15,267)  —  (15,267)  —
Repurchase of common shares

(258,953)  —  —  —  —  —  —  258,953  (27,501)  (27,501)  —  (27,501)  —
Issuance of common shares related to
employee stock transactions 96,690  1  —  —  1,543  —  —  —  —  1,544  —  1,544  —
Taxes paid on stock-
based compensation —  —  —  —  (6,591)  —  —  —  —  (6,591)  —  (6,591)  —
Stock-based compensation

—  —  —  —  22,284  —  —  —  —  22,284  —  22,284  —

Balances at December 31, 2018 6,997,382  $ 106  1,150,000  $ 110,843  $ 1,209,805  $ (310,865)  $ (731)  3,555,242  $ (379,249)  $ 629,909  $ 13,958  $ 643,867  $ 57,481
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 Permanent Equity  Temporary
Equity

 Common Stock  Preferred Stock  
Additional 

Paid-in 
Capital  

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)  

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)  

Treasury Stock  Total 
Attributed 

To 
Shareholders  

Non- 
controlling
Interests  Total 

Equity  

Redeemable
Non- 

controlling 
Interests(in thousands, except share data) Shares  Par Value  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Net income (loss) —  $ —  —  $ —  $ —  $ 95,649  $ —  —  $ —  $ 95,649  $ (1,027)  $ 94,622  $ 10,886
Foreign currency translation adjustment —  —  —  —  —  —  14  —  —  14  —  14  —
Net subscriptions (redemptions) and
other —  —  —  —  838  —  —  —  —  838  (2,373)  (1,535)  (4,522)
Reclassification from other
comprehensive (income) loss —  —  —  —  —  —  726  —  —  726  —  726  —
Cash dividends declared ($7.25 per
preferred share) —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  —  —  —  (8,337)  —  (8,337)  —
Cash dividends declared ($2.44 per
common share) —  —  —  —  (18,130)  —  —  —  —  (18,130)  —  (18,130)  —
Repurchase of common shares (372,365)  —  —  —  —  —  —  372,365  (40,000)  (40,000)  —  (40,000)  —
Issuance of common shares related to
employee stock transactions 184,263  1  —  —  1,552  —  —  —  —  1,553  —  1,553  —
Taxes paid on stock-
based compensation —  —  —  —  (7,696)  —  —  —  —  (7,696)  —  (7,696)  —
Stock-based compensation —  —  —  —  21,173  —  —  —  —  21,173  —  21,173  —

Balances at December 31, 2019 6,809,280  $ 107  1,150,000  $110,843  $1,199,205  $ (215,216)  $ 9  3,927,607  $(419,249)  $ 675,699  $10,558  $686,257  $ 63,845

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:      

Net income (loss) $ 105,508  $ 76,080  $ 39,939
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:      

Depreciation expense, intangible asset and other amortization 39,643  33,426  18,329
Stock-based compensation 22,230  23,100  20,327
Amortization of deferred commissions 2,940  3,847  2,308
Payments of deferred commissions (2,097)  (4,218)  (2,871)
Equity in earnings of equity method investments (2,600)  (3,703)  (1,678)
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments, net (6,855)  5,736  (3,237)
Distributions from equity method investments 828  4,178  911
Sales (purchases) of investments, net 9,057  4,995  20,444
Other non-cash items, net —  39  345
Deferred taxes, net 5,982  10,429  22,835

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      
Accounts receivable, net and other assets (1,382)  24,794  (961)
Accrued compensation and benefits, accounts payable, accrued liabilities and other liabilities (2,991)  (24,714)  11,468

Operating activities of consolidated investment products ("CIP"):      
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses on investments of CIP, net (106)  18,706  (14,051)
Purchases of investments by CIP (1,029,746)  (1,106,991)  (923,519)
Sales of investments by CIP 810,749  874,279  615,565
Net proceeds (purchases) of short term investments by CIP 4,402  (552)  595
(Purchases) sales of securities sold short by CIP, net 1,241  209  256
Change in other assets of CIP 998  (628)  (255)
Change in liabilities of CIP 971  (1,567)  5,284
Amortization of discount on notes payable of CIP 4,505  —  5,107

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (36,723)  (62,555)  (182,859)
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:      

Capital expenditures and other asset purchases (7,555)  (11,717)  (1,511)
Change in cash and cash equivalents of CIP due to consolidation (deconsolidation), net 9,980  (113)  (604)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired —  (126,995)  (393,446)
Sale of available-for-sale securities 2,023  37,785  —
Purchases of available-for-sale securities —  (20,188)  (21,433)

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 4,448  (121,228)  (416,994)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:      

Issuance of debt —  105,000  260,000
Payment of long term debt (54,851)  (23,776)  (650)
Payment of contingent consideration —  —  (51,690)
Payment of deferred financing costs —  (3,810)  (15,549)
Borrowings (repayments) on credit facility and other debt —  —  (30,970)
Repurchase of common shares (40,000)  (27,501)  (7,502)
Preferred stock dividends paid (8,338)  (8,338)  (6,253)
Common stock dividends paid (16,977)  (14,038)  (12,581)
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 726  819  111
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of restricted stock units (7,696)  (6,591)  (3,499)
Proceeds from issuance of mandatory convertible preferred stock, net of issuance costs —  —  111,004
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs —  —  109,487
Net subscriptions received from (redemptions/distributions paid to) noncontrolling interests (4,685)  (5,512)  30,047

Financing activities of CIP      
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Contributions (redemptions) of CIP 12,471  —  —
Borrowings by CIP 414,605  857,404  474,009
Payments on borrowings by CIP (195,697)  (669,500)  (105,500)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 99,558  204,157  750,464
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 67,283  20,374  150,611
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, beginning of year 254,656  234,282  83,671
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, end of year $ 321,939  $ 254,656  $ 234,282

      

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information      
Interest paid $ 18,072  $ 11,846  $ 8,147
Income taxes paid, net 29,062  23,800  12,149

Supplemental Disclosure of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Activities      
Capital expenditures $ (1,791)  $ 2,165  $ 70
Preferred stock dividends payable 2,084  2,084  2,084
Common stock dividends payable 4,562  3,849  965
Increase (Decrease) to noncontrolling interests due to consolidation (deconsolidation) of CIP, net (13,926)  56  (65,576)

Stock issued for acquisition of business —  —  21,738

Accrued stock issuance costs —  —  332

 December 31,

($ in thousands) 2019  2018

Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash    
Cash and cash equivalents $ 221,781  $ 201,705

Cash of consolidated investment products 99,691  52,015

Cash pledged or on deposit of consolidated investment products 467  936

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 321,939  $ 254,656

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

 

1. Organization and Business

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (the "Company," "we," "us," "our" or "Virtus"), a Delaware corporation, operates in the investment management industry through its
subsidiaries.

The Company provides investment management and related services to individuals and institutions. The Company’s retail investment management services are provided to
individuals through products consisting of U.S. 1940 Act mutual funds and Undertaking for Collective Investment in Transferable Securities ("UCITS" or "offshore funds" and
collectively, with U.S. 1940 Act mutual funds, "open-end funds"), exchange traded funds ("ETFs"), closed-end funds (collectively, with open-end funds and ETFs, "funds") and retail
separate accounts. Institutional investment management services are offered through separate accounts and pooled or commingled structures to a variety of institutional clients. The
Company also provides subadvisory services to other investment advisers and serves as the collateral manager for structured products.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP").
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its subsidiaries and investment products that are consolidated. Voting interest entities ("VOEs") are
consolidated when the Company is considered to have a controlling financial interest, which is typically present when the Company owns a majority of the voting interest in an entity
or otherwise has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity.

The Company evaluates the appropriateness of consolidation of any variable interest entity ("VIEs") in which the Company has a variable interest. A VIE is an entity in which
either (a) the equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its own activities without additional financial support or (b) where as a group, the holders of the
equity investment at risk do not possess: (i) the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; (ii) the
obligation to absorb expected losses or the right to receive expected residual returns of the entity; or (iii) proportionate voting and economic interests and where substantially all of the
entity’s activities either involve or are conducted on behalf of an investor with disproportionately fewer voting rights. If an entity has any of these characteristics, it is considered a
VIE and is required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary. The primary beneficiary is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the
VIE’s economic performance and has the obligation to absorb losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. See Note 20 for
additional information related to the consolidation of investment products. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Noncontrolling Interests

Noncontrolling interests include third-party investments in consolidated investment products ("CIP") and minority interests held in an affiliate.

Noncontrolling interests - CIP

Noncontrolling interests - CIP represent third-party investments in the Company's CIP and are classified as redeemable noncontrolling interests if investors in those products
may request withdrawal at any time.

Noncontrolling interests - affiliate

Noncontrolling interests - affiliate represents minority interests held in a consolidated affiliate. These interests are subject to holder put rights and Company call rights at
established multiples of earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization and, as such, are considered redeemable at other than fair value. The rights are exercisable at pre-
established intervals (between four and seven years from their issuance) or upon certain conditions such as retirement. The put and call rights are not legally detachable or separately
exercisable and are deemed to be embedded in the related noncontrolling interests. The Company, in purchasing affiliate equity, has the option to settle in cash or shares of the
Company's common stock
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and is entitled to the cash flow associated with any purchased equity. Minority interests in an affiliate are recorded at estimated redemption value within redeemable noncontrolling
interests in the Consolidated Balance Sheets and any changes in the estimated redemption value are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations within noncontrolling
interests.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting
periods. Management believes the estimates used in preparing the consolidated financial statements are reasonable and prudent. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Segment Information

Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 280, Segment Reporting, establishes disclosure requirements relating to operating segments in annual and interim financial
statements. Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available that is regularly evaluated by the chief operating
decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources to the segment and assess its performance. The Company operates in one business segment, namely as an asset manager
providing investment management and related services for individual and institutional clients. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer is the Company’s chief operating decision
maker. Although the Company provides disclosures regarding assets under management and other asset flows by product, the Company’s determination that it operates in one business
segment is based on the fact that the same investment professionals manage both retail and institutional products, operational resources support multiple products, such products have
the same or similar regulatory framework and the Company’s chief operating decision maker reviews the Company’s financial performance on a consolidated level. Investment
managers within the Company are generally not aligned with specific product lines.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash in banks and money market fund investments.

Restricted Cash

The Company considers cash and cash equivalents of CIP and cash pledged or on deposit of CIP to be restricted as it is not available to the Company for its general operations.
 

Investments

Investment securities - fair value     

Investment securities - fair value consist primarily of investments in the Company's sponsored funds, equity securities and trading debt securities and are carried at fair value in
accordance with ASC 320, Investments-Debt and Equity Securities ("ASC 320") and Topic 321, Investments-Equity Securities ("ASC 321"). These securities are marked to market
based on the respective publicly quoted net asset values of the funds or market prices of the equity securities or bonds. These securities transactions are recorded on a trade date basis.
Any unrealized appreciation or depreciation on investment securities is reported as realized and unrealized gain (loss) on investments in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

Investment securities - available for sale

Investment securities - available for sale consist of investments in collateralized loan obligations ("CLOs") for which the Company provides investment management services
and does not consolidate. These investments are carried at fair value in accordance with ASC 320.  Any unrealized appreciation or depreciation on available-for-sale securities, net of
income taxes, is reported as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income in equity attributable to stockholders in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

On a quarterly basis, the Company conducts a review to assess whether other-than-temporary impairments exist on its available-for-sale investment securities. Other-than-
temporary declines in value may exist if the fair value of an investment security has been below the carrying value for an extended period of time. If an other-than-temporary decline
in value is
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determined to exist, the unrealized investment loss, net of tax, is recognized in the Consolidated Statements of Operations in the period in which the decline occurs, and an
accompanying permanent adjustment is made to accumulated other comprehensive income.

Equity Method Investments

Equity method investments consist of Company investments in noncontrolled entities, where the Company does not hold a controlling financial interest but has the ability to
significantly influence operating and financial matters. Equity method investments are accounted for under the equity method of accounting in accordance with ASC 323, Investments-
Equity Method and Joint Ventures. Under the equity method of accounting, the Company’s share of the noncontrolled entities' net income or loss is recorded in other income
(expense), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Distributions received reduce the Company’s investment. The investment is evaluated for impairment if events or changes
indicate that the carrying amount exceeds its fair value. If the carrying amount of an investment does exceed its fair value and the decline in fair value is deemed to be other-than-
temporary, an impairment charge will be recorded.

Non-qualified Retirement Plan Assets and Liabilities

The Company has a non-qualified retirement plan (the "Excess Incentive Plan") that allows certain employees to voluntarily defer compensation. Assets held in trust, which are
considered investment securities, are included in investments at fair value in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement ("ASC 820"); the associated obligations to
participants, which approximate the fair value of the associated assets, are included in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 6 for additional information
related to the Excess Incentive Plan.

Deferred Commissions

Deferred commissions, which are included in other assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, are commissions paid to broker-dealers on sales of certain mutual fund share
classes. Deferred commissions are recovered by the receipt of monthly asset-based distributor fees from the mutual funds or contingent deferred sales charges received upon
redemption of shares within the contingent deferred sales charge period, depending on the fund share class. The deferred costs resulting from the sale of shares are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the period during which redemptions by the purchasing shareholder are subject to a contingent deferred sales charge, depending on the fund share class, or until
the underlying shares are redeemed. Deferred commissions are periodically assessed for impairment. If impairment is indicated, impairment adjustments are recognized in operating
income as a component of amortization of deferred commissions.

Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of three to seven
years for furniture and office equipment and three to five years for computer equipment and software. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the remaining
estimated lives of the related leases or useful lives of the improvements. Major renewals or betterments are capitalized, and recurring repairs and maintenance are expensed as
incurred.

Leases

The Company leases office space and equipment under various leasing arrangements. In accordance with ASU 2016-02, Leases, the Company's leases are evaluated and
classified as either financing leases or operating leases, as appropriate. The Company recognizes a lease liability and a corresponding right of use (“ROU”) asset on the
commencement date of any lease arrangement. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments over the lease term using the rate implicit in the
arrangement or, if not readily determinable, the Company's incremental borrowing rate. The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate through market sources, including
relevant industry rates. A ROU asset is measured initially as the value of the lease liability plus initial direct costs and prepaid lease payments, and less lease incentives received. Lease
expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term and is recorded within other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statement of Operations.

F-14



Table of Contents
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price of acquisitions and mergers over the identified assets and liabilities acquired. In accordance with ASC 350, Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets, goodwill is not amortized. A single reporting unit has been identified for the purpose of assessing potential impairments of goodwill. An impairment analysis
of goodwill is performed annually or more frequently, if warranted by events or changes in circumstances affecting the Company’s business. The Company follows the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (the "FASB") Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2011-08, Testing Goodwill for Impairment, which provides the option to first assess qualitative
factors to determine whether the existence of events or circumstances leads to a determination that it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events or circumstances, it is determined that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its
carrying amount, then performing the two-step impairment test is unnecessary. The Company’s 2019 and 2018 annual goodwill impairment analysis did not result in any impairment
charges.

Definite-lived intangible assets are comprised of certain fund investment advisory contracts, trade names and non-competition agreements. These assets are amortized on a
straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of such assets, which range from five to sixteen years. Definite-lived intangible assets are evaluated for impairment on an ongoing
basis whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the definite-lived intangible asset may not be recoverable. The Company determines if impairment has
occurred by comparing estimates of future undiscounted cash flows to the carrying value of assets. Assets are considered impaired, and an impairment is recorded, if the carrying value
exceeds the expected future undiscounted cash flows.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets are comprised of certain trade names and fund investment advisory contracts. These assets are tested for impairment annually or when events or
changes in circumstances indicate the assets might be impaired. The Company follows ASU 2012-02, Testing Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment, which provides the
option to perform a qualitative assessment of indefinite-lived intangible assets other than goodwill for impairment to determine if additional impairment testing is necessary. The
Company’s 2019 and 2018 annual indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment analysis did not result in any impairment charges.

Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is accounted for under the cost method and is included as a deduction from equity in the Stockholders’ Equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Upon
any subsequent resale, the treasury stock account is reduced by the cost of such stock.

Revenue Recognition

The Company's revenues are recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied, which occurs when control of the services is transferred to customers. Investment
management fees, distribution and service fees, and administration and shareholder service fees are generally calculated as a percentage of average net assets of the investment
portfolios managed. The net asset values from which investment management, distribution and service, and administration and shareholder service fees are calculated are variable in
nature and subject to factors outside of the Company's control such as additional investments, withdrawals and market performance. Because of this, these fees are considered
constrained until the end of the contractual measurement period (monthly or quarterly), which is when asset values are generally determinable.

Investment Management Fees

The Company provides investment management services pursuant to investment management agreements through its affiliated investment advisers (each an "Adviser").
Investment management services represent a series of distinct daily services that are performed over time. Fees earned on funds are based on each fund’s average daily or weekly net
assets that are generally calculated and received on a monthly basis. The Company records investment management fees net of fees paid to unaffiliated subadvisers, as the Company
considers itself an agent of the fund as it relates to the day-to-day investment management services performed by unaffiliated subadvisers, with the Company's performance obligation
being to arrange for the provision of that service and not control the specified service before that service is performed. Amounts paid to unaffiliated subadvisers for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 were $40.5 million, $46.7 million and $46.7 million, respectively.
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Retail separate account fees are generally based on the end of the preceding or current quarter's asset values or on an average of month-end balances. Institutional account
fees are generally based on an average of daily or month-end balances or the current quarter’s asset values. Fees for structured finance products, for which the Company acts as the
collateral manager, consist of senior, subordinated and, in certain instances, incentive management fees. Senior and subordinated management fees are calculated at a contractual fee
rate applied against the end of the preceding quarter par value of the total collateral being managed with subordinated fees being recognized only after certain portfolio criteria are met.
Incentive fees on certain of the Company's CLOs are typically a percentage of the excess cash flows available to holders of the subordinated notes, above a threshold level internal rate
of return.

      
Distribution and Service Fees

Distribution and service fees are primarily sales- and asset-based fees earned from open-end funds for marketing and distribution services. Depending on the fund type or
share class, these fees primarily consist of an asset-based fee that is paid by the fund over a period of years to cover allowable sales and marketing expenses, or front-end sales charges
that are based on a percentage of the offering price. Asset-based distribution and service fees are primarily earned as percentages of the average daily net assets value and are paid
monthly pursuant to the terms of the respective distribution and service fee contracts.

Distribution and service fees represent two performance obligations comprised of distribution and related shareholder servicing activities. Distribution services are generally
satisfied upon the sale of a fund share. Shareholder servicing activities are generally services satisfied over time.

The Company distributes its open-end funds through unaffiliated financial intermediaries that comprise national and regional broker-dealers. These unaffiliated financial
intermediaries provide distribution and shareholder service activities on behalf of the Company. The Company passes related distribution and service fees to these unaffiliated
financial intermediaries for these services and considers itself the principal in these arrangements since it has control of the services prior to the services being transferred to the
customer. These payments are classified within distribution and other asset-based expenses.

Administration & Shareholder Service Fees

The Company provides administrative fund services to its open-end funds and certain of its closed-end funds and shareholder services to its open-end funds. Administration
and shareholder services are performed over time. The Company earns fees for these services, that are calculated and paid monthly, based on each fund’s average daily or weekly net
assets. Administrative fund services include: record keeping, preparing and filing documents required to comply with securities laws, legal administration and compliance services,
customer service, supervision of the activities of the funds’ service providers, tax services and treasury services. The Company also provides office space, equipment and personnel
that may be necessary for managing and administering the business affairs of the funds. Shareholder services include maintaining shareholder accounts, processing shareholder
transactions, preparing filings and performing necessary reporting.

Other income and fees consist primarily of redemption income on the early redemption of certain share classes of mutual funds.

Advertising and Promotion

Advertising and promotional costs are expensed as incurred. These costs are classified in other operating expenses in the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 

Stock-based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensation expense in accordance with ASC 718, Compensation—Stock Compensation ("ASC 718"), which requires the
measurement and recognition of compensation expense for share-based awards based on the estimated fair value on the date of grant.

Restricted stock units ("RSUs") are stock awards that entitle the holder to receive shares of the Company’s common stock as the award vests over time or when certain
performance metrics are achieved. The fair value of each RSU award is based on the fair market value price on the date of grant unless it contains a performance metric that is
considered a "market condition." Compensation expense for RSU awards is recognized ratably over the vesting period on a straight-line basis. The value of
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RSUs that contain a performance metric ("PSUs") is determined based on (a) the fair market value price on the date of grant, for awards that contain a performance metric that
represents a "performance condition" in accordance with ASC 718 or (b) the Monte Carlo simulation valuation model for awards that contain a "market condition" performance metric
under ASC 718. Compensation expense for PSU awards that contain a market condition is fixed at the date of grant and is not adjusted in future periods based upon the achievement of
the market condition. Compensation expense for PSU awards with a performance condition is recorded each period based upon a probability assessment of the expected outcome of
the performance metric with a final adjustment upon measurement at the end of the performance period.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC 740, Income Taxes ("ASC 740"), which requires recognition of the amount of taxes payable or refundable for
the current year as well as deferred tax assets and liabilities for temporary differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and the reported amounts in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Company’s methodology for determining the realizability of deferred tax assets includes consideration of taxable income in prior carryback year(s), if carryback is
permitted under the tax law, as well as consideration of the reversal of deferred tax liabilities that are in the same period and jurisdiction and are of the same character as the temporary
differences that gave rise to the deferred tax assets. The Company’s methodology also includes estimates of future taxable income from its operations as well as the expiration dates
and amounts of carry-forwards related to net operating losses and capital losses. These estimates are projected through the life of the related deferred tax assets based on assumptions
that the Company believes to be reasonable and consistent with demonstrated operating results. Unanticipated changes in future operating results may have a significant impact on the
realization of deferred tax assets. Valuation allowances are provided when it is determined that it is more likely than not that the benefit of deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports all changes in comprehensive income in the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity and the Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income. Comprehensive income includes net income (loss), foreign currency translation adjustments (net of tax) and unrealized gains and losses on investments
classified as available-for-sale (net of tax).

Earnings per Share

Earnings per share ("EPS") is calculated in accordance with ASC 260, Earnings per Share. Basic EPS excludes dilution for potential common stock issuances and is computed
by dividing basic net income available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential
dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock, including (a) shares issuable upon the vesting of RSUs
and stock option exercises using the treasury stock method and (b) shares issuable upon the conversion of the Company's mandatory convertible preferred stock, as determined under
the if-converted method. For purposes of calculating diluted EPS, preferred stock dividends are subtracted from net income (loss) in periods in which utilizing the if-converted method
would be anti-dilutive.

Fair Value Measurements and Fair Value of Financial Instruments

ASC 820 establishes a framework for measuring fair value and a valuation hierarchy based upon the transparency of inputs used in the valuation of an asset or liability. The
FASB defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. Classification within the hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The valuation hierarchy contains three levels as
follows:

Level 1—Unadjusted quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets. Level 1 assets and liabilities may include debt securities and equity securities that are traded in an
active exchange market.

Level 2—Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived valuations
in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets. Level 2 inputs may include observable market data such as closing market prices provided
by
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independent pricing services after considering factors such as the yields or prices of comparable investments of comparable quality, coupon, maturity, call rights and other potential
prepayments, terms and type, reported transactions, indications as to values from dealers and general market conditions. In addition, pricing services may determine the fair value of
equity securities traded principally in foreign markets when it has been determined that there has been a significant trend in the U.S. equity markets or in index futures trading. Level 2
assets and liabilities may include debt and equity securities, purchased loans and over-the-counter derivative contracts whose fair value is determined using a pricing model without
significant unobservable market data inputs.

Level 3—Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable in active exchange markets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

New Accounting Standards Implemented

In July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-09, Codification Improvements. This standard, which does not prescribe any new accounting guidance, clarifies several different
FASB ASC areas based on comments and suggestions made by various stakeholders. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted this standard. The adoption of this standard did not
have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income. This standard provides financial
statement preparers with the option to reclassify tax effects within other comprehensive income (referred to as stranded tax effects) to retained earnings in each period in which the
effect of the change in the U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted this
standard. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), with several amendments (collectively, "ASU 2016-02"). This standard requires a lessee to recognize
assets and liabilities on the balance sheet arising from operating leases. For both finance leases and operating leases, the lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the
future lease payments. In addition to the lease liability, companies are required to recognize a corresponding ROU asset initially measured as the value of the lease liability plus initial
direct costs and prepaid lease payments, and less lease incentives received. ASU 2016-02 allows the option to apply its provisions at the effective date without adjusting comparative
periods presented. The Company elected this optional transition method along with the package of practical expedients permitted under the standard, which allowed the Company to
forgo (a) reassessing whether expired or existing non-lease contracts that commenced before January 1, 2019 contained an embedded lease, (b) reevaluating the accounting
classification of our existing operating leases, and (c) determining whether initial direct costs related to existing leases should be capitalized. The Company also elected to combine
lease and non-lease components in calculating the lease liability and ROU asset for operating leases. On January 1, 2019, the Company adopted this standard, which resulted in the
recording of a ROU asset of $20.5 million and lease liability of $28.6 million representing a non-cash activity in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. See Note 9 for further
discussion.

New Accounting Standards Not Yet Implemented

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other-Internal-Use Software (Subtopic 350-40) ("ASU 2018-15"). This standard aligns the
requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to
develop or obtain internal-use software, including an internal-use software license. ASU 2018-15 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019 and interim periods
within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on the Company's consolidated
financial statements.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820). This standard modifies the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements and is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted. The Company does not expect that the
adoption of this standard will have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.
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3. Revenues

Revenue Disaggregated by Source

The following table summarizes revenue by source:

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017 (1)

Investment management fees      
Open-end funds $ 229,637  $ 231,175  $ 175,260
Closed-end funds 42,199  41,455  44,687
Retail separate accounts 82,999  73,532  54,252
Institutional accounts 96,429  77,711  46,600
Structured products 6,381  9,622  6,302
Other products 3,832  3,526  3,974
Total investment management fees 461,477  437,021  331,075
Distribution and service fees 40,898  50,715  44,322
Administration and shareholder service fees 59,884  63,614  48,996
Other income and fees 987  885  1,214

Total revenues $ 563,246  $ 552,235  $ 425,607
(1) Prior period amounts have not been adjusted and are reported in accordance with historical accounting under ASC 605, Revenue Recognition.

4. Business Combinations
    
Sustainable Growth Advisers, LP ("SGA")

On July 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of 70% of the outstanding limited partnership interests of SGA and 100% of the membership interests in its general
partner, SGIA, LLC (the "Acquisition"). SGA is an investment manager specializing in growth equity investing in U.S. and global equity portfolios. The Acquisition expanded the
Company's offerings of investment strategies and diversified the Company's client base, particularly with regard to institutional investors and international clients. The Company
accounted for the acquisition in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. The total purchase price of $129.5 million was allocated to the assets acquired, liabilities assumed
and redeemable noncontrolling interests based upon their estimated fair values at the date of the Acquisition. Goodwill of $120.2 million and other intangible assets of $62.0 million
were recorded as a result of the Acquisition. The Company expects $127.5 million of the purchase price to be tax deductible over 15 years. The Company completed its final
assessment of the fair value of purchased receivables and acquired contracts as of June 30, 2019, with no incremental measurement period adjustments recorded.
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The following table summarizes the identified acquired assets, liabilities assumed and redeemable noncontrolling interests as of the acquisition date:

 July 1, 2018
 (in thousands)
Assets:  
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,505
Investments 262
Accounts receivable 6,649
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements 70
Intangible assets 62,000
Goodwill 120,213
Other assets 659
Total Assets 192,358
Liabilities  
Accrued compensation and benefits 824
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 6,534
Total liabilities 7,358
Redeemable noncontrolling interests 55,500

Total Net Assets Acquired $ 129,500

Identifiable Intangible Assets Acquired

In connection with the allocation of the purchase price, the Company identified the following intangible assets:

 July 1, 2018

 Approximate Fair Value  Weighted Average of Useful Life
 (in thousands)  (in years)
Definite-lived intangible assets:    
Institutional and retail separate account investment contracts $ 49,000  6
Trade name 7,000  10
Non-competition agreements 6,000  5

Total definite-lived intangible assets $ 62,000   

The following unaudited proforma condensed consolidated results of operations are provided for illustrative purposes only and assume that the Acquisition, including
adjustments for transaction and integration expenses, occurred on January 1, 2017. This unaudited information should not be relied upon as indicative of historical results that would
have been obtained if the Acquisition had occurred on that date, nor of the results that may be obtained in the future.

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2018  2017

Total Revenues $ 569,465  $ 454,156
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders $ 69,341  $ 26,175
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5. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Below is a summary of intangible assets, net: 

 December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018
Definite-lived intangible assets, net:    
Investment contracts and other $ 489,570  $ 487,747
Accumulated amortization (222,695)  (192,451)
Definite-lived intangible assets, net 266,875  295,296
Indefinite-lived intangible assets 43,516  43,516
Total intangible assets, net $ 310,391  $ 338,812

 
Activity in goodwill and intangible assets, net was as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Intangible assets, net      
Balance, beginning of period $ 338,812  $ 301,954  $ 38,427
Acquisitions 1,823  62,000  275,700
Amortization expense (30,244)  (25,142)  (12,173)
Balance, end of period $ 310,391  $ 338,812  $ 301,954
Goodwill      
Balance, beginning of period $ 290,366  $ 170,153  $ 6,788
Acquisitions —  120,213  163,365
Balance, end of period $ 290,366  $ 290,366  $ 170,153

Definite-lived intangible asset amortization for the next five years and thereafter is estimated as follows (in thousands):

Fiscal Year  Amount

2020  $ 30,127
2021  30,116
2022  29,992
2023  29,330
2024  23,689

2025 and Thereafter  123,621

  $ 266,875

At December 31, 2019, the weighted average estimated remaining amortization period for definite-lived intangible assets is 10.7 years.
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6. Investments

Investments consist primarily of investments in the Company's sponsored products. The Company’s investments, excluding the assets of CIP discussed in Note 20, at
December 31, 2019 and 2018 were as follows: 

 December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018
Investment securities - fair value $ 60,990  $ 59,271
Investment securities - available for sale —  2,023
Equity method investments 12,030  10,573
Nonqualified retirement plan assets 8,724  6,716
Other investments 1,462  975
Total investments $ 83,206  $ 79,558

 
Investment Securities - fair value

Investment securities - fair value consist of investments in the Company's sponsored funds, separately managed accounts and trading debt securities. The composition of the
Company’s investment securities - fair value were as follows: 

December 31, 2019    

(in thousands) Cost  
Fair

Value
Investment Securities - fair value:    

Sponsored funds $ 44,588  $ 47,654
Equity securities 11,250  13,320
Debt securities 44  16

Total investment securities - fair value $ 55,882  $ 60,990
 

December 31, 2018 

(in thousands) Cost  
Fair

Value
Investment Securities - fair value:    

Sponsored funds $ 43,507  $ 40,191
Equity securities 16,380  16,981
Debt securities 3,816  2,099

Total investment securities - fair value $ 63,703  $ 59,271

For the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the Company recognized a net realized gain of $0.8 million and $1.8 million, respectively, on the sale of its
investment securities - fair value. For the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recognized a net realized loss of $1.5 million on the sale of its investment securities - fair
value.

Investments Securities - available for sale

The investment securities - available for sale consists of investments in CLOs for which the Company provides investment management services and does not consolidate. The
Company had no investment securities - available for sale as of December 31, 2019. The composition of the Company’s investment securities - available for sale at December 31,
2018 were as follows:

December 31, 2018

(in thousands) Cost  
Unrealized

Loss  
Unrealized

Gain  
Fair

Value

Investments in CLOs $ 3,696  $ (1,673)  $ —  $ 2,023
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Equity Method Investments

The Company's equity method investments primarily consist of investments in limited partnerships. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, distributions from
equity method investments were $0.8 million, $4.2 million and $0.9 million, respectively. The remaining capital commitment for one of the Company's equity method investments at
December 31, 2019 is $0.5 million.

Nonqualified Retirement Plan Assets

The Company's Excess Incentive Plan allows certain employees to voluntarily defer compensation. The Company holds the Excess Incentive Plan assets in a rabbi trust, which
is subject to the claims of the Company’s creditors in the event of the Company’s bankruptcy or insolvency. Each participant is responsible for designating investment options for their
contributions, and the ultimate distribution paid to each participant reflects any gains or losses on the assets realized while in the trust. Assets held in trust are included in investments
and are carried at fair value utilizing Level 1 valuation techniques in accordance with ASC 320; the associated obligations to participants are included in other liabilities in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets.

Other Investments

Other investments represent interests in entities not accounted for under the equity method such as the cost method.

7. Fair Value Measurements

The Company’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis, excluding the assets and liabilities of CIP discussed in Note 20, as of December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, by fair value hierarchy level were as follows: 

December 31, 2019 
(in thousands) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Assets        
Cash equivalents $ 187,255  $ —  $ —  $ 187,255
Investment securities - fair value        

Sponsored funds 47,654  —  —  47,654
Equity securities 13,320  —  —  13,320
Debt securities —  16  —  16

Nonqualified retirement plan assets 8,724  —  —  8,724
Total assets measured at fair value $ 256,953  $ 16  $ —  $ 256,969

 

December 31, 2018 
(in thousands) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Assets        
Cash equivalents $ 158,596  $ —  $ —  $ 158,596
Investment securities - fair value        

Sponsored funds 40,191  —  —  40,191
Equity securities 16,981  —  —  16,981
Debt securities —  —  2,099  2,099

Investment securities - available for sale —  —  2,023  2,023
Nonqualified retirement plan assets 6,716  —  —  6,716

Total assets measured at fair value $ 222,484  $ —  $ 4,122  $ 226,606
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The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for the Company’s assets measured at fair value.
 

Cash equivalents represent investments in money market funds. Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are valued using published net asset values and are
categorized as Level 1.

Sponsored funds represent investments in open-end funds, closed-end funds and ETFs for which the Company acts as the investment manager. The fair value of open-end funds
is determined based on their published net asset values and are categorized as Level 1. The fair value of closed-end funds and ETFs is determined based on the official closing price on
the exchange on which they are traded on and are categorized as Level 1.

Equity securities represent securities traded on active markets and are valued at the official closing price (typically last sale or bid) on the exchange on which the securities are
primarily traded and are categorized as Level 1.

Debt securities and Investments - available for sale primarily represent investments in CLOs for which the Company provides investment management services. The
investments in CLOs are measured at fair value based on independent third- party valuations and are categorized as Level 2 and Level 3. The independent third-party valuations are
based on discounted cash flow models and comparable trade data.

Nonqualified retirement plan assets represent mutual funds within a nonqualified retirement plan whose fair value is determined based on their published net asset value and are
categorized as Level 1.

Cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities equal or approximate fair value based on the short-term nature of these instruments.

Transfers into and out of levels are reflected when significant inputs used for the fair value measurement, including market inputs or performance attributes, become observable
or unobservable or when the Company determines it has the ability, or no longer has the ability, to redeem, in the near term, certain investments that the Company values using a net
asset value, or if the book value no longer represents fair value.

The following table is a reconciliation of assets for Level 3 investments for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value:

 Twelve Months Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018
Level 3 Investments (1)    
Balance at beginning of period $ 4,122  $ 4,439
(Sales) purchases (4,185)  1,326
Change in unrealized gain (loss), net 63  (1,643)

Balance at end of period $ —  $ 4,122
(1) Investments that are categorized as Level 3 were valued utilizing third-party pricing information without adjustment.
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8. Furniture, Equipment and Leasehold Improvements, Net

Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net were as follows: 

 December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018
Leasehold improvements $ 19,871  $ 24,880
Furniture and office equipment 12,027  12,543
Computer equipment and software 5,434  6,811
 37,332  44,234
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (19,182)  (24,080)
Furniture, equipment and leasehold improvements, net $ 18,150  $ 20,154

9. Leases

All of the Company's leases qualify as operating leases and consist primarily of leases for office locations, which have remaining initial lease terms ranging from 1.3 to 10.3
years and a weighted average remaining lease term of 6.9 years. The Company has options to renew some of its leases for periods ranging from 3.0 to 15.0 years, depending on the
lease. None of the Company's renewal options were considered reasonably assured of being exercised and, therefore, were excluded from the initial lease term used to determine the
Company's ROU asset and lease liability. The Company's ROU asset, recorded in other assets, and lease liability, recorded in other liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, at
December 31, 2019 were $21.0 million and $29.4 million, respectively. The weighted average discount rate used to measure the Company's lease liability was 4.73% at December 31,
2019.

Lease expense totaled $5.1 million, $6.9 million and $6.1 million for fiscal years 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Cash payments relating to operating leases during 2019
were $5.0 million.

Lease liability maturities as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

  
Amount

(in thousands)

2020  $ 5,881
2021  5,774
2022  4,731
2023  4,406
2024  3,760
Thereafter  10,398
Total lease payments  34,950
Less: Imputed interest  5,548

Present value of lease liabilities  $ 29,402

Minimum aggregate rental payments required under operating leases that had initial or remaining non-cancellable lease terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2018
were as follows: $6.1 million in 2019; $6.5 million in 2020; $5.1 million in 2021; $3.9 million in 2022; $3.5 million in 2023; and $12.9 million thereafter.
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10. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes were as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Current      

Federal $ 23,066  $ 18,864  $ 15,670
State 6,129  3,668  1,985

Total current tax expense (benefit) 29,195  22,532  17,655
Deferred      

Federal 3,535  5,901  20,895
State 2,447  4,528  1,940

Total deferred tax expense (benefit) 5,982  10,429  22,835
Total expense (benefit) for income taxes $ 35,177  $ 32,961  $ 40,490

The following presents a reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes computed at the federal statutory rate to the provision (benefit) for income taxes recognized in
the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years indicated: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Tax at statutory rate $ 29,544  21 %  $ 22,899  21 %  $ 28,150  35 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit 6,859  5  6,450  6  3,548  4
Effect of U.S. tax reform (the Tax Act) —  —  —  —  13,074  16
Effect of net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling
interests (968)  (1)  (171)  —  (1,017)  (1)
Change in valuation allowance (1,330)  (1)  4,508  4  (2,613)  (3)
Other, net 1,072  1  (725)  (1)  (652)  (1)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 35,177  25 %  $ 32,961  30 %  $ 40,490  50 %

The provision for income taxes reflects U.S. federal, state and local taxes at an effective tax rate of 25%, 30% and 50% for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively. The Company's tax position for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was impacted by changes in the valuation allowance related to the unrealized and
realized gains and losses on the Company’s investments.
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Deferred taxes resulted from temporary differences between the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. The tax
effects of temporary differences were as follows: 

 December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018
Deferred tax assets:    
Intangible assets $ 5,279  $ 7,352
Net operating losses 13,704  14,750
Compensation accruals 12,789  11,728
Lease liability 6,897  —
Investments 5,561  7,557
Capital losses 773  512
Other 581  942
Gross deferred tax assets 45,584  42,841
Valuation allowance (6,844)  (8,439)
Gross deferred tax assets after valuation allowance 38,740  34,402
Deferred tax liabilities:    
Intangible assets (15,252)  (12,286)
Right of use asset (5,263)  —
Fixed assets (1,372)  —
Other investments (975)  —
Gross deferred tax liabilities (22,862)  (12,286)
Deferred tax assets, net $ 15,878  $ 22,116

At each reporting date, the Company evaluates the positive and negative evidence used to determine the likelihood of realization of its deferred tax assets. The Company
maintained a valuation allowance in the amount of $6.8 million and $8.4 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, relating to deferred tax assets on items of a capital
nature as well as certain state deferred tax assets.

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had net operating loss carry-forwards for federal income tax purposes represented by an $8.5 million deferred tax asset. The related
federal net operating loss carry-forwards are scheduled to begin to expire in the year 2031. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had state net operating loss carry-forwards,
varying by subsidiary and jurisdiction, represented by a $5.2 million deferred tax asset. The state net operating loss carry-forwards are scheduled to begin to expire in 2020.

Internal Revenue Code Section 382 ("Section 382") limits tax deductions for net operating losses, capital losses and net unrealized built-in losses after there is a substantial
change in ownership in a corporation’s stock involving a 50 percentage point increase in ownership by 5% or larger stockholders. At December 31, 2019, the Company had pre-
change losses represented by deferred tax assets totaling $10.6 million that are subject to Section 382 limits. The utilization of these assets is subject to an annual limitation of $1.1
million.

Activity in unrecognized tax benefits were as follows:

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017

Balance, beginning of year $ —  $ —  $ —
Decrease related to tax positions taken in prior years —  —  —
Increase related to positions taken in the current year 1,172  —  —

Balance, end of year $ 1,172  $ —  $ —
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 If recognized, $0.9 million of the $1.2 million gross unrecognized tax benefit balance would favorably impact the Company’s effective income tax rate. The Company does not
expect any significant changes to its liability for unrecognized tax benefits during the next 12 months.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income tax matters within income tax expense. The Company recorded no interest or penalties related to unrecognized
tax benefits at December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

The earliest federal tax year that remains open for examination is 2016. The earliest open years in the Company’s major state tax jurisdictions are 2010 for Connecticut and 2016
for all of the Company's remaining state tax jurisdictions.

11. Debt

Credit Agreement

The Company's credit agreement, as amended (the "Credit Agreement"), comprises (a) $365.0 million of seven-year term debt (the "Term Loan") expiring in June 2024, and (b)
a $100.0 million five-year revolving credit facility (the "Credit Facility") expiring in June 2022. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company made principal loan
payments of $54.9 million. At December 31, 2019, $285.7 million was outstanding under the Term Loan, and the Company had no borrowings under its Credit Facility. In accordance
with ASC 835, Interest, the amounts outstanding under the Company's Term Loan are presented in the Consolidated Balance Sheets net of related debt issuance costs that were $7.9
million as of December 31, 2019.

    
Amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement for the Term Loan and the Credit Facility bear interest at an annual rate equal to, at the option of the Company, either (a)

LIBOR (adjusted for reserves) for interest periods of one, two, three or six months (or, solely in the case of the Credit Facility, if agreed to by each relevant lender, twelve months or
periods less than one month), subject to a “floor” of 0% for the Credit Facility and 0.75% for the Term Loan, or (b) an alternate base rate, in either case plus an applicable margin. The
applicable margin on amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement is 2.50%, in the case of LIBOR-based loans, and 1.50% in the case of alternate base rate loans. In each case the
applicable margin is subject to a 25 basis point reduction if the Company's secured net leverage ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of the last day of the preceding fiscal
quarter is not greater than 1.00 to 1.00, as reflected in certain financial reports required under the Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement includes a financial maintenance covenant that the Company will not permit the Total Net Leverage Ratio to exceed 2.50:1.00 as of the last day of any
fiscal quarter, provided that this covenant will apply only if on such day the aggregate principal amount of outstanding revolving loans and letters of credit under the Credit Facility
exceeds 30% of the aggregate revolving commitments as of such day.    

The obligations of the Company under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain of its subsidiaries and secured by substantially all of the assets of the Company, subject to
customary exceptions. The Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants, including covenants that affect, among other things, the ability of the Company
and its subsidiaries to incur additional indebtedness, create liens, merge or dissolve, make investments, dispose of assets, engage in sale and leaseback transactions, purchase shares of
our common stock, make distributions and dividends and pre-payments of junior indebtedness, engage in transactions with affiliates, enter into restrictive agreements, amend
documentation governing junior indebtedness, modify its fiscal year, or modify its organizational documents, subject to customary exceptions, thresholds, qualifications and "baskets."

The Term Loan amortizes at the rate of 1.00% per annum payable in equal quarterly installments and is mandatorily repaid with: (a) 50% of the Company’s excess cash flow (as
defined in the Credit Agreement) on an annual basis, declining to 25% if the Company’s secured net leverage ratio declines below 1.0 and further declining to 0% if the Company’s
secured net leverage ratio declines below 0.5; (b) the net proceeds of certain asset sales, casualty or condemnation events, subject to customary reinvestment rights; and (c) the
proceeds of any indebtedness incurred other than indebtedness permitted to be incurred by the Credit Agreement.

At any time, upon timely notice, the Company may terminate the Credit Agreement in full, reduce the commitment under the Credit Facility in minimum specified increments or
prepay the Term Loan in whole or in part, subject to the payment of breakage fees with respect to LIBOR-based loans and, in the case of any Term Loans that are prepaid in
connection with a "repricing transaction" occurring within the six-month period following the closing date, a 1.00% premium.
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Future minimum Term Loan payments (exclusive of any mandatory excess cash flow repayments) as of December 31, 2019 were as follows:

Year  Amount

  (in thousands)
2020  $ 3,652
2021  3,651
2022  3,652
2023  3,651
2024  271,117

  $ 285,723

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Legal Matters

The Company is involved from time to time in litigation and arbitration, as well as examinations, inquiries and investigations by various regulatory bodies, including the SEC,
involving its compliance with, among other things, securities laws, client investment guidelines, laws governing the activities of broker-dealers and other laws and regulations
affecting its products and other activities. Legal and regulatory matters of this nature involve or may involve but are not limited to the Company’s activities as an employer, issuer of
securities, investor, investment adviser, broker-dealer or taxpayer. In addition, in the normal course of business, the Company discusses matters with its regulators raised during
regulatory examinations or is otherwise subject to their inquiry. These matters could result in censures, fines, penalties or other sanctions.

The Company accrues for a liability when it is both probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the liability can be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is
required in both the determination of probability and the determination as to whether a loss is reasonably estimable. In addition, in the event the Company determines that a loss is not
probable, but is reasonably possible, and it becomes possible to develop what the Company believes to be a reasonable range of possible loss, then the Company will include
disclosures related to such matter as appropriate and in compliance with ASC 450, Contingencies. The disclosures, accruals or estimates, if any, resulting from the foregoing analysis
are reviewed at least quarterly and adjusted to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel and other information and events pertaining to a particular
matter. Based on information currently available, available insurance coverage, indemnities and established reserves, the Company believes that the outcomes of its legal and
regulatory proceedings are not likely, either individually or in the aggregate, to have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations, cash flows or its consolidated
financial condition. However, in the event of unexpected subsequent developments and given the inherent unpredictability of these legal and regulatory matters, the Company can
provide no assurance that its assessment of any claim, dispute, regulatory examination or investigation or other legal matter will reflect the ultimate outcome, and an adverse outcome
in certain matters could, from time to time, have a material adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations or cash flows in particular quarterly or annual periods.

13. Equity

Common Stock Repurchases    

As of December 31, 2019, 4.2 million shares of the Company's common stock have been authorized to be repurchased under the Board of Directors approved share repurchase
program and 252,438 shares remain available for repurchase.  Under the terms of the program, the Company may repurchase shares of its common stock from time to time at its
discretion through open market repurchases, privately negotiated transactions and/or other mechanisms, depending on price and prevailing market and business conditions. The
program, which has no specified term, may be suspended or terminated at any time. 
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During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased a total of 372,365 common shares for approximately $40.0 million. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company had repurchased a total of 3,927,607 shares of common stock at a weighted average price of $106.72 per share plus transaction costs for a total cost of $419.2 million.

Dividends

During the first and second quarters of the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends on the Company's common stock of $0.55
each. During the third and fourth quarters of the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends on the Company's common stock of $0.67
each. Total dividends declared on the Company's common stock were $18.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

During each quarter of the year ended December 31, 2019, the Board of Directors declared quarterly cash dividends on the Company's preferred stock of $1.8125 each. Total
dividends declared on the Company's preferred stock were $8.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.

At December 31, 2019, $8.9 million was included as dividends payable in liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. This balance represents the fourth quarter dividends of
$2.1 million to be paid on February 15, 2020 for the Company's preferred stock shareholders of record as of January 31, 2020 and $6.8 million to be paid on February 15, 2020 for the
Company's common stock shareholders of record as of January 31, 2020.
 

14. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), by component, were as follows: 

(in thousands)

Unrealized Gains
(Losses) on 
Securities

Available-for-Sale  

Foreign
Currency

Translation
Adjustments

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (726)  $ (5)
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $(5) —  14
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of ($254) 726  —
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) 726  14
Balance at December 31, 2019 $ —  $ 9

(in thousands)

Unrealized Gains 
(Losses) on  
Securities 

Available-for-Sale  

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments

Balance at December 31, 2017 $ (612)  $ 12
Unrealized net gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax of $111 (292)  —
Foreign currency translation adjustments, net of tax of $6 —  (17)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax of ($61) (1) 178  —
Net current-period other comprehensive income (loss) (114)  (17)
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ (726)  $ (5)

 (1) On January 1, 2018, the Company adopted amendments to ASC 825 pursuant to ASU 2016-01. This standard requires all equity investments (other than those accounted for under the
equity method) to be measured at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized through net income.
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15. Retirement Savings Plan

The Company sponsors a defined contribution 401(k) retirement plan (the "401(k) Plan") covering all employees who meet certain age and service requirements. Employees
may contribute a percentage of their eligible compensation into the 401(k) Plan, subject to certain limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Code. Through December 31, 2019, the
Company matched employees’ contributions at a rate of 100% of employees’ contributions up to the first 5.0% of the employees’ compensation contributed to the 401(k) Plan. The
Company’s matching contributions were $5.1 million, $5.2 million and $2.8 million in 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

16. Stock-Based Compensation

Pursuant to the Company's Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan (the "Plan"), officers, employees and directors may be granted equity-based awards, including restricted stock
units ("RSUs"), performance stock units ("PSUs"), stock options and unrestricted shares of common stock. At December 31, 2019, 552,999 shares of common stock remain available
for issuance of the 2,820,000 shares that are authorized for issuance under the Plan.

Stock-based compensation expense is summarized as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017
Stock-based compensation expense $ 22,232  $ 23,116  $ 20,288

Restricted Stock Units

Each RSU entitles the holder to one share of common stock when the restriction expires. RSUs generally have a term of one to three years and may be time-vested or
performance-contingent (PSUs). Shares that are issued upon vesting are newly issued shares from the Plan and are not issued from treasury stock.

RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 is summarized as follows: 

 
Number
of shares  

Weighted Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 552,238  $ 111.49
Granted 181,367  $ 108.42
Forfeited (24,019)  $ 95.13
Settled (181,210)  $ 98.20
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 528,376  $ 115.74

The grant-date intrinsic value of RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $19.7 million.

 Years Ended December 31,

(in millions, except per share values) 2019  2018  2017

Weighted-average grant-date fair value per share $ 108.42  $ 131.16  $ 108.32
Fair value of RSUs vested $ 17.8  $ 12.5  $ 11.3

For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, a total of 66,441, 41,101 and 32,716 RSUs, respectively, were withheld through net share settlement by the Company to
settle minimum employee tax withholding obligations. The Company paid $6.9 million, $5.3 million and $3.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, in minimum employee tax withholding obligations related to RSUs withheld. These net share settlements had the effect of share repurchases by the Company as they
reduced the number of shares that would have been otherwise issued as a result of the vesting.

As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, unamortized stock-based compensation expense for outstanding RSUs was $27.8 million and $32.2 million, respectively, with a weighted
average remaining contractual life of 1.3 years and 1.5 years, respectively. The Company did not capitalize any stock-based compensation expenses during the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
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During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company granted 52,960 and 68,803 PSUs included in the table above that contain performance-based metrics in
addition to a service condition. Compensation expense for these PSUs is generally recognized over a three-year service period. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, total
stock-based compensation expense included $7.5 million and $8.2 million, respectively, for PSUs. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, unamortized stock-based compensation
expense related to PSUs was $10.7 million and $11.4 million, respectively.

Stock Options

Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2019 is summarized as follows: 

 
Number
of shares  

Weighted
Average

Exercise Price
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 76,751  $ 12.86
Exercised (70,097)  $ 10.35
Outstanding at December 31, 2019 6,654  $ 39.35
Vested and exercisable at December 31, 2019 6,654  $ 39.35

Stock options generally cliff vest after three years and have a contractual life of ten years. The weighted-average remaining contractual term for stock options outstanding at
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 was 0.8 and 0.5 years, respectively. The weighted-average remaining contractual term for stock options vested and exercisable at
December 31, 2019 was 0.8 years. At December 31, 2019, the aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding and vested and exercisable was $0.5 million. There were no
unvested stock options at December 31, 2019. The total intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 was $6.4 million, $3.0
million and $2.5 million, respectively. Cash received from stock option exercises was $0.7 million, $0.8 million and $0.1 million for 2019, 2018 and 2017, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company offers an employee stock purchase plan that allows employees to purchase shares of common stock on the open market at market price through after-tax payroll
deductions. The initial transaction fees are paid for by the Company and shares of common stock are purchased on a quarterly basis. The Company does not reserve shares for this plan
or discount the purchase price of the shares.

17. Earnings (Loss) Per Share

The computation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share was as follows: 

 Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 2019  2018  2017
Net Income (Loss) $ 105,508  $ 76,080  $ 39,939
Noncontrolling interests (9,859)  (551)  (2,927)
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Stockholders 95,649  75,529  37,012
Preferred stock dividends (8,337)  (8,337)  (8,336)
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders $ 87,312  $ 67,192  $ 28,676
Shares (in thousands):      
Basic: Weighted-average number of shares outstanding 6,963  7,174  7,013
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversion of dilutive instruments 1,186  1,353  234
Diluted: Weighted-average number of shares outstanding 8,149  8,527  7,247
Earnings (Loss) per Share—Basic $ 12.54  $ 9.37  $ 4.09
Earnings (Loss) per Share—Diluted $ 11.74  $ 8.86  $ 3.96

The following table details the securities that have been excluded from the above computation of weighted-average number of shares for diluted EPS, because the effect would
be anti-dilutive.
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 Years Ended Years Ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2019  2018  2017

Restricted stock units and stock options 22  12  —
Preferred stock —  —  897

Total anti-dilutive securities 22  12  897

18. Concentration of Credit Risk

The concentration of credit risk with respect to advisory fees receivable is generally limited due to the short payment terms extended to clients by the Company. No funds
provided 10 percent or more of the total revenues of the Company in the year ended December 31, 2019. The following funds provided 10 percent or more of the total revenues of the
Company in fiscal 2018 and 2017: 

   

(in thousands)  2018  2017
Virtus Newfleet Multi-Sector Short Term Bond Fund     

Investment management, administration and shareholder service fees  $ 54,257  $ 44,577
Percent of total revenues  10%  11%

Virtus Vontobel Emerging Markets Opportunities Fund     
Investment management, administration and shareholder service fees  $ 52,548  $ 48,826
Percent of total revenues  10%  12%

19. Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests

Redeemable noncontrolling interests for the year ended December 31, 2019 included the following amounts:

(in thousands) CIP  
Affiliate Noncontrolling

Interests  Total

Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 2,384  $ 55,097  $ 57,481
Net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,809  3,432  5,241
Changes in redemption value (1) —  5,645  5,645

Total net income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests 1,809  9,077  10,886
Net subscriptions (redemptions) and other 1,236  (5,758)  (4,522)

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 5,429  $ 58,416  $ 63,845

(1) Relates to noncontrolling interests redeemable at other than fair value.

20. Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its subsidiaries and investment products that are consolidated. VOEs are consolidated when the
Company is considered to have a controlling financial interest, which is typically present when the Company owns a majority of the voting interest in an entity or otherwise has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity.

The Company evaluates any VIEs in which the Company has a variable interest for consolidation. A VIE is an entity in which either (a) the equity investment at risk is not
sufficient to permit the entity to finance its own activities without additional financial support, or (b) where as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk do not possess (i)
the power through voting or similar rights to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entity’s economic performance; (ii) the obligation to absorb expected losses or the
right to receive expected residual returns of the entity; or (iii) proportionate voting and economic interests and where substantially all of the entity’s activities either involve or are
conducted on behalf of an
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investor with disproportionately fewer voting rights. If an entity has any of these characteristics, it is considered a VIE and is required to be consolidated by its primary beneficiary.
The primary beneficiary is the entity that has both the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and has the obligation to absorb
losses of, or the right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE.

In the normal course of its business, the Company sponsors various investment products, some of which are consolidated by the Company. CIP includes both VOEs, made up
primarily of open-end funds in which the Company holds a controlling financial interest, and VIEs, which primarily consist of CLOs of which the Company is considered the primary
beneficiary. The consolidation and deconsolidation of these investment products have no impact on net income (loss) attributable to stockholders. The Company’s risk with respect to
these investment products is limited to its beneficial interests in these products. The Company has no right to the benefits from, and does not bear the risks associated with, these
investment products beyond the Company’s investments in, and fees generated from, these products.

The following table presents the balances of CIP that, after intercompany eliminations, were reflected in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

 As of December 31,

 2019  2018

   VIEs    VIEs

(in thousands) VOEs  CLOs  Other  VOEs  CLOs  Other
Cash and cash equivalents $ 2,665  $ 97,130  $ 363  $ 1,029  $ 51,363  $ 559
Investments 22,223  1,976,148  31,739  12,923  1,709,266  27,379
Other assets 1,563  21,450  599  228  30,426  403
Notes payable —  (1,834,535)  —  —  (1,620,260)  —
Securities purchased payable and
other liabilities (2,964)  (164,887)  (200)  (823)  (69,737)  (146)
Noncontrolling interests (3,865)  (10,558)  (1,564)  (2,348)  (13,958)  $ (36)
Net interests in CIP $ 19,622  $ 84,748  $ 30,937  $ 11,009  $ 87,100  $ 28,159

Consolidated CLOs

The majority of the Company's CIP that are VIEs are CLOs. At December 31, 2019, the Company consolidated five CLOs and one CLO in the warehouse stage. The financial
information of certain CLOs is included in the Company's consolidated financial statements on a one-month lag based upon the availability of financial information. Majority-owned
consolidated private funds, whose primary purpose is to invest in CLOs for which the Company serves as the collateral manager, are also included.

Investments of CLOs

The CLOs' investments of $2.0 billion at December 31, 2019 represent bank loan investments, which comprise the majority of the CLOs' portfolio asset collateral and are senior
secured corporate loans across a variety of industries. These bank loan investments mature at various dates between 2020 and 2028 and pay interest at LIBOR plus a spread of up to
10.0%. The CLOs may elect to reinvest any prepayments received on bank loan investments between April 2020 and October 2021, depending on the CLO. Generally, subsequent
prepayments received after the reinvestment period must be used to pay down the note obligations. At December 31, 2019, the unpaid principal balance of the bank loan investments
exceeded the fair value by approximately $59.5 million. At December 31, 2019, there were no material collateral assets in default.

Notes Payable of CLOs

The CLOs hold notes payable with a total value, at par, of $2.0 billion, consisting of senior secured floating rate notes payable with a par value of $1.8 billion, warehouse facility
debt of $8.3 million and subordinated notes with a par value of $193.0 million. These note obligations bear interest at variable rates based on LIBOR plus a pre-defined spread ranging
from 0.8% to 8.7%. The principal amounts outstanding of the note obligations issued by the CLOs mature on dates ranging from October 2027 to April 2029.
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The Company’s beneficial interests and maximum exposure to loss related to these consolidated CLOs is limited to (a) ownership in the subordinated notes and (b) accrued
management fees. The secured notes of the consolidated CLOs have contractual recourse only to the related assets of the CLO and are classified as financial liabilities. Although these
beneficial interests are eliminated upon consolidation, the application of the measurement alternative prescribed by ASU 2014-13, results in the net assets of the consolidated CLOs
shown above to be equivalent to the beneficial interests retained by the Company at December 31, 2019, as shown in the table below:

 (in thousands)
Subordinated notes $ 83,383
Accrued investment management fees 1,365

Total Beneficial Interests $ 84,748

The following table represents income and expenses of the consolidated CLOs included in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for the period indicated:

 Year Ended
 December 31, 2019
 (in thousands)
Income:  
Realized and unrealized gain (loss), net $ (8,914)
Interest income 113,053

Total Income $ 104,139
  

Expenses:  
Other operating expenses $ 3,367
Interest expense 92,005

Total Expense 95,372
Noncontrolling interests 1,028

Net Income (loss) attributable to CIP $ 9,795

As summarized in the table below, the application of the measurement alternative as prescribed by ASU 2014-13 results in the consolidated net income summarized above to be
equivalent to the Company’s own economic interests in the consolidated CLOs, which are eliminated upon consolidation:

 Year Ended
 December 31, 2019
 (in thousands)
Distributions received and unrealized gains (losses) on the
subordinated notes held by the Company $ 1,541
Investment management fees 8,254

Total Economic Interests $ 9,795

 
Fair Value Measurements of CIP

The assets and liabilities of the CIP measured at fair value on a recurring basis by fair value hierarchy level were as follows:

F-35



Table of Contents
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements—(Continued)

As of December 31, 2019        

(in thousands) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Assets        

Cash equivalents $ 97,130  $ —  $ —  $ 97,130
Debt investments 218  1,973,427  39,389  2,013,034
Equity investments 15,872  171  1,033  17,076

Total assets measured at fair value $ 113,220  $ 1,973,598  $ 40,422  $ 2,127,240
Liabilities        

Notes payable $ —  $ 1,834,535  $ —  $ 1,834,535
Short sales 430  —  —  430

Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 430  $ 1,834,535  $ —  $ 1,834,965
 

As of December 31, 2018        

(in thousands) Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total
Assets        

Cash equivalents $ 51,363  $ —  $ —  $ 51,363
Debt investments 5,306  1,724,714  6,848  1,736,868
Equity investments 12,700  —  —  12,700

Total assets measured at fair value $ 69,369  $ 1,724,714  $ 6,848  $ 1,800,931
Liabilities        

Notes payable $ —  $ 1,620,260  $ —  $ 1,620,260
Short sales 707  —  —  707

Total liabilities measured at fair value $ 707  $ 1,620,260  $ —  $ 1,620,967

The following is a discussion of the valuation methodologies used for the assets and liabilities of the Company’s CIP measured at fair value.

Cash equivalents represent investments in money market funds. Cash investments in actively traded money market funds are valued using published net asset values and are
classified as Level 1.

Debt and equity investments represent the underlying debt, equity and other securities held in CIP. Equity investments are valued at the official closing price on the exchange on
which the securities are traded and are generally categorized within Level 1. Level 2 investments represent most debt securities, including bank loans and certain equity securities
(including non-U.S. securities), for which closing prices are not readily available or are deemed to not reflect readily available market prices, and are valued using an independent
pricing service. Debt investments are valued based on quotations received from independent pricing services or from dealers who make markets in such securities. Bank loan
investments, which are included as debt investments are generally priced at the average mid-point of bid and ask quotations obtained from a third-party pricing service. Fair value may
also be based upon valuations obtained from independent third-party brokers or dealers utilizing matrix pricing models that consider information regarding securities with similar
characteristics. In certain instances, fair value has been determined utilizing discounted cash flow analyses or single broker non-binding quotes. Depending on the nature of the inputs,
these assets are classified as Level 1, 2 or 3 within the fair value measurement hierarchy. Level 3 investments include debt and equity securities that are not widely traded, are illiquid,
or are priced by dealers based on pricing models used by market makers in the security.

Notes payable represent notes issued by CIP CLOs and are measured using the measurement alternative in ASU 2014-13. Accordingly, the fair value of CLO liabilities was
measured as the fair value of CLO assets less the sum of (a) the fair value of the beneficial interests held by the Company, and (b) the carrying value of any beneficial interests that
represent compensation for services. The fair value of the beneficial interests held by the Company is based on third-party pricing information without adjustment.
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Short sales are transactions in which a security is sold that is not owned or is owned but there is no intention to deliver, in anticipation that the price of the security will decline.
Short sales are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets within other liabilities of CIP and are classified as Level 1 based on the underlying equity security.

The securities purchase payable at December 31, 2019 and 2018 approximated fair value due to the short term nature of the instruments.

The following table is a reconciliation of assets and liabilities of CIP for Level 3 investments for which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value. 

 Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands) 2019  2018
Level 3 Investments of CIP (1)    
Balance at beginning of period $ 6,848  $ 34,781
Purchases 2,466  7,122
Sales (7,310)  (13,895)
Amortization (13)  19
Change in unrealized gains (losses), net 235  1,993
Realized gains (loss), net (94)  562
Transfers to Level 2 (52,875)  (33,873)
Transfers from Level 2 91,165  10,139
Balance at end of period $ 40,422  $ 6,848

 
(1) The investments that are categorized as Level 3 were valued utilizing third-party pricing information without adjustment. All transfers are deemed to occur at the end of period. Transfers

between Level 2 and Level 3 were due to a decrease in trading activities at period end.

Nonconsolidated VIEs

The Company serves as the collateral manager for other collateralized loan and collateralized bond obligations (collectively, "CDOs") that are not consolidated. The assets and
liabilities of these CDOs reside in bankruptcy remote, special purpose entities in which the Company has no ownership of, nor holds any notes issued by, the CDOs, and provides
neither recourse nor guarantees. The Company has determined that the investment management fees it receives for serving as collateral manager for these CDOs did not represent a
variable interest since (a) the fees the Company earns are compensation for services provided and are commensurate with the level of effort required to provide the investment
management services, (b) the Company does not hold other interests in the CDOs that individually, or in the aggregate, would absorb more than an insignificant amount of the CDOs'
expected losses or receive more than an insignificant amount of the CDOs' expected residual return, and (c) the investment management arrangement only includes terms, conditions
and amounts that are customarily present in arrangements for similar services negotiated at arm's length.

The Company has interests in certain other entities that are VIEs that the Company does not consolidate as it is not the primary beneficiary of those entities. The Company is not
the primary beneficiary as its interest in these entities does not provide the Company with the power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the entities' economic
performance. At December 31, 2019, the carrying value and maximum risk of loss related to the Company's interest in these VIEs was $14.4 million.

21. Subsequent Events

Preferred Stock Conversion

On February 3, 2020, 1,150,000 shares of mandatory convertible preferred stock ("MCPS") converted to 912,870 shares of the Company's common stock. Each share of MCPS
converted to 0.7938 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $125.97 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. The number of shares of common stock
issuable upon conversion was determined based on the volume-weighted average price per share of the Company's common stock over the 20 consecutive trading day period
beginning on, and including, the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the
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mandatory conversion date.

Dividends Declared

On February 26, 2020, the Company declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.67 per common share to be paid on May 15, 2020 to shareholders of record at the close of business
on April 30, 2020.

22. Selected Quarterly Data (Unaudited)
 

 2019

($ in thousands, except per share data)
Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter

Revenues $ 146,084  $ 145,955  $ 140,489  $ 130,718
Operating Income (Loss) 37,796  35,787  30,128  20,999
Net Income (Loss) 29,782  25,359  27,899  22,468
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders 20,808  22,000  24,842  19,662
Earnings (loss) per share—Basic $ 3.02  $ 3.17  $ 3.55  $ 2.80
Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted $ 2.83  $ 2.95  $ 3.26  $ 2.61

 

 2018

($ in thousands, except per share data)
Fourth
Quarter  

Third
Quarter  

Second
Quarter  

First
Quarter

Revenues $ 138,065  $ 152,210  $ 132,932  $ 129,028
Operating Income (Loss) 29,228  33,946  27,308  22,617
Net Income (Loss) 1,093  27,931  23,229  23,827
Net Income (Loss) Attributable to Common Stockholders 77  24,913  20,986  21,216
Earnings (loss) per share—Basic $ 0.01  $ 3.47  $ 2.91  $ 2.95
Earnings (loss) per share—Diluted $ 0.01  $ 3.19  $ 2.75  $ 2.77
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S 7.25% SERIES D
MANDATORY CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description of the terms of our previously outstanding 7.25% Series D Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (our “Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock”) is only a summary. This description is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the certificate of designations setting forth the terms of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, which we refer to as the “Certificate of Designations,” as well as our certificate of incorporation, which we refer to as our “Charter,” each of
which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit is a part. We encourage you to read the Certificate of Designations and the
Charter for additional information.

For the purposes of this description, references to:

• “Virtus,” the “Company,” “us,” “we” or “our” refer to Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. and not any of its subsidiaries;
• “Business Day” refers to any day other than a Saturday or Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law or

executive order to close; and
• “close of business” refers to 5:00 p.m., New York City time, and “open of business” refers to 9:00 a.m., New York City time.

As of December 31, 2019, 1,150,000 shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were outstanding. On February 3, 2020, all 1,150,000 shares of Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock converted (the “Conversion”) to 912,870 shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.01 per share (our “common stock”). Each share of
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock converted to 0.7938 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $125.97 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution adjustments. The
number of shares of common stock issued upon conversion was determined based on the volume-weighted average price per share of our common stock over the 20 consecutive
trading day period beginning on, and including, the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date. Consequently, as of the date of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, no shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were outstanding.

General

Under our Charter, our board of directors is authorized to provide, without further stockholder action, for the issuance of up to 250,000,000 shares of preferred stock, each
having a par value of $0.01 per share, in one or more series by filing a certificate of designations with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware. Such certificate of designations
may set forth the number of shares to be included in each such series, the designations, powers, preferences and rights of the shares of each such series of preferred stock and the
qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof, including the dividend rate, the redemption provisions, if any, the amount payable in the event of our voluntary or involuntary
liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, restrictions on the issuance of shares of the same series or of any other class or series, the terms and conditions, if any, of conversion and the
voting rights.

Prior to the Conversion, 1,150,000 shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were outstanding. The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock was fully paid and
nonassessable. The holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock had no preemptive or preferential rights to purchase or subscribe for any class of our stock, obligations,
warrants or other securities.

Ranking

Prior to the Conversion, the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, with respect to dividend rights and/or distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution,
as applicable, ranked:

• senior to (i) our common stock and (ii) each other class or series of our capital stock established after the first original issue date of shares of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock (which we refer to as the “Initial Issue Date”), the terms of which do not expressly provide that such class or series ranks either (x)
senior to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights or distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution or (y) on parity with
the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we refer to
collectively as “Junior Stock”);



• on parity with any class or series of our capital stock established after the Initial Issue Date the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series would rank
on parity with the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we
refer to collectively as “Parity Stock”);

• junior to each class or series of our capital stock established after the Initial Issue Date the terms of which expressly provide that such class or series would rank
senior to the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as to dividend rights or distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution (which we refer to
collectively as “Senior Stock”); and

• junior to our existing and future indebtedness.

In addition, with respect to dividend rights and distribution rights upon our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock was
structurally subordinated to existing and future indebtedness and other obligations of each of our subsidiaries.

Listing

The Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock was listed on the NASDAQ Global Market, or “NASDAQ”, under the symbol “VRTSP.”

Dividends

Prior to the Conversion and subject to the rights of holders of any class or series of any Senior Stock, holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were entitled to
receive, when, as and if declared by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, out of funds legally available for payment in the case of dividends paid in cash and
shares of common stock legally permitted to be issued in the case of dividends paid in shares of common stock, cumulative dividends at the rate per annum of 7.25% of the
Liquidation Preference (defined below) of $100.00 per share of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (equivalent to $7.25 per annum per share), payable in cash, by delivery of
shares of our common stock or through any combination of cash and shares of our common stock, as determined by us in our sole discretion (subject to the limitations described
below).

Dividends on the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were paid quarterly on February 1, May 1, August 1 and November 1 of each year to, and including, February 1,
2020, commencing on May 1, 2017 (each, a “Dividend Payment Date”).

Such dividends were payable on the relevant Dividend Payment Date to holders of record of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as they appeared on our stock
register at the close of business on the January 15, April 15, July 15 and October 15, as the case may be, immediately preceding the relevant Dividend Payment Date (each, a “Regular
Record Date”), whether or not such holders early converted their shares, or such shares were automatically converted, after a Regular Record Date and on or prior to the immediately
succeeding Dividend Payment Date. These Regular Record Dates applied regardless of whether a particular Regular Record Date was a Business Day. If a Dividend Payment Date
was not a Business Day, payment was made on the next succeeding Business Day, without any interest or other payment in lieu of interest accruing with respect to this delay.

A full dividend period was the period from, and including, a Dividend Payment Date to, but excluding, the next Dividend Payment Date, except that the initial dividend
period commenced on, and included, the Initial Issue Date of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and ended on, and excluded, the May 1, 2017 Dividend Payment Date. The
amount of dividends payable on each share of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock for each full dividend period (subsequent to the initial dividend period) was computed by
dividing the annual dividend rate by four. Dividends paid on the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock for the initial dividend period and any other partial dividend period were
computed based upon the actual number of days elapsed during the period over a 360-day year (consisting of twelve 30-day months). Accordingly, the dividend on the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock for the initial dividend period was $1.8125 per share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (based on the annual dividend rate of 7.25% and a
Liquidation Preference of $100.00 per share) and was paid on May 1, 2017 to the holders of record thereof on April 15, 2017. The dividend on the Mandatory Convertible Preferred
Stock for each subsequent full dividend period was $1.8125 per share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock (based on the annual dividend rate of 7.25% and a Liquidation
Preference of $100.00 per share).
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We made each payment of a declared dividend on the shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock in cash. All cash payments to which a holder of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock was entitled in connection with a declared dividend on the shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock were computed to the nearest cent.

Dividend Stopper

Prior to the Conversion, the terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that so long as any share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock remained
outstanding, no dividend or distribution shall be declared or paid on our common stock or any other class or series of Junior Stock, and no common stock or any other class or series of
Junior Stock or Parity Stock shall be, directly or indirectly, purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by us or any of our subsidiaries unless all accumulated and
unpaid dividends for all preceding dividend periods have been declared and paid in full in cash, shares of our common stock or a combination thereof upon, or a sufficient sum of cash
or number of shares of our common stock has been set apart for the payment of such dividends upon, all outstanding shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.

The foregoing limitation did not apply to:

• any dividend or distribution payable in shares of common stock or other Junior Stock;

• purchases, redemptions or other acquisitions of common stock, other Junior Stock or Parity Stock in connection with the administration of any benefit or other
incentive plan, including any employment contract, in the ordinary course of business (including purchases to offset the Share Dilution Amount (as defined below)
pursuant to a publicly announced repurchase plan, or acquisitions of shares of common stock surrendered, deemed surrendered or withheld in connection with the
exercise of stock options or the vesting of restricted stock or restricted stock units); provided that the number of shares purchased to offset the Share Dilution
Amount shall in no event exceed the Share Dilution Amount;

• any dividends or distributions of rights in connection with a stockholders’ rights plan or any redemption or repurchase of rights pursuant to any stockholders’ rights
plan; and

• the deemed purchase or acquisition of fractional interests in shares of our common stock, other Junior Stock or Parity Stock pursuant to the conversion or exchange
provisions of such shares or the security being converted or exchanged.

The phrase “Share Dilution Amount” means the increase in the number of diluted shares of our common stock outstanding (determined in accordance with U.S. GAAP, and
as measured from the Initial Issue Date) resulting from the grant, vesting or exercise of equity-based compensation to directors, employees and agents and equitably adjusted for any
stock split, stock dividend, reverse stock split, reclassification or similar transaction.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that when dividends on such shares (i) had not been paid in full on any Dividend Payment Date (or, in the
case of Parity Stock having dividend payment dates different from such Dividend Payment Dates, on a dividend payment date falling within a regular dividend period related to such
Dividend Payment Date), or (ii) had been declared but a sum of cash or number of shares of our common stock sufficient for payment thereof had not been set aside for the benefit of
the holders thereof on the applicable Regular Record Date, no dividends may be declared or paid on any shares of Parity Stock unless dividends were declared on the shares of
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock such that the respective amounts of such dividends declared on the shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and such shares of Parity
Stock were allocated pro rata among the holders of the shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and the holders of any shares of Parity Stock then outstanding. For purposes
of calculating the pro rata allocation of partial dividend payments, the Company was required to allocate those payments so that the respective amounts of those payments for the
declared dividend bear the same ratio to each other as all accumulated and unpaid dividends per share on the shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and such shares of
Parity Stock bear to each other (subject to their having been declared by our board of directors, or an authorized committee thereof, out of legally available funds); provided that any
unpaid dividends on the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock continued to accumulate. For purposes of this calculation, with respect to non-cumulative Parity Stock, we were
required to use the full amount of dividends that would be payable for the most recent dividend period if dividends were declared in full on such non-cumulative Parity Stock.

Redemption

Other than pursuant to the acquisition termination redemption (as described in the Certificate of Designations), the
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Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock was not redeemable. However, at our option, we were entitled to purchase or exchange the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock from time
to time in the open market, by tender or exchange offer or otherwise. The acquisition termination redemption noted above did not occur.

Liquidation Preference

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that, in the event of our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution, each holder of the
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock was entitled to receive a Liquidation Preference in the amount of $100.00 per share of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, or the
“Liquidation Preference”, plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends on the shares, whether or not declared, to, but excluding, the date fixed for liquidation, winding-
up or dissolution to be paid out of our assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders, after satisfaction of liabilities to our creditors and holders of shares of any Senior
Stock and before any payment or distribution is made to holders of Junior Stock (including our common stock). If, upon our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or
dissolution, the amounts payable with respect to the Liquidation Preference, plus an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends, whether or not declared, on the shares of
Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and all Parity Stock were not paid in full, the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and any other such Parity Stock were
entitled to share equally and ratably in any distribution of our assets in proportion to their respective liquidation preferences and amounts equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends to
which they are entitled. After payment of the full amount of the Liquidation Preference and an amount equal to accumulated and unpaid dividends to which they are entitled, the
holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock would have no right or claim to any of our remaining assets.

Neither the sale of all or substantially all of our assets or business (other than in connection with our liquidation, winding-up or dissolution), nor our merger or consolidation
into or with any other person, would be deemed to be our voluntary or involuntary liquidation, winding-up or dissolution.

The Certificate of Designations did not contain any provision requiring funds to be set aside to protect the Liquidation Preference of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred
Stock even though it was substantially in excess of the par value thereof.

Voting Rights

The holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock did not have voting rights other than those described below, except as specifically required by Delaware corporate
law or by our Charter from time to time.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that, whenever dividends on any shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock had not been
declared and paid for the equivalent of six or more dividend periods (including, for the avoidance of doubt, the dividend period beginning on, and including, the Initial Issue Date and
ending on, but excluding, May 1, 2017), whether or not for consecutive dividend periods (a “Nonpayment”), the authorized number of directors on our board of directors would, at the
next annual meeting of stockholders or at a special meeting of stockholders as provided below, automatically be increased by two and the holders of such shares of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock, voting together as a single class with holders of any and all other series of Voting Preferred Stock (as defined below) then outstanding, would be entitled,
at our next annual meeting of stockholders or at a special meeting of stockholders as provided below, to vote for the election of a total of two additional members of our board of
directors, or the “Preferred Stock Directors”; provided that the election of any such Preferred Stock Directors would not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of
NASDAQ (or any other exchange or automated quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires listed or quoted companies to have a majority of
independent directors; and provided further that our board of directors would, at no time, include more than two Preferred Stock Directors.

In the event of a Nonpayment, the holders of at least 25% of the shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of Voting Preferred Stock were
entitled to request that a special meeting of stockholders be called to elect such Preferred Stock Directors (provided, however, that if our next annual or a special meeting of
stockholders was scheduled to be held within 90 days of the receipt of such request, the election of such Preferred Stock Directors would be included in the agenda for, and would be
held at, such scheduled annual or special meeting of stockholders). The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that the Preferred Stock Directors would stand
for reelection annually, at each subsequent annual meeting of the stockholders, so long as the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock continued to have such voting
rights.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that, at any meeting at which the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock are entitled to elect
Preferred Stock Directors, the holders of a majority of the then outstanding shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and all other series of Voting Preferred Stock, present
in
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person or represented by proxy, would constitute a quorum and the vote of the holders of a majority of such shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and other Voting
Preferred Stock so present or represented by proxy at any such meeting at which there was a quorum would be sufficient to elect the Preferred Stock Directors.

As used in this exhibit, “Voting Preferred Stock” means any other class or series of our preferred stock, ranking equally with the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock as to
dividends and to the distribution of assets upon liquidation, dissolution or winding up and upon which like voting rights for the election of directors have been conferred and are
exercisable. Whether a plurality, majority or other portion in voting power of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and any other Voting Preferred Stock had been voted in favor
of any matter shall be determined by reference to the respective liquidation preference amounts of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and such other Voting Preferred Stock
voted.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that, if and when all accumulated and unpaid dividends were paid in full, or declared and a sum or number
of shares of our common stock sufficient for such payment shall had been set aside (a “Nonpayment Remedy”), the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock would
immediately and, without any further action by us, be divested of the foregoing voting rights, subject to the revesting of such rights in the event of each subsequent Nonpayment. If
such voting rights for the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and all other holders of Voting Preferred Stock terminated, the term of office of each Preferred Stock
Director so elected would terminate at such time and the authorized number of directors on our board of directors would automatically decrease by two.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided any Preferred Stock Director may be removed at any time, with or without cause, by the holders of record
of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of Voting Preferred Stock then outstanding (voting together
as a single class) when they have the voting rights described above. In the event that a Nonpayment occurred and there was not a Nonpayment Remedy, the terms of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock provided that any vacancy in the office of a Preferred Stock Director (other than prior to the initial election after a Nonpayment) may be filled by the
written consent of the Preferred Stock Director remaining in office, except in the event that such vacancy is created as a result of such Preferred Stock Director being removed or if no
Preferred Stock Director remained in office, such vacancy may be filled by a vote of the holders of record of a majority in voting power of the outstanding shares of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock and any other series of Voting Preferred Stock then outstanding (voting together as a single class) when they have the voting rights described above;
provided that the election of any such Preferred Stock Directors did not cause us to violate the corporate governance requirements of NASDAQ (or any other exchange or automated
quotation system on which our securities may be listed or quoted) that requires listed or quoted companies to have a majority of independent directors. The Preferred Stock Directors
would each be entitled to one vote per director on any matter.

The terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock provided that, so long as any shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock remained outstanding, we would not,
without the affirmative vote or consent of the holders of at least two-thirds in voting power of the outstanding shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and all other series of
Voting Preferred Stock entitled to vote thereon, voting together as a single class, given in person or by proxy, either in writing or at an annual or special meeting of such stockholders:

• amend or alter the provisions of our Charter so as to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any Senior Stock;

• amend, alter or repeal the provisions of our Charter or the Certificate of Designations so as to adversely affect the special rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers of
the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock; or

• consummate a binding share exchange or reclassification involving the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock or a merger or consolidation of us with another entity, unless
in each case: (i) the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock remained outstanding and not amended in any respect or, in the case of any such merger or consolidation with
respect to which we are not the surviving or resulting entity, are converted into or exchanged for preference securities of the surviving or resulting entity or its ultimate
parent; and (ii) such Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock remained outstanding or such preference securities, as the case may be, had such rights, preferences, privileges
and voting powers, taken as a whole, as were not materially less favorable to the holders thereof than the rights, preferences, privileges and voting powers of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock immediately prior to such consummation, taken as a whole;

provided, however, that in the event that a transaction would trigger voting rights under both the second and third bullet point above, the third bullet point would govern;
provided, further, however, that:
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• any increase in the amount of our authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock;

• any increase in the authorized or issued shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock; and

• the creation and issuance, or an increase in the authorized or issued amount, of any other series of Parity Stock or Junior Stock,

would be deemed not to adversely affect the special rights, preferences, privileges or voting powers of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock and would not require the
affirmative vote or consent of holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.

If any amendment, alteration, repeal, share exchange, reclassification, merger or consolidation described above would affect one or more but not all series of Voting Preferred
Stock (including the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock for this purpose), then only the series of Voting Preferred Stock adversely affected and entitled to vote would vote as a
class in lieu of all other series of Voting Preferred Stock.

Without the consent of the holders of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock, we were entitled to amend, alter, supplement or repeal any terms of the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock to (i) conform the terms of the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock to the description thereof in the prospectus accompanying the Mandatory
Convertible Preferred Stock or (ii) file a certificate of correction with respect to the Certificate of Designations to the extent permitted by Section 103(f) of the Delaware General
Corporation Law.

Mandatory Conversion

As described above, on February 3, 2020, all 1,150,000 outstanding shares of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock converted to 912,870 shares of common stock. Each
share of Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock converted to 0.7938 shares of common stock at a conversion price of $125.97 per share, subject to customary anti-dilution
adjustments. The number of shares of common stock issued upon conversion was determined based on the volume-weighted average price per share of our common stock over the 20
consecutive trading day period beginning on, and including, the 22nd scheduled trading day immediately preceding the mandatory conversion date.

Transfer Agent, Registrar and Conversion and Dividend Disbursing Agent

Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc. was the transfer agent, registrar, conversion and dividend disbursing agent for the Mandatory Convertible Preferred Stock.
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DESCRIPTION OF THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON STOCK
REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description of the terms of our common stock, par value $0.01 per share (our “common stock”) is only a summary. This description is subject to, and qualified
in its entirety by reference to, our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (our “Certificate of Incorporation” and Amended and Restated Bylaws (our “Bylaws”), each of
which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which this Exhibit is a part. We encourage you to read our Certificate of Incorporation, Bylaws
and the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (the “DGCL”) for additional information. References herein to “we,” “us,” “our” and the “Company” refer to
Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. and not to any of its subsidiaries.

Authorized Shares

We are authorized to issue up to 1,000,000,000 shares of common stock.

Dividends

Subject to the conditions discussed below, the owners of our common stock may receive dividends when declared by our board of directors (the “Board”), from funds legally
available for the payment of dividends. All decisions regarding the declaration and payment of dividends will be evaluated from time to time in light of our financial condition,
earnings, growth prospects, other uses of cash, funding requirements, applicable law and other factors our Board deems relevant.

Voting Rights

Each share of common stock is entitled to one vote in the election of directors and all other matters submitted to a stockholder vote. In general, all matters submitted to a
meeting of stockholders, other than as otherwise required by law, our Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws or the rules or regulations of any stock exchange on which our stock is
traded, shall be decided by vote of a majority of the shares of the common stock represented in person or by proxy at any meeting at which a quorum is present and entitled to vote on
the matter. Directors subject to election by holders of our common stock are elected by a plurality of the shares of our common stock represented in person or by proxy at any meeting
at which a quorum is present and entitled to vote on the election of directors. There are no cumulative voting rights.

The affirmative vote of the holders of 75% or more of the combined voting power of the outstanding shares entitled to vote will be necessary to approve any amendment to
our Bylaws. The affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2/3% of the total voting power of the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote, voting together as a single class, will be
necessary to approve any amendment to our Certificate of Incorporation relating to the number of and removal of directors, the classified nature of our Board, the manner of filling
vacancies thereon, or the location of advance notice provisions relating to the election of directors in our Bylaws. Other amendments to our Bylaws and Certificate of Incorporation,
and certain extraordinary transactions (such as a merger or consolidation involving us or a sale of all or substantially all of our assets), must be approved by a majority of our
outstanding common stock entitled to vote, provided that, except as otherwise required by law, our common stock is not entitled to vote on any amendment of our Certificate of
Incorporation or to a preferred stock certificate of designation that relates solely to one or more outstanding series of preferred stock if the holders of such series are entitled, either
separately or together with the holders of one or more other series of preferred stock, to vote on that matter as a separate class pursuant to our Certificate of Incorporation, a preferred
stock certificate of designation, or the DGCL as currently in effect or as the same may be amended.

Liquidation Rights

If we liquidate, dissolve or wind-up our business, whether voluntarily or not, our common stockholders would share equally in the distribution of all assets remaining after
payment to creditors and any liquidation preference owed to any then-outstanding preferred stockholders.

Preemptive Rights

Our common stock has no preemptive or similar rights.



Listing

The shares of our common stock are listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “VRTS.”

Stockholder Liability

Delaware law provides that no stockholder, including holders of preferred stock, shall be personally liable for our acts and obligations and that our funds and property shall
be the only recourse for these acts or obligations.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

The transfer agent and registrar for our common stock is Broadridge Corporate Issuer Solutions, Inc.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

Certificate of Incorporation; Bylaws

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could make more difficult the acquisition of us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise.
These provisions are summarized below.

Classes of Preferred Stock. Under our Certificate of Incorporation, our Board has the full authority permitted by Delaware law to determine the voting rights, if any, and
designations, preferences and rights of shares of each series and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions, which may be greater than those of our common stock. The effects of
the issuance of a new series or class of preferred stock might include, among other things, restricting dividends on our common stock, diluting the voting power of our common stock,
impairing the liquidation rights of our common stock, or delaying or preventing a change in control of the Company.

Removal of Directors; Filling Vacancies. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that directors may be removed only for cause and only upon the affirmative
vote of holders of at least a majority of the combined voting power of all the outstanding capital stock entitled to vote generally in the election of directors. Additionally, subject to the
rights of the holders of any class or series of preferred stock, if any, to elect additional directors under specified circumstances, only our Board will be authorized to fix the number of
directors and to fill any vacancies on our Board. These provisions could make it more difficult for a potential acquirer to gain control of our Board.

Stockholder Action. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that stockholder action can be taken only at an annual or special meeting of stockholders and may
not be taken by written consent in lieu of a meeting. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that special meetings of stockholders can be called only by our Chairperson
of the Board or pursuant to a resolution adopted by our Board. Stockholders are not permitted to call a special meeting or to require that the Board call a special meeting of
stockholders.

Advance Notice Procedures. Our Bylaws establish an advance notice procedure for stockholders to make nominations of candidates for election as directors or to bring other
business before an annual or special meeting of stockholders. This notice procedure provides that only persons who are nominated by, or at the direction of our Board, the Chairperson
of the Board, or by a stockholder who has given timely written notice to our Secretary prior to the meeting at which directors are to be elected, will be eligible for election as directors.
This procedure also requires that, in order to raise matters at an annual or special meeting, those matters be raised before the meeting pursuant to the notice of meeting we deliver or
by, or at the direction of, our Chairperson or by a stockholder who is entitled to vote at the meeting and who has given timely written notice to our Secretary of his or her intention to
raise those matters at the annual meeting. If our Chairperson determines that a person was not nominated, or other business was not proposed to be brought before the meeting, in
accordance with the notice procedure, that person will not be eligible for election as a director, or that business will not be conducted at the meeting.

Classified Board of Directors. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides for our Board to be divided into three classes of directors, as nearly equal in number as possible,
serving staggered terms. Approximately one-third of our Board will be elected each year. Under Section 141 of the DGCL, directors serving on a classified Board can only be removed
for cause. Our Board consists of ten directors. The three Class I directors have a term expiring in 2021, the three Class II directors have a term expiring in 2022 and the four Class III
directors have a term expiring in 2020. At each annual meeting of stockholders, a class of directors will be elected for a three-year term to succeed the directors of the same class
whose terms are then expiring.
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The provision for a classified Board could prevent a party that acquires control of a majority of the outstanding voting stock from obtaining control of our Board until the
second annual stockholders meeting following the date the acquiror obtains the controlling stock interest. The classified Board provision could have the effect of discouraging a
potential acquiror from making a tender offer for our shares or otherwise attempting to obtain control of us and could increase the likelihood that our incumbent directors will retain
their positions. We believe that a classified Board will help to assure the continuity and stability of our Board and our business strategies and policies as determined by our Board,
because a majority of the directors at any given time will have prior experience on our Board. The classified Board provision should also help to ensure that our Board, if confronted
with an unsolicited proposal from a third party that has acquired a block of our voting stock, will have sufficient time to review the proposal and appropriate alternatives and to seek
the best available result for all stockholders.

Amendments. Our Certificate of Incorporation provides that the affirmative vote of the holders of at least 66 2⁄3% of the total voting power of the outstanding capital stock
entitled to vote, voting together as a single class, is required to amend the provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation relating to the number and removal of our directors, the
classified nature of our Board and the manner of filling vacancies thereon, or the location of advance notice provisions relating to the election of directors in our Bylaws. Our Bylaws
further provide that our Bylaws may be amended by our Board or by the affirmative vote of the holders of 75% or more of the combined voting power of the outstanding shares
entitled to vote.

Delaware Law

We are also subject to the provisions of Delaware law described below regarding business combinations with interested stockholders.

Section 203 of the DGCL applies to a broad range of business combinations between a Delaware corporation and an interested stockholder. The Delaware law definition of
“business combination” includes mergers, sales of assets, issuances of voting stock and certain other transactions. An “interested stockholder” is defined as any person who owns,
directly or indirectly, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of a corporation, or within the last three years owned 15% or more of a corporation’s stock and is presently an
affiliate or associate of that corporation.

Section 203 of the DGCL prohibits a corporation from engaging in a business combination with an interested stockholder for a period of three years following the date on
which the stockholder became an interested stockholder, unless:

• the board of directors approved the business combination before the stockholder became an interested stockholder, or the board of directors approved the transaction
that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;

• upon completion of the transaction which resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, such stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock
outstanding when the transaction began other than shares owned by (i) directors who are also officers and (ii) certain employee stock plans; or

• the board of directors approved the business combination after the stockholder became an interested stockholder and the business combination was approved at an
annual or special meeting of stockholders by at least 66 2⁄3% of the outstanding voting stock not owned by such stockholder.

These limitations on business combinations with interested stockholders do not apply to a corporation that does not have a class of stock listed on a national securities
exchange, authorized for quotation on an interdealer quotation system of a registered national securities association or held of record by more than 2,000 stockholders.
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Exhibit 10.15

CONFIDENTIAL EXECUTIVE SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

This  Confidential  Executive  Separation  Agreement  and  General  Release  of  All  Claims  ("Agreement")  is  made  and  entered  into  by  and
between Mark S. Flynn (hereinafter referred to as "Mr. Flynn") and Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. ("Virtus") (collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, Mr. Flynn's role as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary will end effective on the earlier of May
13, 2019 or the date on which either a replacement for Mr. Flynn is named, or Virtus in its sole discretion modifies the role, in which case Mr. Flynn
will continue in a transitional capacity as outlined herein for any period of time remaining through and until May 13, 2019;

WHEREAS, Mr. Flynn and Virtus wish to resolve fully and finally all matters pertaining to their employment relationship, and neither Party
admits wrongdoing;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises herein contained and other good and valuable consideration;

IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the Parties as follows:

1. Definitions:

a. "Released Parties"  shall  mean Virtus  and any and all  associated and member  firms,  all  their  respective  past,  present  and future
parent  companies,  subsidiaries,  affiliates,  divisions,  related  entities,  joint  venturers,  subcontractors,  agents,  attorneys,  insurers,
subrogees, co- insurers and reinsurers,  and all their respective, past,  present and future officers,  directors,  employees, members,
partners,  principals,  shareholders  and  owners,  and  all  their  respective  heirs,  executors,  administrators,  personal  representatives,
predecessors, successors, transferees and assigns.

b. "Separation Date" shall be May 13, 2019.

c. "Transition Period" shall be the period, if any, between the date on which either a replacement for Mr. Flynn is named or Virtus in
its  sole discretion modifies  the role,  and the separation date of  May 13,  2019;  if  there is  such a Transition Period,  it  shall  be a
period  during  which  Mr.  Flynn  will  work,  as  directed  by  Virtus  in  its  sole  discretion,  to  satisfactorily  transition  his  work  and
responsibilities and cooperatively close out any open projects or matters. Virtus requires Mr. Flynn, during the Transition Period,
to be available to Virtus as needed, as Virtus in its sole discretion, upon reasonable notice, shall determine. If, during the transition
period, Mr. Flynn does not satisfactorily assist in the transition and/or make himself available to Virtus, Virtus reserves the right
to terminate Mr. Flynn's employment immediately.

2. Payments and Benefits. Virtus agrees to provide the following payments and benefits to Mr. Flynn in exchange for his promises
and his fulfillment of his agreements and commitments stated herein:

a. Mr.  Flynn  will  continue  on  the  Virtus  payroll  at  his  current  rate  of  pay,  with  benefits  at  his  current  level  of  participation  and
subject to any changes in cost or coverage that are applicable to other plan participants, through the Separation Date. Mr. Flynn
will also



be eligible, per the terms of the annual incentive program, to receive a 2018 annual incentive, due and payable on or about March
15, 2019; and

b. Virtus  shall  offer  Mr.  Flynn a  Supplemental  Confidential  Executive  Separation  Agreement  and  General  Release  of  All  Claims
("Supplemental  Agreement"),  in  substantially  the  form  attached  hereto  as  Exhibit  A,  which  shall  offer  Mr.  Flynn  benefits  in
accordance with Article 3 of the Executive Severance Allowance Plan in exchange for certain promises and consideration. The
Supplemental Agreement shall not be signed prior to close of business on May 13, 2019.

All payments and benefits shall be treated by Virtus in accordance with applicable tax laws.

3. No Other Agreements or Amounts Owed.

a. Mr.  Flynn  agrees  that  the  payments  and  benefits  referenced  in  the  Paragraph  2  above  shall  constitute  all  of  the  consideration
provided  to  him  under  this  Agreement.  No  other  claimed  payments,  damages,  costs,  or  attorneys'  fees  in  connection  with  the
matters encompassed by this Agreement are due or will be sought by him. He expressly agrees that he shall not be eligible for and
shall not receive any other bonus or equity award of any kind except as expressly set forth herein. This non-eligibility includes,
but is not limited to, any award under the 2019 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

b. Mr. Flynn agrees that he would not receive the consideration that is specified in Paragraph 2 above but for his execution of this
Agreement and the fulfillment of the promises contained herein.

c. Mr. Flynn agrees that, other than that which shall be paid and/or offered pursuant to the express terms of this Agreement, he has
received all other wages, overtime, bonuses, severance, vacation pay, commissions, benefits, or any other form of compensation,
payments, and/or other amounts due to him as an employee of Virtus.

d. Mr.  Flynn  further  agrees  that  the  terms  of  the  applicable  equity  plan  shall  control  the  disposition  of  any  equity  award  he  has
received.

4. Tax Consequences. Mr. Flynn acknowledges and agrees that the Released Parties have not made any representations regarding the
tax consequences of any monies received pursuant to this Agreement. Mr. Flynn understands and expressly agrees he is solely responsible for any
and all tax payments other than taxes withheld from amounts paid pursuant to Paragraph 2 above as reflected in applicable tax forms.

5. No Pending  Actions. Mr.  Flynn  affirms  that  neither  he  nor  anyone  on  his  behalf  has  filed  any  complaints,  charges,  claims,  or
actions in any state, federal or local agency or court against any Released Party. Mr. Flynn further agrees that he will not file any claims against any
Released Party in any judicial or arbitral forum. This Agreement does not prevent Mr. Flynn from filing a charge with, or participating in a claim
prosecuted by, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, or any other administrative agency charged with investigating and/or prosecuting
complaints  under  any  applicable  federal,  state  or  municipal  law or  regulation.  However,  this  Agreement  does  waive  Mr.  Flynn's  right  to  recover
damages under those laws or regulations, except as required by law. Mr. Flynn further agrees that if any court were to assume jurisdiction of any
complaint,  charge,  claim  or  action  against  any  of  the  Released  Parties  on  his  behalf  (other  than  an  action  in  which  he  is  an  unnamed  class
representative), he will request that court to



withdraw from or dismiss with prejudice the matter as it relates to him.

Nothing in  this  Agreement,  including but  not  limited  to  the  release  of  claims nor  the  confidentiality  clause  prohibits  Mr.  Flynn from:  (1)
reporting possible violations of federal law or regulations, including any possible securities laws violations, to any governmental agency or entity,
including  but  not  limited  to  the  U.S.  Department  of  Justice,  the  U.S.  Securities  and  Exchange  Commission,  the  U.S.  Congress,  or  any  agency
Inspector  General;  (2)  making  any  other  disclosures  that  are  protected  under  the  whistleblower  provisions  of  federal  law  or  regulations;  or  (3)
otherwise fully participating in any federal whistleblower programs, including but not limited to any such programs managed by the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission and/or the Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Moreover, nothing in this Agreement prohibits or prevents
Mr. Flynn from receiving individual monetary awards or other individual relief by virtue of participating in such federal whistleblower programs.

6. Non-Cooperation. To  the  fullest  extent  permitted  by  law  and  except  as  otherwise  set  forth  herein,  Mr.  Flynn  agrees  not  to
cooperate voluntarily with, aid or assist in any way, any other potential or actual plaintiffs that have, or may have in the future, any lawsuits against
any of the Released Parties. Mr. Flynn may cooperate only if compelled to testify under oath pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena or other similar
legal process, notice of which Mr. Flynn shall give within ten (I 0) days of its receipt to Virtus. Mr. Flynn agrees that such cooperation will be in a
form no more extensive than required by law.

7. Non-Disparagement. Mr. Flynn agrees that he will not in any way maliciously disparage or defame the good name or business
reputation of Virtus, or any of the Releasees, including, but not limited to, their officers, directors and employees, in any forum including to the
media.

8. Confidentiality.

a. The Parties understand and agree that this Agreement is strictly confidential. Except as specified in this Paragraph 8, the Parties
agree not to disclose: i) the existence of this Agreement and any facts concerning its negotiation, execution or implementation, ii)
the terms of this Agreement, and iii) the fact that Mr. Flynn received, and will receive, payment from Virtus, including the amount
of any payment.

b. Mr.  Flynn  is  permitted  to  make  such  disclosures  or  show a  copy  of  the  Agreement:  i)  as  required  by  law;  ii)  in  response  to  a
governmental or regulatory inquiry; iii) to an attorney or accountant for purposes of obtaining legal or tax advice; iv) to a financial
advisor for the purpose of obtaining financial advice; or v) to his spouse. To the extent Mr. Flynn makes any disclosures permitted
pursuant to items i) or ii) of this Paragraph 8(b), such disclosures shall be made only after giving written notice to Virtus sufficient
for Released Parties to have reasonable opportunity to oppose such disclosure. If Mr. Flynn has any question as to whether any
disclosure might breach this Paragraph 8, he must obtain written permission before making any such disclosure.

c. Virtus  and  its  affiliates  may  make  disclosures  as  required  by  law.  Virtus  and  its  affiliates  also  may  make  disclosures  to  their
respective  officers,  attorneys,  auditors,  financial  advisors,  and  employees  who,  as  reasonably  determined  by  Virtus  and  its
affiliates, as applicable, need to know such information, provided that any such disclosure shall be accompanied by an instruction
to the person receiving such information to keep the information confidential.



d. It  shall  not  be  considered  a  violation  of  this  Agreement  for  Mr.  Flynn  to  respond  to  any  inquiries  by  stating  he  and  Virtus
mutually agreed that he would transition out of his position.

e. Mr. Flynn affirms that he has not divulged any proprietary or confidential information of the Released Parties and will continue to
maintain  the  confidentiality  of  such  information  consistent  with  policies,  his  agreement(s)  with  the  Released  Parties  and/or
common law.

f. The parties understand and agree that because this Paragraph 8 is such a material consideration in the Released Parties' agreement
to enter into this Agreement, any violation of any part of this provision shall constitute a material breach of this Agreement.

9. Release of Claims. Mr. Flynn hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives and forever discharges the Released Parties
from any and all claims, demands or causes of action of every nature or description, based upon or relating to actions, omissions or events occurring
before  or  on  the  date  Mr.  Flynn  executes  this  Agreement,  whether  known  or  unknown,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  any  claims  relating  to  Mr.
Flynn's employment. This Release of Claims shall include, but is not limited to, (i) any claims arising under the United States Constitution or any
state Constitution; (ii) any claims for wages, compensation or benefits of any kind or nature; (iii) any claims of employment discrimination or related
claims, including but not limited to claims brought under: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.), as amended; The
Civil  Rights  Act  of  1991,  42 U.S.C.  § 1981;  The Age Discrimination in Employment  Act  of  1967 (29 U.S.C § 621 et  seq.);  The Older  Workers
Benefits  Protection Act  of  1990 (OWBPA);  The Americans With Disabilities  Act  of  1991,  42 U.S.C.  §  12101 et  seq.;  The Rehabilitation Act  of
1973, 29 U.S.C. §§ 701, 706, 791, 793-794; The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq.; Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938
(29 U.S.C.  § 201 et  seq.);  Equal  Pay Act  of  1963 (29 U.S.C.  § 206(d));  The Employee Retirement  Income Security  Act  of  1974 (except  for  any
vested benefits under any tax qualified benefit plan); The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act; The Worker Adjustment and Retraining
Notification Act; The Fair Credit Reporting Act; and Connecticut anti-discrimination and employment laws; all as amended; (iv) any claims under
any other federal, state, or local statute, executive order, constitutional provision, regulation or ordinance; (v) any claims based on contract, express
or implied; (vi) any claims based on tort (including, without limitation, negligence); or (vii) any claims that relate directly or indirectly to, or that are
in any way connected with, any of the acts, omissions, events, circumstances, or matters of any kind or nature that Mr. Flynn raised or could have
raised during his employment or thereafter.

If any claim is not subject to release, Mr. Flynn waives, to the extent permitted by law, any right or ability to be a class or collective action
representative or otherwise to participate in any putative or certified class, collective or multi-party action or proceeding based on such a claim in
which any Released Party is a party.

10. Return of Property. Mr. Flynn represents that, within a reasonable period after the Separation Date, or at an earlier date requested
by the Company, he will return all property belonging to the Released Parties.

11. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Connecticut (without giving effect to its conflicts
of laws principles). Any modification to this Agreement must be made in writing and signed by both Virtus and Mr. Flynn.



12. No Inducements or Reliance. Mr. Flynn represents that no promise, inducement or other agreement not expressly contained or
referenced herein has been made to induce him to enter into this Agreement. He further acknowledges that, in executing this Agreement, he has not
relied  on  any  representation  or  statement  made  by  any  Released  Party  with  regard  to  the  subject  matter,  basis,  or  effect  of  this  Agreement  or
otherwise other than those specifically stated in this written Agreement.

13. Period for Review and Execution by Mr. Flynn. Mr. Flynn acknowledges and confirms that he has at least twenty-one calendar
(21)  days to  consider  this  Agreement,  starting  on the  date  on which he received it.  Virtus  advises  Mr.  Flynn to seek legal  counsel  regarding  this
Agreement before signing it.

14. Period for Revocation by Mr. Flynn. After executing this Agreement, Mr. Flynn may choose to revoke it within seven (7) days
("the Revocation Period") after his signature hereon. If Mr. Flynn does choose to revoke, he must do so in a writing delivered (by fax, mail or email)
to Mardelle Pena, Executive Vice President, Human Resources at Virtus, and received no later than the close of business on the seventh (7th) day
following the date on which Mr. Flynn executes this Agreement. If the last day of the Revocation Period falls on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the
last day of the Revocation Period will be deemed to be the next business day. In the event that Mr. Flynn does not accept this Agreement or revokes
acceptance of this Agreement during the Revocation Period, this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the obligation of the Released Parties to
provide the payments and benefits set forth in Paragraph 2, shall automatically be null and void. To the extent any payment set forth in Paragraph 2
of this Agreement is paid prior to the expiration of the Revocation Period and Mr. Flynn timely revokes this Agreement, Mr. Flynn will immediately
return all such payment to Virtus, unless such payment represents wages earned for work already performed in his current or transitional role. If such
return of payment or any part thereof is collected through judicial proceedings or if the payment is placed with a third party for collection after Mr.
Flynn's failure to return such payment, Mr. Flynn agrees to pay, in addition to the principal amount, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by
Virtus.

15. Successors. This  Agreement  shall  be  binding  on  the  Parties  and  on  their  heirs,  administrators,  representatives,  executors,
successors, and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of said Parties and each of them and to their heirs, administrators, representatives, executors,
successors, and assigns.

16. No Assignment/Transfer. Mr.  Flynn  expressly  warrants  that  no  rights,  causes  of  actions,  or  claims released  in  this  Agreement
have been assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of to any person or entity,  nor has he made any attempt to do so. Mr. Flynn agrees to hold
harmless  and  indemnify  the  Released  Parties  should  any  other  person  or  entity  assert  any  rights,  causes  of  actions,  or  claims  released  in  this
Agreement.

17. Severability. Mr.  Flynn  agrees  not  to  challenge  the Release  of  Claims in  Paragraph  9  of  this  Agreement  as  illegal,  invalid  or
unenforceable. Should any provision of this Agreement be declared or be determined by any court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or
unenforceable,  all  of  the  other  provisions  shall  remain  valid  and  enforceable,  unless  the  provision  found  to  be  unenforceable  is  of  such  material
effect that this Agreement cannot be performed in accordance with the intent of the Parties in the absence thereof.

18. Entire Agreement/Construction. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, this Agreement, along with any applicable plan
documents,  including  but  not  limited  to  the  Severance  Plan  as  referred  to  herein  set  forth  the  entire  agreement  between  the  Parties  and  fully
supersede  any  and  all  agreements  or  understandings,  written  or  oral,  between  the  parties  hereto  pertaining  to  the  subject  matter  hereof.  This
Agreement shall be interpreted in accordance with the plain meaning of its terms and not



strictly for or against any of the Parties hereto. Headings are used herein for convenience only and shall have no force or effect in the interpretation
or construction of this Agreement. This Agreement may be executed in counter-parts.

19. Enforcement. The Parties understand and agree that if any action brought to enforce this Agreement shall be filed in a court of
competent jurisdiction in Connecticut.

20. Opportunity for Review. Mr. Flynn represents that he:

• HAS REVIEWED ALL ASPECTS OF THIS AGREEMENT,
• HAS CAREFULLY READ AND FULLY UNDERSTANDS ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT,
• UNDERSTANDS  THAT,  IN  AGREEING  TO  THIS  DOCUMENT,  ANY  AND  ALL  CLAIMS  THAT  MR.  FLYNN  MAY

HAVE AGAINST THE RELEASED PARTIES ARE RELEASED,
• UNDERSTANDS THAT HE IS SPECIFICALLY RELEASING ALL CLAIMS UNDER THE AGE DISCRIMINATION IN

EMPLOYMENT  ACT  OF  1967,  AS  AMENDED,  29  U.S.C. § 621  ET  SEQ.,  THE  OLDER  WORKERS  BENEFIT
PROTECTION ACT,  PUB.  L.  101-433  ("OWBPA"),  AND ANY FEDERAL,  STATE OR LOCAL FAIR EMPLOYMENT
ACTS ARISING UP TO THE DATE OF MR. FLYNN'S EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT,

• VOLUNTARILY  AGREES  TO  ALL  THE  TERMS  SET  FORTH  IN  TIDS  AGREEMENT  AND  FREELY  AND
KNOWINGLY AND WILLINGLY INTENDS TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY THE SAME,

• UNDERSTANDS  THAT  VIRTUS  ADVISES  HIM  TO  CONSULT  WITH  AN  ATTORNEY  BEFORE  SIGNING  THIS
AGREEMENT,

• AGREES THAT HE HAS BEEN GIVEN A REASONABLE AMOUNT OF TIME TO CONSIDER THE TERMS OF THIS
AGREEMENT AND DISCUSS THEM WITH AN ATTORNEY.

EXECUTED on the date set forth below.

/s/ Mark S. Flynn  1/25/2019  /s/ Mardelle W. Pena  1/25/2019
       
Mark S. Flynn  Date  Mardelle W. Pena  Date
    Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.



Exhibit A

SUPPLEMENTAL CONFIDENTIAL EXECUTIVE SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

This Supplemental Confidential Executive Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims ("Supplemental Agreement") is made
and  entered  into  by  and  between Mark  S.  Flynn (hereinafter  referred  to  as  "Mr.  Flynn")  and Virtus  Investment  Partners,  Inc. ("Virtus")
(collectively, the "Parties").

WHEREAS, Mr. Flynn and Virtus entered into a Confidential Executive Separation Agreement and General Release of All Claims, which
Mr. Flynn signed on January 25, 2019 ("Agreement");

WHEREAS, Mr. Flynn's role as Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary will end effective on the earlier of May
13, 2019 or the date on which either a replacement for Mr. Flynn is named, or Virtus in its sole discretion modifies the role, in which case Mr. Flynn
will continue in a transitional capacity as outlined herein for any period of time remaining through and until May 13, 2019;

WHEREAS,  Virtus  wishes  to  offer  Mr.  Flynn  severance  in  exchange  for  his  promises  and  covenants  herein  and  in  accordance  with  the
Amended and Restated Executive Severance Allowance Plan of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. ("Severance Plan"); and

WHEREAS,  the Parties  wish to  resolve fully  and finally  all  matters  pertaining  to  their  employment  relationship,  and neither  Party  admits
wrongdoing;

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and promises herein contained and other good and valuable consideration;

IT IS HEREBY AGREED by and between the Parties as follows:

1. Definitions:

a. The "Effective Date" of this Supplemental Agreement shall be the date on which it is executed by Mr. Flynn.

b. "Released Parties"  shall  mean Virtus  and any and all  associated and member  firms,  all  their  respective  past,  present  and future
parent  companies,  subsidiaries,  affiliates,  divisions,  related  entities,  joint  venturers,  subcontractors,  agents,  attorneys,  insurers,
subrogees,  co­  insurers  and reinsurers,  and all  their  respective,  past,  present  and future  officers,  directors,  employees,  members,
partners,  principals,  shareholders  and  owners,  and  all  their  respective  heirs,  executors,  administrators,  personal  representatives,
predecessors, successors, transferees and assigns.

c. "Separation Date" shall be May 13, 2019. Mr. Flynn shall not sign this Supplemental Agreement before close of business on
May 13, 2019.

2. Payments and Benefits. Virtus agrees to provide, in exchange for Mr. Flynn's promises and agreements stated herein, benefits in
accordance with Article 3 of the Severance Plan, exclusive of sub-paragraph 3.02(d). The parties agree that Mr. Flynn's separation from employment
will be treated as other



than  for  cause  as  defined  in  the  Severance  Plan.  In  addition,  Mr.  Flynn's  prior  equity  awards  will  be  treated  pursuant  to  the  Virtus  Investment
Partners, Inc. Amended and Restated 2016 Omnibus Incentive and Equity Plan ("Equity Plan"), as if Mr. Flynn were retiring as of the Separation
Date, and all elements of the Equity Plan are otherwise applicable.

All payments and benefits shall be treated by Virtus in accordance with applicable tax laws.

3. Conditions  for  Receipt  of  Payments  and  Benefits. To receive  the  payments  and  benefits  described  in  Paragraph  2  above,  Mr.
Flynn must: (a) refrain from directly or indirectly interfering in any manner with the operations, management or administration of any Virtus office,
agent or employee and refraining from making any maliciously disparaging or defamatory remarks concerning Virtus, its representatives, agents and
employees; (b) refrain from encouraging, soliciting or suggesting to any and all employees, agents, representatives and/or clients of Virtus that they
terminate or alter their current relationship with Virtus; and (c) comply with a continuing obligation to maintain the confidentiality of proprietary
information  following  the  Separation  Date.  If  Mr.  Flynn  should  violate  any  of  these  conditions,  he  will  be  in  violation  of  this  Supplemental
Agreement and will be required to return any payments or benefits already provided to him, except for payments representing wages earned for work
already performed, and to forfeit his right to any further payments or benefits.

4. No Other Agreements or Amounts Owed.

a. Mr. Flynn agrees that the payments and benefits referenced in Paragraph 2 above constitute all of the consideration to be provided
to him under this Supplemental Agreement or under any other plan, agreement or program. No other claimed payments, damages,
costs, or attorneys' fees in connection with the matters encompassed by this Supplemental Agreement are due or will be sought by
him.

b. Mr. Flynn agrees that he would not receive the consideration that is specified in Paragraph 2 above but for his execution of this
Supplemental Agreement and the fulfillment of the promises contained herein.

c. Mr. Flynn agrees that, other than that which shall be paid pursuant to the express terms of this Supplemental Agreement, he has
received all other wages, overtime, bonuses, severance, vacation pay, commissions, benefits, or any other form of compensation,
payments, and/or other amounts due to him as an employee of Virtus.

d. Mr. Flynn further agrees that the terms of the applicable equity grant agreements, as governed by the Equity Plan, shall control the
disposition of any equity award he has received.

5. Tax Consequences. Mr. Flynn acknowledges and agrees that the Released Parties have not made any representations regarding the
tax  consequences  of  any  monies  received  pursuant  to  this  Supplemental  Agreement.  Mr.  Flynn  understands  and  expressly  agrees  he  is  solely
responsible for any and all tax payments other than taxes withheld from amounts paid pursuant to Paragraph 2 above as reflected in applicable tax
forms.

6. No Pending  Actions. Mr.  Flynn  affirms  that  neither  he  nor  anyone  on  his  behalf  has  filed  any  complaints,  charges,  claims,  or
actions in any state, federal or local agency or court against any Released Party. Mr. Flynn further agrees that he will not file any claims against any
Released Party in any judicial



or arbitral forum. This Supplemental Agreement does not prevent Mr. Flynn from filing a charge with, or participating in a claim prosecuted by, the
Equal  Employment Opportunity Commission,  or  any other administrative agency charged with investigating and/or prosecuting complaints  under
any  applicable  federal,  state  or  municipal  law  or  regulation.  However,  this  Supplemental  Agreement  does  waive  Mr.  Flynn's  right  to  recover
damages under those laws or regulations. Mr. Flynn further agrees that if any court were to assume jurisdiction of any complaint, charge, claim or
action against any of the Released Parties on his behalf (other than an action in which he is an unnamed class representative), he will request that
court to withdraw from or dismiss with prejudice the matter as it relates to him.

Nothing in  this  Agreement,  including but  not  limited  to  the  release  of  claims nor  the  confidentiality  clause  prohibits  Mr.  Flynn from:  (1)
reporting possible violations of federal law or regulations, including any possible securities laws violations, to any governmental agency or entity,
including  but  not  limited  to  the  U.S.  Department  of  Justice,  the  U.S.  Securities  and  Exchange  Commission,  the  U.S.  Congress,  or  any  agency
Inspector  General;  (2)  making  any  other  disclosures  that  are  protected  under  the  whistleblower  provisions  of  federal  law  or  regulations;  or  (3)
otherwise fully participating in any federal whistleblower programs, including but not limited to any such programs managed by the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission and/or the Occupational Safety and Health Administration. Moreover, nothing in this Agreement prohibits or prevents
Mr. Flynn from receiving individual monetary awards or other individual relief by virtue of participating in such federal whistleblower programs.

7. Non-Cooperation. To  the  fullest  extent  permitted  by  law  and  except  as  otherwise  set  forth  herein,  Mr.  Flynn  agrees  not  to
cooperate voluntarily with, aid or assist in any way, any other potential or actual plaintiffs that have, or may have in the future, any lawsuits against
any of the Released Parties. Mr. Flynn may cooperate only if compelled to testify under oath pursuant to a lawfully issued subpoena or other similar
legal process, notice of which Mr. Flynn shall give within ten (10) days of its receipt to Virtus. Mr. Flynn agrees that such cooperation will be in a
form no more extensive than required by law.

8. Confidentiality.

a. The Parties understand and agree that this Supplemental Agreement is strictly confidential. Except as specified in this Paragraph
8,  the  Parties  agree  not  to  disclose:  i)  the  existence  of  this  Supplemental  Agreement  and  any  facts  concerning  its  negotiation,
execution  or  implementation,  ii)  the  terms  of  this  Supplemental  Agreement,  and  iii)  the  fact  that  Mr.  Flynn  received,  and  will
receive, payments and benefits from Virtus, including the amount of any payment and nature of any benefit.

b. Mr.  Flynn  is  permitted  to  make  such  disclosures  or  show a  copy  of  the  Supplemental  Agreement:  i)  as  required  by  law;  ii)  in
response to a governmental or regulatory inquiry; iii) to an attorney or accountant for purposes of obtaining legal or tax advice; iv)
to  a  financial  advisor  for  the  purpose  of  obtaining  financial  advice;  or  v)  to  his  spouse.  To  the  extent  Mr.  Flynn  makes  any
disclosures permitted pursuant to items i) or ii)  of this Paragraph 8(b),  such disclosures shall  be made only after giving written
notice  to  Virtus  sufficient  for  Released Parties  to  have reasonable  opportunity  to  oppose  such disclosure.  If  Mr.  Flynn has  any
question as to whether any disclosure might breach this Paragraph 8, he must obtain written permission before making any such
disclosure.

c. Virtus and its affiliates may make disclosures as required by law. Virtus and its affiliates may make disclosures to their respective
officers,  attorneys,  auditors,  financial  advisors,  and  employees  who,  as  reasonably  determined  by  Virtus  and  its  affiliates,  as
applicable,



need to know such information, provided that any such disclosure shall be accompanied by an instruction to the person receiving
such information to keep the information confidential.

d. It shall not be considered a violation of this Supplemental Agreement for Mr. Flynn to respond to any inquiries by stating only
that he and Virtus mutually agreed that he would transition out of his position.

e. The Parties understand and agree that because this Paragraph 8 is such a material consideration in the Released Parties' agreement
to enter  into  this  Supplemental  Agreement,  any violation  of  any part  of  this  provision shall  constitute  a  material  breach of  this
Supplemental Agreement.

9. Release of Claims. Mr. Flynn hereby irrevocably and unconditionally releases, waives and forever discharges the Released Parties
from any and all claims, demands or causes of action of every nature or description, based upon or relating to actions, omissions or events occurring
before or on the Effective Date of this Supplemental Agreement, whether known or unknown, including, but not limited to, any claims relating to
Mr. Flynn's employment and separation of employment with Virtus. This Release of Claims shall include, but is not limited to, (i) any claims arising
under the United States Constitution or any state Constitution; (ii) any claims for wages, compensation or benefits of any kind or nature; (iii) any
claims of employment discrimination or related claims, including but not limited to claims brought under: Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964
(42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq.), as amended; The Civil Rights Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. § 1981; The Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967 (29
U.S.C. § 621 et seq.); The Older Workers Benefits Protection Act of 1990 (OWBPA); The Americans With Disabilities Act of 1991, 42 U.S.C. §
12101 et seq.; The Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §§ 701, 706, 791, 793-794; The Family and Medical Leave Act of 1993, 29 U.S.C. § 2601
et seq.; Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938 (29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.); Equal Pay Act of 1963 (29 U.S.C. § 206(d)); The Employee Retirement Income
Security Act of 1974 (except for any vested benefits under any tax qualified benefit plan); The Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act;
The Worker Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act; The Fair Credit Reporting Act; and Connecticut anti-discrimination and employment laws;
all as amended; (iv) any claims under any other federal, state, or local statute, executive order, constitutional provision, regulation or ordinance; (v)
any claims based on contract, express or implied; (vi) any claims based on tort (including, without limitation, negligence); or (vii) any claims that
relate directly or indirectly to, or that are in any way connected with, any of the acts,  omissions,  events,  circumstances,  or matters of any kind or
nature that Mr. Flynn raised or could have raised during his employment or thereafter.

If any claim is not subject to release, Mr. Flynn waives, to the extent permitted by law, any right or ability to be a class or collective action
representative or otherwise to participate in any putative or certified class, collective or multi-party action or proceeding based on such a claim in
which any Released Party is a party.

10. Governing Law. This Supplemental Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of Connecticut (without giving effect to
its  conflicts  of  laws  principles).  Any  modification  to  this  Supplemental  Agreement  must  be  made  in  writing  and  signed  by  both  Virtus  and  Mr.
Flynn.

11. No  Inducements  or  Reliance. Mr.  Flynn  represents  that  no  promise,  inducement  or  other  agreement  not  expressly  contained
herein  has  been  made  to  induce  him  to  enter  into  this  Supplemental  Agreement.  He  further  acknowledges  that,  in  executing  this  Supplemental
Agreement, he has not relied on any representation or statement made by any Released Party with regard to the subject matter, basis, or



effect of this Supplemental Agreement or otherwise other than those specifically stated in this written Supplemental Agreement.

12. Period for Review and Execution by Mr. Flynn. Mr. Flynn acknowledges and confirms that he has at least twenty-one calendar
(21)  days  to  consider  this  Supplemental  Agreement,  starting  on  the  date  on  which  he  received  it.  Virtus  advises  Mr.  Flynn  to  seek  legal  counsel
regarding this Agreement before signing it.

13. Period for Revocation by Mr. Flynn. After executing this Supplemental Agreement, Mr. Flynn may choose to revoke it within
seven (7) days ("the Revocation Period") after his signature hereon. If Mr. Flynn does choose to revoke, he must do so in a writing delivered (by fax,
mail  or  email)  to  Mardelle  Pena,  Executive  Vice  President,  Human  Resources  at  Virtus,  and  received  no  later  than  the  close  of  business  on  the
seventh (7th) day following the date on which Mr. Flynn executes this Supplemental Agreement. If the last day of the Revocation Period falls on a
Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the last day of the Revocation Period will be deemed to be the next business day. In the event that Mr. Flynn does not
accept  this  Supplemental  Agreement  or  revokes  acceptance  of  this  Supplemental  Agreement  during  the  Revocation  Period,  this  Supplemental
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the obligation of the Released Parties to provide the payments and benefits set forth in Paragraph 2 of this
Supplemental Agreement, shall automatically be null and void. To the extent any payment set forth in Paragraph 2 of this Supplemental Agreement
is  paid prior  to the expiration of  the Revocation  Period and Mr.  Flynn timely revokes this  Supplemental  Agreement,  Mr.  Flynn will  immediately
return all such payment to Virtus, unless such payment represents wages earned for work already performed in his current or transitional role. If such
return of payment or any part thereof is collected through judicial proceedings or if the payment is placed with a third party for collection after Mr.
Flynn's failure to return such payment, Mr. Flynn agrees to pay, in addition to the principal amount, reasonable attorneys' fees and costs incurred by
Virtus.

14. Successors. This  Supplemental  Agreement  shall  be  binding  on  the  Parties  and  on  their  heirs,  administrators,  representatives,
executors, successors, and assigns and shall inure to the benefit of said Parties and each of them and to their heirs, administrators, representatives,
executors, successors, and assigns.

15. No Assignment/Transfer. Mr. Flynn expressly warrants that no rights, causes of actions, or claims released in this Supplemental
Agreement have been assigned, transferred or otherwise disposed of to any person or entity, nor has he made any attempt to do so. Mr. Flynn agrees
to hold harmless and indemnify the Released Parties should any other person or entity assert any rights, causes of actions, or claims released m this
Supplemental Agreement.

16. Severability. Mr. Flynn agrees not to challenge the Release of Claims in Paragraph 9 of this Supplemental Agreement as illegal,
invalid or unenforceable. Should any provision of this Supplemental Agreement be declared or be determined by any court of competent jurisdiction
to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, all of the other provisions shall remain valid and enforceable, unless the provision found to be unenforceable
is of such material effect that this Supplemental Agreement cannot be performed in accordance with the intent of the Parties in the absence thereof.

17. Entire Agreement/Construction. Except  as  otherwise  expressly  set  forth  herein,  this  Supplemental  Agreement,  along  with  the
Agreement  dated  ________,  2019  referenced  above  and  all  applicable  plan  documents,  including  but  not  limited  to  the  Severance  Plan  and  the
Equity Plan as referred to herein, sets forth the entire agreement between the Parties and fully supersedes any and all agreements or understandings,
written or oral, between the parties hereto pertaining to the subject matter hereof. This



Supplemental  Agreement  shall  be  interpreted  in  accordance  with  the  plain  meaning  of  its  terms  and  not  strictly  for  or  against  any  of  the  Parties
hereto. Headings are used herein for convenience only and shall have no force or effect in the interpretation or construction of this Supplemental
Agreement. This Supplemental Agreement may be executed in counter-parts.

18. Enforcement. The Parties understand and agree that if any action brought to enforce this Supplemental Agreement shall be filed
in a court of competent jurisdiction in Connecticut.

19. Opportunity for Review. Mr. Flynn represents that he:

• HAS REVIEWED ALL ASPECTS OF THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT,
• HAS  CAREFULLY  READ  AND  FULLY  UNDERSTANDS  ALL  THE  PROVISIONS  OF  THIS  SUPPLEMENTAL

AGREEMENT,
• UNDERSTANDS THAT, IN AGREEING TO THIS DOCUMENT, ANY AND ALL CLAIMS THAT MR. FLYNN MAY HAVE

AGAINST THE RELEASED PARTIES ARE RELEASED,
• UNDERSTANDS  THAT  HE  IS  SPECIFICALLY  RELEASING  ALL  CLAIMS  UNDER  THE  AGE  DISCRIMINATION  IN

EMPLOYMENT ACT OF 1967, AS AMENDED, 29 U.S.C. § 621 ET SEQ., THE OLDER WORKERS BENEFIT PROTECTION
ACT, PUB. L.101-433 ("OWBPA"), AND ANY FEDERAL, STATE OR LOCAL FAIR EMPLOYMENT ACTS ARISING UP TO
THE DATE OF MR. FLYNN'S EXECUTION OF THIS AGREEMENT,

• VOLUNTARILY AGREES TO ALL THE TERMS SET FORTH IN THIS SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT AND FREELY AND
KNOWINGLY AND WILLINGLY INTENDS TO BE LEGALLY BOUND BY THE SAME,

• UNDERSTANDS  THAT  VIRTUS  ADVISES  HIM  TO  CONSULT  WITH  AN  ATTORNEY  BEFORE  SIGNING  THIS
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT,

• AGREES  THAT  HE  HAS  BEEN  GIVEN  A  REASONABLE  AMOUNT  OF  TIME  TO  CONSIDER  THE  TERMS  OF  THIS
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT AND DISCUSS THEM WITH AN ATTORNEY.

EXECUTED on the date set forth below.

   

Mark S. Flynn  Date
   

   

   

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.  Date
   

BY:   



ADDENDUM TO CONFIDENTIAL EXECUTIVE SEPARATION AGREEMENT AND GENERAL RELEASE OF ALL CLAIMS

Wherefore, Virtus  Investment  Partners,  Inc.  and  Mark  S.  Flynn  ("the  Parties")  signed  the  Confidential  Executive  Separation  Agreement  and
General Release of All Claims ("the Agreement") on or about January 25, 2019;

Wherefore, Paragraph 11 of the Agreement provides for any modification to the Agreement to be made in writing signed by both Parties;

Wherefore, the Parties wish to the modify the Agreement as stated below; and

Wherefore, in all other respects, the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect:

1. In the first Whereas paragraph on page 1 of the Agreement, the date of May 13, 2019 shall be replaced by the date July 1, 2019, such that
the provision shall read, in pertinent part: " ... Mr. Flynn will continue in a transitional capacity as outlined herein for any period of time
remaining through and until July 1, 2019" (emphasis added to highlight new date).

2. The Transition Period and Separation Date shall thus extend to July 1, 2019.

3. Each of the Parties has the right to terminate Mr. Flynn's transitional capacity role, and thus the Transition Period, at any time between now
and July 1, 2019 on two weeks' written notice, for any reason or no reason without prejudice to the payments and benefits as outlined in
Paragraph 2 of the Agreement.

4. In Paragraph 2(b) of the Agreement, the statement that "The Supplemental Agreement shall not be signed prior to close of business on May
13, 2019" shall be modified to "The Supplemental Agreement shall not be signed prior to close of business on July 1, 2019 or such earlier
date on which the Transition Period may end."

THIS MODIFICATION IS EXECUTED VOLUNTARILY AND WITHOUT COERCION ON THE DATE SET FORTH BELOW:

/s/ Mark S. Flynn  5/13/2019  /s/ Mardelle W. Pena  5/13/2019
       
Mark S. Flynn  Date  Mardelle W. Pena  Date
    Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.



Exhibit 21.1

Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. Subsidiary List
 

   

Name   Jurisdiction

  
Ceredex Value Advisors LLC  Delaware
   
Duff & Phelps Investment Management Co.   Illinois
   
ETFis Holdings LLC  Delaware
   
Kayne Anderson Rudnick Investment Management, LLC   California
  
Newfleet Asset Management, LLC   Delaware
  
Rampart Investment Management Company, LLC   Delaware
  
Seix Investment Advisors LLC  Delaware
   
SGIA, LLC GP  Delaware
   
Silvant Capital Management LLC  Delaware
   
Sustainable Growth Advisers, LP  Delaware
   
Virtus Alternative Investment Advisers, Inc.   Connecticut
  
Virtus ETF Advisers LLC  Delaware
   
Virtus ETF Solutions LLC  Delaware
   
Virtus Fund Advisers, LLC   Delaware
   
Virtus Fund Services, LLC   Delaware
  
Virtus Intermediate Holdings LLC  Delaware
   
Virtus Investment Advisers, Inc.   Massachusetts
   
Virtus Investment Partners International Ltd.  United Kingdom
  
Virtus Partners, Inc.   Delaware
  
Virtus Retirement Investment Advisers, LLC  Delaware
   
Virtus Shared Services, LLC  Delaware
   
VP Distributors, LLC   Delaware
  
Zweig Advisers LLC   Delaware



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form S-8 (No. 333-233500) of our report dated February 27, 2020 relating to the financial statements of
Virtus Investment Partners, Inc., and the effectiveness of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of
Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019.
 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 27, 2020



Exhibit 23.2

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (No. 333-233500) of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. of our report dated February 26,
2018, except for the change in the manner in which the Company accounts for restricted cash in the statement of cash flow discussed in Note 2 (not presented herein) to the
consolidated financial statements appearing under Item 15 of the Company’s 2018 annual report on Form 10-K, as to which the date is February 27, 2019, relating to the financial
statements, which appears in this Form 10-K.

 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Hartford, Connecticut
February 27, 2020



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302
I, George R. Aylward, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020
 

 

/S/     GEORGE R. AYLWARD

George R. Aylward
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION UNDER SECTION 302
I, Michael A. Angerthal, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in

light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,

results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules

13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material

information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is
being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

Date: February 27, 2020
 

 

/S/     MICHAEL A. ANGERTHAL

Michael A. Angerthal
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATIONS OF CEO AND CFO PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Virtus Investment Partners, Inc. (the “Company”) for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), each of the undersigned officers of the Company hereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
 

(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Dated: February 27, 2020
 

 

/S/    GEORGE R. AYLWARD

George R. Aylward
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)
 

 

/S/    MICHAEL A. ANGERTHAL

Michael A. Angerthal
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)


